# NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



#### CELL CYCLE AND HEB-MEDIATED REGULATION OF

#### GENE EXPRESSION

#### DURING MYOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION

By

#### MAURA H. PARKER, B.Sc., M.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

McMaster University

© by Maura H. Parker, September 2004

### REGULATION OF GENE EXPRESSION IN MYOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (2004)

McMaster University

(Medical Sciences)

Hamilton, Ontario

 TITLE: Cell Cycle and HEB Mediated Regulation of Gene Expression during Myogenic Differentiation
 AUTHOR: Maura H. Parker, McMaster University

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Michael A. Rudnicki

NUMBER OF PAGES: 141

#### Abstract

Embryonic studies clearly demonstrate that MyoD and Myf5 are required for specification of the myogenic lineage. Moreover, MyoD plays an essential role in initiating expression of myogenin and inducing differentiation. However, the factors and mechanisms which temporally regulate expression of myogenic genes are not fully understood. Furthermore, the controversy of whether cell cycle withdrawal precedes induction of MyoD transcriptional activity, or MyoD activity induces cell cycle withdrawal, still exist. In this thesis, I demonstrate that although MyoD transcriptional activity is regulated by cell cycle regulators, such as pRb, cdk4 and cyclin D1, these molecules are functioning in a cell cycle-independent manner. In addition, MyoD regulates cell cycle progression, and more specifically S-phase entry, by regulating the stability of cyclin E. Moreover, MyoD regulates expression of cyclin D1 indirectly by modulating activation of NF-kB. Importantly, I demonstrate how the E-protein, HEB, regulates myogenic gene expression in an isoform-specific, MRF-specific, and promoterspecific manner. In the absence of HEB, MyoD is unable to effectively induce expression of myogenin, and differentiation is inhibited. Therefore, ubiquitously expressed factors, such as pRb and HEB, are able to regulate the restricted pattern of gene expression in myogenic differentiation.

#### Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible if not for my supervisor, Michael Rudnicki. His continued support and encouragement allowed me to persevere and ultimately finish this milestone in my career. Thank-you Michael for never letting me quit. I am also grateful to the members of my supervisory committee, Ana Campos and John Hassell, who always made committee meetings enjoyable as well as productive.

I must also thank the members of the Rudnicki lab, past and present, who have not only supported me, but along with Michael, have challenged me to be a better scientist. A special thanks to Linda May and Julie Ruston, who were not only colleagues, but also great friends through the years. Lastly, I must thank Rob Perry, who taught me many of the techniques described in this thesis, provided a willing ear, and always encouraged me to find the next question.

I must thank the friends and fellow board members at Aladin Childcare. As well as caring for my daughter as I worked in the lab, they also provided an incredible personal support network while I was in Ottawa. A special thanks to Diane O'Neill, Susan Bureau, Linda Graham, and Colleen Stack. I must also thank Tamara Boisvert, who has made me laugh so much over the past few years, she let me forget how difficult it is to combine motherhood and a Ph.D.

Last, but never least, I must thank my family. My parents have always found a way to support me, and that was never more evident than over the time of my Ph.D. They provided a home, a refuge, and a willing ear when things seemed unbearable. Without them, I would have given up long ago. Thanks to my brothers Mark and Tom, who made sure I always knew that I was capable. Finally, I thank my daughter, Meghan, who gave me the incentive to be a stronger person and reminded me of what is truly important in life. I hope that in time, I can provide the same strength and support for her.

### **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 - Introduction
Identification of the Myogenic Regulatory Factors
Embryonic Myogenesis
Regulation of MRF Expression during Embryonic Development
MKF Knockout and Knock-in Mice
The MDEs of Transportation Eastern
Degulation of MDE Activity through Signal Terreduction
Chromotin Remodeling and the MRE
The MPEs and the Cell Cycle
The Met? Family of Transcription Factors
Perspectives and Thesis Objectives
respectives and mesis Objectives
Chapter 2 - MyoD Syneroizes with the E-Protein HEBB to Induce Differentiation
Preface
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Induction of HEBβ during Myogenic Differentiation22
HEB Regulates Binding of MyoD to Muscle-Specific Promoters25
HEBα and HEBβ Display Promoter-Specific Activity
HEBα and HEBβ Differentially Synergize with MyoD and Myogenin in a
Differentiation-Specific Manner
Binding to E1- and E2-E Boxes in the Myogenin Promoter by Specific
MyoD-HEB Complexes Regulates Induction of Transcription
during Differentiation35
Knock Down of HEBβ Inhibits Differentiation35
Discussion41
Materials and Methods
Cell Culture and Transfections44
Plasmids44
RNA Isolation44
RT-PCR
Protein Extraction45
Immunoblotting and Antibodies45
Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assays45
Reporter Assays
siRNA
Immunoytochemistry
References

Myoblasts
Preface 51
Abstract 53
Introduction
Results
$MvoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts Maintained Expression of Cyclin D1 and D2 after
Serum Withdrawal55
Loss of MyoD Stimulates S-phase Entry
MyoD Regulation of Cyclin D Gene Expression is Indirect and Involves
NF-κB64
Discussion71
Materials and Methods
Myoblast Isolation and Cell Culture75
RNA Isolation75
RNase Protection Assay76
Isolation of Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Proteins
Immunoblotting and Antibodies76
Kinase Assay77
FACS Analysis
MyoD/Myf5 Double Knockout Fibroblasts
References79
Chapter 4 – Activated nRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface
Chapter 4 – Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition Preface

## List of Figures

Chapter 1 - Introduction
Figure 1 – The embryonic origin of limb and trunk skeletal muscle
Chapter 2 - Synergizes with the E-Protein HEBß to Induce Differentiation
Figure 1 - HEB expression is highly regulated in proliferating and
differentiating myoblasts24
Figure 2 - HEB binds muscle-specific promoters
Figure 3 - Expression of HEB specifically enhances the activity of muscle-
specific promoters in C2C12 myoblasts
Figure 4 - HEB-dependent increase in MRF activity is synergistic and
multifaceted
Figure 5 - HEBP enhances MyoD-mediated expression of endogenous
myogenin
Figure 7 Knock down of UEB expression inhibits induction of muosenin and
differentiation
Chapter 3 - Maintained Activation of NF-кВ Inhibits Differentiation in MyoD-null Myoblasts
Figure 1 – Maintained expression of cyclin D in $MvoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts after serum
withdrawal57
Figure 2 – Decreased cyclin G1 expression in MyoD <sup>-/-</sup> myoblasts
Figure 3 - Cyclin D1 and D2 protein remained localized to the nucleus during serum withdrawal in $Mv_0D^{-1}$ myoblasts 61
Figure 4 - Maintained nuclear localization of cyclin E and increased cdk2 activity
during serum withdrawal in $MvoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts
Figure 5 – Proliferating $MvoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts displayed a greater percentage of
cells in S-phase
Figure 6 - MyoD and Myf5 do not directly regulate expression of <i>cyclin D</i> 68
Figure 7 – Sustained activation of NF- $\kappa$ B during serum withdrawal in $MyoD^{-/2}$
myoblasts70
Chapter 4 - Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition
Figure 1 - pRb induced MRF transcriptional activity in proliferating
conditions
Figure 2 - pRb induced MyoD transcriptional activity in proliferating
conditions
Figure 3 - pRb accelerated expression of MyHC in C2C12 myoblasts and MyoD-
Converted 1011/2 tibroblasts
Figure 4 - pKb did not affect the activity of the MyoD N- or C-terminus
Figure 5 - A hypophosphorylated pKb mutant rescued cdk4 inhibition of MRF

activity	100
Figure 6 - A hypophosphorylated pRb mutant was unable to rescue cdk4	
inhibition of MRF activity when cyclin D1 is co-expressed	102
Figure 7 – Model of pRb activation of muscle-specific gene expression	105

Chapter	5	-	Discussion
---------	---	---	------------

Figure 1 – Regulation of Myogenic Gene Expression in Proliferating and	
Differentiating Myoblasts	121

#### List of Abbreviations

bHLH – basic helix loop helix

cdk – cyclin dependent kinase

ChIP – chromatin immunoprecipitation

DM - differentiation medium

DMEM – Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

DML – dorsal medial lip

DNA – deoxyribonucleic acid

ERK - extracellularly regulated kinase

FBS – fetal bovine serum

G1 – gap phase 1

G2 - gap phase 2

GAPDH – glyceraldehyde phosphate dehydrogenase

GM – growth medium

HAT - histone acetyltransferase

HDAC – histone deacetylase

IGF – insulin-like growth factor

IGFBP - insulin-like growth factor binding protein

IP – immunoprecipitation

Luc - luciferase

M – mitosis

MAPK – mitogen activated protein kinase

MCK - muscle creatine kinase

MEK – MAP-ERK kinase

Mgn – myogenin

MLC - myosin light chain

MRF - myogenic regulatory factor

MyHC - myosin heavy chain

PCR – polymerase chain reaction

PMSF – phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride

RNA – ribonucleic acid

RNase – ribonuclease

RT-PCR – reverse transcription-PCR

S – DNA synthesis phase

SDS – sodium dodecyl sulfate

siRNA - small interfering RNA

UTP - uridine triphosphate

VLL – ventral lateral lip

WT – wildtype

#### **Chapter 1 - Introduction**

#### Identification of the Myogenic Regulatory Factors

The study of myogenic lineage determination began with the observation that 5azacytidine treatment of  $(C3H)10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts produces myogenic, adipogenic and chondrogenic clones (Jones and Taylor, 1980; Taylor and Jones, 1979). These experiments were interpreted to suggest that the demethylation of only one or a few closely linked loci was necessary for myogenic conversion (Konieczny and Emerson, 1984). It was thus proposed that a set of regulatory determination loci exist that are essential for lineage specification.

This concept was further investigated, resulting in the identification of *MyoD* as a master regulatory gene necessary for myogenic determination (Davis et al., 1987). The cloning of *MyoD*, and the conversion of fibroblasts into myoblasts, was crucial in putting forth the notion that there are cell-type specific determination genes that act in addition to more ubiquitously expressed genes in lineage specification (Davis et al., 1987; Tapscott et al., 1988). On the basis of sequence homology, three additional family members were identified, namely *Myf5* (Braun et al., 1989), *myogenin* (Edmondson and Olson, 1989; Wright et al., 1989), and *MRF4* (Braun et al., 1990; Miner and Wold, 1990; Rhodes and Konieczny, 1989). Together, these genes constitute the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), a family of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors responsible for myogenic specification and differentiation (Choi et al., 1990; Weintraub et al., 1989).

The ability of the MRFs to convert cells to the myogenic lineage *in vitro* is dependent on the type of cell, such that  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts are more amenable to conversion than Swiss 3T3 cells (Crescenzi et al., 1990; Davis et al., 1987; Hopwood and Gurdon, 1990; Schafer et al., 1990; Weintraub et al., 1991). This indicates that myogenic conversion requires a permissive environment, in which one or a number of factors must be present for efficient determination and differentiation. As such, progenitor cells within the embryo are thought to be pre-committed to the myogenic lineage prior to MRF expression, and express particular transcription factors, such as Pax3 (Williams and Ordahl, 2000).

#### **Embryonic Myogenesis**

The majority of embryonic skeletal myogenic progenitors, with the exception of some craniofacial and esophageal muscles, arise from a group of epithelial spheres known as somites. Somite pairs develop on either side of the neural tube as a result of condensation and segmentation of the paraxial mesoderm (reviewed in Pourquie, 2001; Pownall et al., 2002; Summerbell and Rigby, 2000). The somites differentiate along the dorsal-ventral axis to give rise to the dorsally located epithelial dermomyotome and the ventrally located mesenchymal sclerotome. The dermomyotome gives rise to the dermis and the skeletal muscle of the trunk and limbs, while the sclerotome develops into the cartilage and bone of the vertebrae and ribs. Moreover, a recent report describes a novel somitic compartment of tendon progenitors, which forms as a result of interactions between the myotome and sclerotome (Brent et al., 2003). Myogenic precursors of the

#### Figure 1. The embryonic origin of limb and trunk skeletal muscle.

During early embryonic development, the presomitic paraxial mesoderm, located on either side of the neural tube, condenses and segments, resulting in the formation of the epithelial somites. The somites differentiate along the dorsal-ventral axis to give rise to the dermomyotome and the sclerotome. The myotome is formed by cells from the dorsal medial lip (DML) extending beneath the dermomyotome and differentiating. A second wave of migration from the dorsal medial lip (DML) gives rise to the epaxial myotome, whereas migration from the ventral lateral lip (VLL) gives rise to the non-migratory hypaxial myotome. Furthermore, precursor cells from the VLL delaminate and migrate (migrating hyapxial cell) to the limb, ventral body wall, diaphragm, and tongue. Signals received from the lateral mesoderm, the neural tube, and the notochord, combine to regulate specification and differentiation.

## Figure 1.



dermomyotome express the paired box transcription factors, *Pax3* and *Pax7*, and low levels of *Myf5* (Goulding et al., 1994; Hirsinger et al., 2001; Jostes et al., 1990; Kiefer and Hauschka, 2001).

The myotome is formed when the cells of the dorsal medial lip (DML) extend beneath the dermomyotome, exit the cell cycle, elongate, and terminally differentiate. The development of the myotome is augmented by a second wave of migration from the dorsal medial lip, resulting in the formation of the epaxial myotome, which gives rise to deep back muscles (Christ and Ordahl, 1995; Ordahl and Le Douarin, 1992). A similar pattern of events induces the ventral lateral lip (VLL) to establish the ventral nonmigratory hypaxial myotome, which gives rise to lateral trunk muscle. Moreover, cells from the VLL delaminate from the dermomyotome and migrate ventrally to regions of presumptive muscle development in the limbs, ventral body wall, diaphragm and tongue.

As cells of the dorsal medial lip and ventral lateral lip migrate to form the epaxial and hypaxial myotome, respectively, expression of MyoD increases and expression of *Pax3* decreases. Premature activation of MyoD causes precocious differentiation in the dermomyotome and prevents migration of sufficient muscle precursors to the myotome and the limb buds. Thus, the dermomyotomal *Pax3*-expressing cells are maintained as a proliferative, undifferentiated population by signals secreted from the lateral plate mesoderm and surface ectoderm (Amthor et al., 1999).

#### **Regulation of MRF Expression during Embryonic Development**

Signals from the axial structures, namely the neural tube and the notochord, are important in determination of epaxial muscle precursors located in the dorsal-medial domain of the somite (Bober et al., 1994a; Buffinger and Stockdale, 1994; Gamel et al., 1995; Hirano et al., 1995; Pourquie et al., 1993; Pownall et al., 1996; Rong et al., 1992; Spence et al., 1996). In the absence of the notochord, epaxial musculature is absent and only the hypaxial muscle program is activated (Dietrich et al., 1999). The notochord and the floor plate produce Sonic hedgehog (Shh), a member of the Hedgehog family of signaling molecules, which activates myogenesis in somitic tissue and positively regulates the formation and survival of the dorsal myotome (Johnson et al., 1994; Munsterberg et al., 1995; Teillet et al., 1998).

Shh signaling regulates expression of Myf5 directly through the Gli family of transcription factors, and specific Gli1 binding sites have been identified in the Myf5 epaxial somite enhancer (Gustafsson et al., 2002). Importantly, Shh signaling through Gli does not initiate expression of Myf5, but rather ensures continued expression of Myf5 (Teboul et al., 2003).

It was initially demonstrated that Shh null mice lacked epaxial musculature, and failed to activate Myf5 expression specifically in the dorsal region of the somite (Borycki et al., 1999; Chiang et al., 1996). However, Kruger and colleagues demonstrate that Myf5 expression is reduced, but not absent in the epaxial muscle of Shh null mice. This is more consistent with Shh playing a role in maintaining expression of Myf5, rather than initiating expression (Kruger et al., 2001; Teboul et al., 2003). Interestingly, these mice display a loss of hypaxial musculature, and a reduced number of cells populating the limb buds, suggesting that Shh may also be involved in expansion of the muscle precursor population prior to differentiation (Duprez et al., 1998).

Signals from the lateral plate mesoderm and the dorsal ectoderm combine to regulate hypaxial muscle formation (Cossu et al., 1996; Dietrich et al., 1997; Fan and Tessier-Lavigne, 1994; Kenny-Mobbs and Thorogood, 1987; Pourquie et al., 1995; Pourquie et al., 1996). The dorsal ectoderm provides signals that stimulate myogenesis and activate expression of *MyoD*, whereas the signals from the lateral plate mesoderm inhibit myogenesis (Cossu et al., 1996). Signals from the dorsal ectoderm can be mimicked by Wnt-4, Wnt-6, and Wnt-7a (Tajbakhsh et al., 1998). Wnt-7a is able to activate expression of *MyoD* in explants of paraxial mesoderm, which in turn leads to co-expression of both *MyoD* and *Myf5*. More recently, it was shown that Wnt5b is expressed in the presomitic mesoderm in chicks, and specifically activates *MyoD* expression (Linker et al., 2003). Thus, individual Wnts may exert unique effects, and a combination thereof may be required to fully activate the myogenic program.

Soluble Frizzled-related proteins (sFRPs), which specifically block Wnt signaling, inhibit myogenesis in explanted somitic mesoderm or in newly formed somites (Borello et al., 1999). Furthermore, injection of sFRP-transfected cells into the placenta of pregnant females abrogates myogenesis. This is accompanied by down-regulation of *noggin* and *Myf5* expression, and maintained expression of *Pax3*. Therefore, disruption of Wnt signaling by sFRPs does not alter early aspects of lineage pre-commitment, such as *Pax3* expression, but disrupts myogenesis by blocking the expression of *Myf5* or *MyoD*.

The lateral plate mesoderm produces signaling molecules that inhibit myogenic differentiation and promote proliferation of myogenic precursor cells. The numbers of cells that migrate to sites of hypaxial or limb myogenesis are small compared to the mass of muscle that differentiates during myogenesis, indicating that these muscle progenitors proliferate considerably prior to differentiation. Interestingly, these progenitors express Myf5, but not MyoD, and this expression is presumably regulated through signaling molecules and transcription factors, such as Pax3 and Pax7. In birds, Myf5 is expressed in proliferating progenitors, whereas MyoD is active in differentiated muscle, suggesting that MyoD acts downstream of Myf5 to induce differentiation (Delfini et al., 2000). Moreover, this indicates that Myf5 is required for proliferation and maintenance of myogenic lineage specification prior to differentiation.

In order to prevent precocious cell cycle withdrawal and induction of differentiation, MyoD expression is inhibited by bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), Notch/Delta signaling, and transcription factors, such as Msx1 (Bendall et al., 1999; Delfini et al., 2000; Hirsinger et al., 2001; Houzelstein et al., 1999; Pourquie et al., 1996). Each of these factors downregulate expression of MyoD, yet maintain expression of *Pax3* and *Myf5*, and preserve myogenic lineage specification. Therefore, myogenic determination and differentiation requires the orchestrated effort of a number of signaling molecules and transcription factors which spatially and temporally regulate expression of MyoD.

#### **MRF Knockout and Knock-in Mice**

Gene targeting in mice has proven to be invaluable in understanding lineage determination and maintenance in skeletal muscle. Cell culture work suggests that MyoD is essential for myogenic lineage determination and thus, it is surprising that MyoD

knock-out mice are viable and fertile and have grossly normal musculature (Rudnicki et al., 1992). It was suggested that this was the result of Myf5 compensation, as there is a 4-fold increase in expression of *Myf5* in the absence of *MyoD*. However, the viability of *MyoD*-null mice depends on the genetic background, such that in a C57/BL6 or Balb/C background, loss of *MyoD* is lethal, whereas *MyoD*-null mice in an SV129 background are viable (Rudnicki lab, unpublished observations). This indicates that there are unknown contributing factors that determine the MyoD-null phenotype.

*Myf5* null mice also display apparently normal muscle formation, yet the original knockout mice die perinatally due to a severe rib defect (Braun et al., 1992). However, replacing the *Myf5* coding region with *FGF-6*, and removing the neomycin cassette, fully rescues the rib phenotype (Kaul et al., 2000). More importantly, simple deletion of exon 1 of *Myf5* using the Cre-recombinase system results in viable, fertile mice without any rib or skeletal defects. As expected, muscle development is delayed until the onset of *MyoD* expression, and at birth, the mice display grossly normal musculature.

 $MyoD^{-1}:Myf5^{-1}$  mice completely lack myoblasts or muscle fibers, clearly demonstrating that either Myf5 or MyoD is required for specification of the myogenic lineage (Kaul et al., 2000; Rudnicki et al., 1993). In addition,  $MyoD^{-1}:Myf5^{-1}:M$ 

Mice lacking *myogenin* specify the appropriate number of myogenic precursor cells, yet die perinatally due to a severe loss of differentiated muscle fibers, demonstrating that myogenin expression is essential for myogenic differentiation (Hasty et al., 1993; Nabeshima et al., 1993). Mice lacking *myogenin* and *MyoD* or *myogenin* and *Myf5*, are phenotypically identical to *myogenin*-null mice, suggesting that MyoD and/or Myf5 possibly function upstream of myogenin (Rawls et al., 1995). Moreover, mice lacking *MyoD* and *MRF4* have a phenotype similar to *myogenin*-null mice, clearly demonstrating that MyoD is required for activation of *myogenin* expression and initiation of differentiation (Rawls et al., 1998).

*Myogenin* expressed from the *Myf5* locus (*Myf5<sup>myg-ki</sup>*) rescues the rib defect of the *Myf5<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, and the mice are viable (Wang et al., 1996). In a *MyoD*-null background, the mice die perinatally due to reduced muscle formation, demonstrating that *myogenin* cannot compensate for the loss of *MyoD* and *Myf5*, and that the MRFs are not functionally redundant (Wang and Jaenisch, 1997). In a *myogenin*-null background, the mice are born with a *myogenin*-null phenotype, indicating that *myogenin* expression from the *Myf5* promoter cannot substitute for expression from its own promoter in regulating differentiation (Wang and Jaenisch, 1997).

There are three different MRF4 knockout mice with phenotypes ranging from perinatal lethality associated with loss of Myf5 activation, to viable mice with normal Myf5 expression and a 4-fold increase in *myogenin* expression (Braun and Arnold, 1995; Patapoutian et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1995). The range in the phenotypes observed in the MRF4 knockout mice may be a function of the position and orientation of the neomycin cassette in the various MRF4 alleles (Olson et al., 1996). In addition to the variations in alleles, the analysis of the MRF4 knockout mice is complicated by the proximity of MRF4 and Myf5 on the mouse chromosome, suggesting that disruption of the MRF4 gene may cause alterations in the expression of the Myf5 gene (Yoon et al., 1997). Yet, the expression pattern of *MRF4* in the developing mouse embryo suggests that this factor plays an important role in fiber formation, maturation, and maintenance.

*Pax3* is expressed in the presomitic mesoderm and the early epithelial somites. However, upon differentiation of the somites, expression of *Pax3* is restricted to the dermomyotome, and eventually to the ventral-lateral domain of the dermomyotome (Goulding et al., 1994; Williams and Ordahl, 1994). The naturally occurring *splotch* mouse, in which there is a loss-of-function mutation in the *Pax3* gene, displays diaphragm and limb muscle deficiencies (Bober et al., 1994b; Daston et al., 1996; Franz et al., 1993). Pax3 regulates expression of c-met, and both Pax3 and c-met/SF/HGF are implicated in controlling migration of muscle precursor cells to both the limbs and the myotome (Brand-Saberi et al., 1996; Epstein et al., 1996). Furthermore, the dermomyotome and the myotome fail to organize and elongate in *splotch* mice (Tremblay et al., 1998).

Pax3 plays an important role in myogenic lineage determination by acting upstream of MyoD. Writs and Shh can induce expression of *Pax3* and *Pax7*, and overexpression of Pax3 in paraxial mesoderm induces expression of MyoD, Myf5 and myogenin (Maroto et al., 1997). In addition, *splotch/Myf5* double homozygous mutant mice lack all trunk and body muscles, indicating that *MyoD* expression is ablated in the absence of both *Myf5* and *Pax3* (Tajbakhsh et al., 1997). Therefore, although repression of MyoD expression involves a complex pattern of signaling and transcriptional events, activation of MyoD expression occurs either through Pax3 or Myf5.

#### Satellite Cells and Post-natal Muscle Growth

Satellite cells represent a unique lineage of myogenic precursors required for post-natal growth and repair of skeletal muscle (Bischoff, 1994; Hawke and Garry, 2001; Schultz, 1996; Seale and Rudnicki, 2002). These cells are quiescent mononuclear cells that reside between the basal lamina and sarcolemma of the muscle fiber, and first appear in the limb musculature at approximately day 17.5 of mouse embryonic development (E17.5).

The developmental origin of satellite cells has been subject to much speculation in recent years. Early experiments with quail/chick chimeras suggested that satellite cells were derived from the somite (Armand et al., 1983). However, more recent studies by DeAngelis *et al.* provide evidence that satellite cells may be derived from cells associated with embryonic vasculature, including the dorsal aorta (De Angelis et al., 1999). Interestingly, the dorsal aorta is colonized by migratory populations of somitic angioblasts derived from the paraxial mesoderm (Pardanaud and Dieterlen-Lievre, 2000). Thus, the presence of myogenic cells in dorsal aortic explants does not preclude the possibility of an indirect somitic origin for satellite cells. Moreover, recent studies describing heterogeneity in satellite cell populations may reflect multiple developmental origins for this lineage (Beauchamp et al., 2000).

Quiescent satellite cells do not express any of the MRFs, but do express c-met, Mcadherin, CD34, and Pax7 (Beauchamp et al., 2000; Cornelison et al., 2000; Seale et al., 2000). Activation of satellite cells through normal growth, weight bearing or injury, stimulates cell cycle re-entry and induces expression of *MyoD* or *Myf5*, followed by expression of both MRFs. Subsequently, *myogenin* is expressed; the cells exit from the cell cycle, differentiate, and fuse to the existing damaged myofiber. In addition, the

7

original pool of quiescent satellite cells is repopulated, suggesting that a subpopulation of satellite cells exists that do not differentiate and fuse to the fiber, but downregulate expression of the MRFs and become quiescent satellite cells again. This variation in function is likely to be represented, in part, by the presence or absence of particular transcription factors. For example, Msx1, which is expressed in satellite cells, may downregulate MRF expression in a subset of cells, directing them back to quiescence (Cornelison et al., 2000; Odelberg et al., 2000).

In the embryo, myogenic precursor cells express transcription factors, such as Pax3, prior to MRF-mediated specification. In adult skeletal muscle, Pax7 is expressed in both quiescent and activated satellite cells. Moreover, *Pax7*-null mice display a lack of satellite cells in post-natal skeletal muscle, and exhibit a significant reduction in muscle mass and fiber caliber, suggesting that Pax7 is important for satellite cell specification and post-natal growth of skeletal muscle (Seale et al., 2000).

Although Pax7, and other transcription factors, are important in preparing a cell for specification, the MRFs remain the master regulators of myogenic determination. The hind limb muscle of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  mice displays a reduced capacity to differentiate, yet has an increase in the number of satellite cells associated with the myofibers (Megeney et al., 1996). Further analysis of satellite derived myoblasts *in vitro* revealed a significant delay in differentiation and a concomitant increase in proliferative potential (Sabourin et al., 1999).

Myf5 expression is increased 4-fold in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  satellite cells, suggesting that Myf5 plays a distinct role from MyoD in satellite cell activation, commitment, and differentiation. The presence of lacZ-expressing satellite cells on freshly isolated muscle fibers from Myf5-nLacZ mice suggests that Myf5 may be expressed at low levels in quiescent satellite cells (Beauchamp et al., 2000). Although it is possible that these cells may be activated in response to the isolation procedure, it is intriguing to postulate that Myf5-positive cells, which do not up-regulate MyoD, define a subpopulation of cells required to replenish the satellite cell population (Sabourin et al., 1999).

#### The MRFs as Transcription Factors

The MRFs control Myogenic specification and differentiation by regulating expression of genes necessary for the formation and function of skeletal muscle. Discrete functional domains within the MRFs play unique roles in the process of transcriptional activation. The basic domain of the MRFs mediates binding to the consensus E-box sequence, CANNTG, found in the promoters of muscle-specific genes. Specifically, two conserved amino acids in the basic domain, an alanine and a threonine, are important for binding of the MRFs to promoters and activating transcription in a myogenic-specific manner (Brennan et al., 1991; Weintraub et al., 1991). The helix-loop-helix (HLH) region, responsible for dimerization and other protein-protein interactions, is also essential for myogenic gene activation (Davis et al., 1989; Lassar et al., 1989; Tapscott et al., 1988).

The N- and C-terminal sequences are responsible for transactivation and proteinprotein interactions involved in DNA binding and chromatin remodeling (Berkes et al., 2004; Gerber et al., 1997; Weintraub et al., 1991). The uniqueness of these regions suggests that although there may be a common mode of action, there is sufficient

#### Figure 2. Domain structure of the MRFs.

MyoD can be subdivided into a number of domains. The basic domain (amino acids 108-125) and the helix-loop-helix domain (amino acids 125-166) mediate DNA binding and dimerization, and the MRFs share a high degree of homology within these domains. Furthermore, the helix-loop-helix domain interacts with p300 acetyltransferase. The MyoD N-terminus contains a transcriptional activation domain (amino acids 3-56) and a putative chromatin remodeling domain (amino acids 63-99). Amino acids 96 and 98 specifically direct binding of MyoD to the E2 E-box of the myogenin promoter in association with Pbx1. The C-terminus of MyoD also contains a putative chromatin remodeling domain (amino acids 218-269), as well as a cdk4-binding region (amino acids 189-203). Moreover, phosphorylation of serine 200 by cdk2 or cdk1 targets MyoD for degradation during specific phases of the cell cycle.

## Figure 2.



Helix-Loop-Helix

variation within the MRFs to ensure functional independence. In particular, a highly conserved C-terminal amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix has been shown to possess discrete functions in MyoD and myogenin (Bergstrom and Tapscott, 2001). In MyoD, this helix is important in initiating transcription from normally silent genes, thus functioning as a specification domain. In myogenin, on the other hand, this  $\alpha$ -helix functions as a general transcriptional activation domain, likely amplifying expression from "open" genes.

The transcriptional activity of the MRFs is regulated in part by dimerization, as heterodimerization with E-proteins is required to activate transcription of muscle-specific genes (Lassar et al., 1991). The first proteins to be implicated as binding partners were the products of the E2A gene, E12 and E47. Originally isolated as immunoglobulin enhancer binding factors, E12 and E47 both contain a basic helix-loop-helix motif, important for dimerization and DNA binding (Henthorn et al., 1990; Murre et al., 1991). The role of E2A in myogenesis was first postulated upon finding that MyoD is able to heterodimerize with E12 and E47 *in vitro* (Murre et al., 1989). Co-transfection of MyoD and E47 is required for E-box transcriptional activity in COS cells (Lassar et al., 1991). Moreover, mobility shift assays using muscle cell nuclear extracts indicate the presence of a complex containing either MyoD or myogenin and E12/E47-like proteins. In contrast, an analysis of the cardiac actin promoter in P19 embryonic carcinoma (EC) cells demonstrates that E12 inhibits MyoD transcriptional activity 3-fold and E47 inhibits activity 5-fold (Petropoulos and Skerjanc, 2000).

In addition to independently cloning the E2A gene, designated ITF-1 in this case, an additional homologous E-protein was cloned, namely ITF-2 (Henthorn et al., 1990). Two alternatively spliced variants exist, ITF-2A and ITF-2B, which differ in their amino terminus. Each form appears to play a distinct role in myogenesis, as shown by the fact that ITF-2B inhibits MyoD activity on the cardiac actin promoter, while ITF-2A does not display any effect (Skerjanc et al., 1996).

Lastly, HEB was isolated based on homology to E2A and ITF-2 (Hu et al., 1992). HEB is able to heterodimerize with myogenin *in vitro*, as do E12 and ITF-2, suggesting that HEB plays a role in regulating MRF activity (Hu et al., 1992; Neville et al., 1998). Of particular interest is the fact that HEB is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, as well as the thymus and B-cells, and is thus postulated to play an important role in lineagespecific gene expression. Interestingly, HEB is alternatively spliced, and each variant displays a characteristic spatial and temporal distribution pattern (Klein et al., 1993). Thus, it is hypothesized that myogenic transcriptional activity is further regulated by variations in complex formation, which in turn may be defined by the sequences surrounding the E-boxes (Huang et al., 1996; Yutzey and Konieczny, 1992).

Myogenic determination and differentiation involves multiple subprograms of gene expression that are uniquely regulated (Bergstrom et al., 2002). To identify genes specifically induced by MyoD, Bergstrom and colleagues employed gene array technology to study the transcriptional profile of  $MyoD^{-/-}:Myf5^{-/-}$  fibroblasts expressing an estradiol-inducible form of MyoD (MyoD-ER) (Bergstrom et al., 2002). The authors established that MyoD regulates the expression of a number of gene clusters, which in combination, orchestrate differentiation. Clustering MyoD-responsive genes into a temporal pattern of regulation revealed that nuclear regulatory factors, such as myogenin, Mef2a, and Hes6, and adhesion/matrix genes, such as cadherin-15, syndecan 2, and dystroglycan, were represented in early activation clusters. In contrast,

structural/cytoskeletal genes, such as myosin light chain (MLC), myosin heavy chain (MyHC), and troponin, comprise the later activation clusters. Moreover, cell cycle genes and growth factors were part of a cluster that decreased immediately, or after a transient increase in expression.

#### **Regulation of MRF Activity through Signal Transduction**

In the presence of mitogens, cultured myoblasts proliferate, and the majority of muscle-specific genes are not expressed. MyoD and Myf5 are expressed in order to maintain myoblast identity, yet transcriptional activity is tightly regulated to prevent premature differentiation. Upon removal of mitogens, MRF transcriptional activity increases, myogenin is expressed, and differentiation proceeds.

Many mitogenic growth factors, such as fibroblast growth factor (FGF), promote proliferation and inhibit differentiation (Allen et al., 1984; Allen et al., 1985; Clegg et al., 1987). Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), on the other hand, inhibits both proliferation and differentiation, while insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) has a modest effect on proliferation and promotes differentiation (Allen and Boxhorn, 1989). A significant amount of effort has been directed towards determining the specific effect that each of these factors has on MRF activity, and characterizing of the pathways involved in the process.

Many growth factors stimulate phospholipase C-mediated hydrolysis of phosphoinositides, activating protein kinase C (PKC) in the presence of phospholipids and calcium. PKC phosphorylates a conserved threonine residue in the bHLH of myogenin, which in turn inhibits transcriptional activity and differentiation (Li et al., 1992b). This is specific to myogenin, since MRF4 and MyoD are not phosphorylated by PKC, suggesting that unique pathways exist for regulating each MRF (Hardy et al., 1993; Liu et al., 1998). Growth factors also stimulate cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase, also known as protein kinase A. Activated protein kinase A (PKA) inhibits myogenic differentiation through the repression of the transcriptional activity of MyoD, Myf5, and myogenin (Li et al., 1992a; Winter et al., 1993). Surprisingly, this occurs independently of direct phosphorylation of the MRFs, or inhibition of DNA-binding.

The binding of a variety of growth factors to their cell-surface receptors initiates a cascade of events resulting in the activation of p21<sup>ras</sup>. Activated p21<sup>ras</sup> binds Raf-1, which in turn activates the mitogen activated protein kinase pathway (MAPK) through MEK1/2. Activated MEK1/2 phosphorylates and activates ERK1/2, which in turn activates transcription of responsive genes, either through kinases such as p90<sup>rsk</sup> and MSK1, or through transcription factors such as Elk-1 or c-myc.

Coexpression of activated  $p21^{ras}$  inhibits MRF-mediated conversion of  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts by a mechanism independent of MRF DNA binding and transcriptional activation (Kong et al., 1995). Further work attempting to delineate the pathway concluded that activated  $p21^{ras}$  acts through a means other than the typical Raf/MEK or Rac/Rho pathways, and may at least partially involve NF- $\kappa$ B (Mitin et al., 2001; Ramocki et al., 1997). However, it is likely that high level expression of activated  $p21^{ras}$  elicits a completely different response from that induced either by low level expression, or normal cellular activation.

Low level expression of an estradiol-inducible form of Raf in myoblasts enhances differentiation (Wang et al., 2004). However, high level expression inhibits muscle-

specific gene expression and myogenic differentiation, as a result of increased secretion of TGF $\beta$  into the medium. The TGF- $\beta$  pathway activates Smad3, which interferes with MRF-E protein heterodimerization and transcriptional activity (Liu et al., 2001). Moreover, TGF $\beta$  activation of Smad3 specifically represses Mef2 activity (Liu et al., 2004).

It was initially suggested that FGF might not be linked to the MAPK pathway, but in fact, chemical inhibitors of the MAPK pathway demonstrate that MEK is important for FGF-induced proliferation and inhibition of differentiation (Milasincic et al., 1996; Weyman and Wolfman, 1998). Moreover, overexpression of MAP kinase phosphatase (MKP-1), which dephosphorylates ERK1/2, and thus inhibits MAP kinase activity, stimulates and accelerates the initiation of differentiation (Bennett and Tonks, 1997). Subsequent downregulation of MKP-1 activity is necessary for fusion and myotube formation, suggesting that the MAP kinase pathway plays a role in both proliferation and differentiation.

Lastly, coexpression of an activated form of MEK1, which specifically localizes to the nucleus, inhibits myogenic differentiation by abrogating MRF transcriptional activity (Perry et al., 2001). This occurs independently of direct phosphorylation, but instead involves an indirect interaction between MyoD and MEK1, in which the Nterminus plays an important role. This complex, which involves a number of other factors, may serve as a sensor in the switch from proliferation to differentiation, as well as providing a mechanism for maintaining myoblast identity prior to differentiation.

Unlike the growth factor stimulated pathways, the p38 signaling pathway is activated upon induction of differentiation (Wu et al., 2000). Moreover, abrogation of the pathway by chemical inhibitors, or stable expression of dominant negative MKK3, inhibits myogenic differentiation (Cabane et al., 2003). Importantly, p38-mediated signalling positively regulates a particular subset of myogenic genes, which mainly comprises the late activated structural genes (Bergstrom et al., 2002). Moreover, p38 regulates transcriptional activation, rather than DNA binding, suggesting that p38 promotes activation domain accessibility. This role of p38 may be MyoD-specific, but may also reflect p38-mediated stimulation of Mef2 activity (Han et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1999; Zetser et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 1999). The ability of signalling molecules and other regulatory factors to target specific promoters raises the question of what part of the promoter, or bound complexes, determines the specificity.

#### **Chromatin Remodeling and the MRFs**

The role of histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) in myogenesis came to the fore with the demonstration that p300, as well as N-CoR, can interact with MyoD and regulate transcriptional activity (Bailey et al., 1999; Yuan et al., 1996). Normally, acetylation of histones is associated with an increase in transcriptional activity at a gene locus, and deacetylation is associated with gene silencing. Both p300 and pCAF can acetylate MyoD, and this acetylation significantly increases MyoD-dependent transcriptional activation, due to more efficient recruitment of these co-activators to muscle-specific promoters (Polesskaya et al., 2000; Polesskaya et al., 2001; Sartorelli et al., 1999). Activation of STAT3 disrupts the interaction of MyoD with p300 and pCAF, resulting in inhibition of transcriptional activity (Kataoka et al., 2003).

Examination of p300-null mice and embryonic stem (ES) cells has confirmed that p300 is required for myogenic differentiation (Roth et al., 2003). However, loss of p300 severely reduced expression of MyoD and Myf5, without affecting expression of Pax3, suggesting that p300 functions upstream of the MRFs to regulate expression of MyoD and Myf5. This may reflect MyoD- or Myf5-mediated activation of *MyoD* and *Myf5*, or a role for p300 in Pax3 activation of MyoD.

MyoD also interacts with HDAC1, and this complex occupies the myogenin promoter prior to differentiation (Mal et al., 2001); (Mal and Harter, 2003). Furthermore, the transcriptional repressor prohibitin (PHB2) interacts with MyoD, and recruits HDAC1 to myogenic promoters (Sun et al., 2004). Upon initiation of differentiation hypophosphorylated Rb, or activated Akt, disrupts the MyoD-HDAC1 complex, and pCAF, a histone acetyltransferase, associates with the promoter (Mal and Harter, 2003; Puri et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2004). However, during adipogenic differentiation, a PPAR $\gamma$ -Rb-HDAC3 complex inhibits PPAR $\gamma$  activity and adipocyte differentiation (Fajas et al., 2002). Moreover, HDAC1/2 is postulated to be involved in non-targeted deacetylation, whereas HDAC3 is required for targeted gene silencing (Li et al., 2002). This indicates that regulation of myogenic differentiation at the level of chromatin may not simply be the result of a switch from HDAC1 to pCAF, but may also involve various HDACs and other regulatory factors with unique functions.

In addition to the action of HDACs and HATs, a family of ATP-dependent SWI/SNF complexes remodels chromatin to regulate gene expression and cell cycle withdrawal. Overexpression of a dominant negative form of the SWI/SNF protein brahma-related gene-1 (BRG1) or brahma (BRM) inhibits muscle-specific gene expression and differentiation, albeit in a non-specific manner (de la Serna et al., 2001a; Roy et al., 2002). Although BRM and BRG-1 have been implicated in Rb-mediated cell cycle arrest, the dominant negative enzymes did not alter induction of p21, cyclin D3, or Rb during myogenic differentiation (de la Serna et al., 2001b). Therefore, cell cycle exit may be separated from myogenic gene activation by the type of chromatin remodeling factors acting at a particular locus.

#### The MRFs and the Cell Cycle

The role of the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) in the control of cell cycle progression is well established. During myoblast differentiation, pRb expression is elevated and the protein is progressively dephosphorylated (Endo and Goto, 1992). These modifications in pRb have been demonstrated to be required for MyoD transcriptional activity. However, MyoD converts  $Rb^{-/-}$  embryonic fibroblasts to the myogenic lineage, and early markers such as myogenin are expressed normally in these cells (Schneider et al., 1994; Skapek et al., 1996). Expression of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) is delayed, and although restimulation with serum induces DNA synthesis, these restimulated Rb null cells are blocked at mitosis.

The presence of a pocket domain mutant of pRb, pRb<sup>N757F</sup>, in which the E2F binding site is not disrupted, permits DNA synthesis in myotubes upon restimulation with serum (Chen and Wang, 2000). Modifying the cdk phosphorylation sites of pRb<sup>N757F</sup>, to create a hypophosphorylated mutant, inhibits this reinitiation of DNA synthesis. This indicates that the pocket domain of Rb binds to a factor, other than E2Fs, that prevents

Rb phosphorylation, and subsequently, entry into S phase, even in the presence of a mitogenic signal. Taken together, this underscores the importance of hypophosphorylated Rb in establishing the terminally differentiated state.

Differentiation requires both the inhibition of cdk activity and downregulation of cyclin expression in order to maintain Rb in a hypophosphorylated state. Cell cycle progression, on the other hand, requires that Rb is phosphorylated and this occurs in part Surprisingly, overexpression of cyclin D1 through cyclin D1-cdk4 kinase activity. inhibits MRF activity and myogenic differentiation through a mechanism independent of Rb or MyoD phosphorylation, such that cyclin D1 can inhibit muscle gene expression even in the presence of a hypophosphorylated mutant of Rb (Rao and Kohtz, 1995; Skapek et al., 1996; Skapek et al., 1995). Cyclin D1 expression and its related kinase activity is regulated through FGF, TGF-B, and IGF, suggesting a possible link between signaling molecules and the cell cycle in regulating MRF activity (Rao and Kohtz, 1995; Rosenthal and Cheng, 1995). Although the mechanism of this regulation is unclear, further work demonstrates that MyoD can interact with cdk4 (Zhang et al., 1999a; Zhang This interaction inhibits the binding of MyoD to DNA during et al., 1999b). proliferation, and the interaction in turn can prevent phosphorylation of Rb by cdk4 during differentiation.

Cdk-9, on the other hand, is able to stimulate MyoD transcriptional activity and enhance differentiation by forming a complex with and phosphorylating MyoD (Simone et al., 2002). This may be linked to cdk-9 mediated phosphorylation of RNA polymerase II during elongation by means of a transcriptional complex, once again illustrating how ubiquitous factors can regulate myogenic lineage determination and specification through modulation of MRF activity.

The cell cycle machinery also regulates the MRFs independent of transcriptional activity. Phosphorylation of MyoD by cdk2 or cdk1 targets it for ubiquitin-mediated degradation (Kitzmann et al., 1999; Song et al., 1998; Tintignac et al., 2000). Association of MyoD with p57<sup>kip2</sup>, a cdk2 inhibitor, prevents this phosphorylation and stabilizes MyoD protein (Reynaud et al., 2000; Reynaud et al., 1999). Moreover, expression of MyoD harboring non-phosphorylatable mutations of the two cdk1 phosphorylation sites delays entry into mitosis (Tintignac et al., 2004). This corresponds with data that demonstrates that expression of MyoD and Myf5 is regulated in a cell-cycle dependent manner, such that MyoD expression is associated with G1 and G2-M, and Myf5 is predominantly present in G0, S, and G2 (Kitzmann et al., 1998). This cell cycle-mediated regulation of MRF expression may prove to be important to the cell in determining the timing of differentiation.

#### The MEF2 family of Transcription Factors

In addition to the MRFs, the myocyte enhancer factor-2 (Mef2) family of transcription factors is involved in activation of muscle-specific gene expression. The Mef2 family in vertebrates consists of four members, Mef2a, -b, -c, and -d, which are expressed in a distinct but overlapping manner (Edmondson et al., 1994; McDermott et al., 1993; Subramanian and Nadal-Ginard, 1996; Yu et al., 1992). The N-terminus contains a MADS domain (MCM1, Agamous, Deficiens, Serum response factor) that is

responsible for DNA-binding and dimerization. An adjacent Mef2-specific domain is also involved in DNA binding and various co-factor interactions. Lastly, the C-terminal domain of Mef2 is required for transcriptional activation.

Mef2 proteins are expressed in a variety of tissues, including skeletal, cardiac and smooth muscle, as well as the brain. In order to address where Mef2 is transcriptionally active, a transgenic Mef2 sensor mouse was designed in which Mef2 binding sites were placed upstream of the *lacZ* gene (Naya et al., 1999). This revealed that Mef2 transcriptional activity is restricted to developing cardiac, skeletal and smooth muscle. After birth, expression of the transgene is downregulated, but is upregulated in skeletal muscle during regeneration (Akkila et al., 1997; Naya et al., 1999).

The Mef2 family and the MRFs appear to act synergistically in activating myogenesis, as Mef2 was postulated to interact with MyoD-E protein dimers to activate muscle-specific gene expression (Black et al., 1998). Further, the Mef2 family and the MRFs form an autoregulatory loop, such that expression of myogenin and MRF4 is dependent on both sets of transcription factors (Naidu et al., 1995; Ridgeway et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2001). MyoD-converted  $Rb^{-/-}$  fibroblasts, in which MyoD activity is compromised and late-stage differentiation is abrogated, Mef2 is functionally inactive (Novitch et al., 1999). This strongly suggests that the MRFs act in concert with the Mef2 family in orchestrating differentiation.

Mef2 is able to respond to specific growth factor signals by inducing expression of c-jun and thus playing a role in the regulation of cell cycle progression (Han and Prywes, 1995). It has been further demonstrated that this is mediated by ERK5/BMK1, which phosphorylates Mef2C in the C-terminal transactivation domain, thereby activating expression of c-jun (Kato et al., 1997; Kato et al., 2000; Yang et al., 1998). Yet, the main role of the Mef2 family in skeletal muscle is to promote differentiation through cooperative activation of gene expression. In order for Mef2 to function during differentiation, there must be regulation at the post-translational level to ensure proper temporal activity.

The p38 family  $(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta)$  of MAP kinases has been shown to play an important role in stimulating differentiation (Lechner et al., 1996; Puri et al., 2000; Wu et al., 2000; Zetser et al., 1999). p38 $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  preferentially phosphorylate Mef2A and Mef2C in the transactivation domain and enhance transcriptional activity (Han et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1999; Zetser et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 1999). In addition, activated MKK6, an upstream activator of p38, stimulates Mef2A and Mef2C transcriptional activity (Zhao et al., 1999). The PI-3' kinase pathway, also shown to promote myogenic differentiation, activates Mef2 transcriptional activity and the expression of myogenin (Tamir and Bengal, 2000; Xu and Wu, 2000). This demonstrates that Mef2 acts to translate differentiationstimulating signals into appropriate myogenic gene expression.

To ensure inactivation of muscle gene expression in proliferating myoblasts, the Mef2 family is transcriptionally inhibited by interactions with the class II histone deacetylases (HDACs), namely HDAC-4, -5, -7, and -9 (McKinsey et al., 2002). Calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase (CaMK), which is activated in response to transient, high amplitude calcium spikes, phosphorylates two conserved serine residues in the N-terminus of HDAC-4, -5, -7 and -9, creating docking sites for 14-3-3 proteins (Grozinger and Schreiber, 2000; Wang et al., 2000). The association with 14-3-3 proteins masks the HDAC nuclear localization signal (NLS) and unmasks the nuclear

export signal (NES) (McKinsey et al., 2001; Wang and Yang, 2001). Therefore, the Mef2-HDAC interaction is disrupted, the HDACs are shuttled to the cytoplasm, and Mef2 is activated, presumably in part through association with the p300 histone acetyltransferase (Lu et al., 2000). Moreover, HDAC4 and 5 interact with heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1), which recognizes methylated lysine residues and recruits methyltransferase enzymes (Zhang et al., 2002). Thus, Mef2, when complexed with HDACs and HP1, is able to effectively repress myogenic transcriptional activation. Therefore, although Mef2 factors are not skeletal muscle-specific transcription factors, the muscle environment provides cues and coactivators that allow these proteins to acquire myogenic activity essential for differentiation.

#### **Perspectives and Thesis Objectives**

Although the importance of the MRFs in myogenic specification and differentiation has been clearly established, the precise mechanism by which the MRFs regulate myogenic gene expression is not well understood. Recently, the list of potential MyoD target genes has been expanded, and the possibility of gene-specific regulation has been introduced. Defining promoter-specific complexes and discovering the corresponding regulatory pathways will be essential for understanding muscle-specific gene expression and myogenic differentiation.

The objective of this thesis was to examine the role of auxiliary factors in regulating MRF transcriptional activity. Given that expression of E12 and E47 was undetectable in proliferating myoblasts, it was imperative to determine if another E-protein family member regulated MRF activity. As such, the first section of the thesis examined the role of HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  in specifically regulating myogenic gene expression and differentiation.

Initiation of differentiation requires irreversible withdrawal from the cell cycle, yet the precise mechanism by which the MyoD and the MRFs regulate the cell cycle is not well defined. Therefore, this thesis sought to establish the role of MyoD in cell cycle regulation by assessing expression of cyclin genes in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts. Conversely, cell cycle regulators affect MyoD transcriptional activity. Thus, the last chapter of the thesis investigated the means by which pRb specifically regulates MyoD activity.

#### **Preface to Chapter 2**

The MRFs are hypothesized to activate muscle-specific gene expression as heterodimers with the E-protein family of transcription factors. Historically, E12 and E47 were postulated to be the preferential partners for the MRFs. However, in an attempt to discover the mechanism by which MEK1 inhibits MyoD, it was discovered that neither E12 nor E47 are expressed in C2C12 myoblasts or  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts (Perry et al., 2001). Therefore, this work sought to discover the role of HEB, another member of the E-protein family, which is highly expressed in skeletal muscle (Hu et al., 1992). This manuscript contributes to the field of skeletal muscle biology by demonstrating that HEB is the preferential partner for MyoD and myogenin, and that each isoform of HEB functions in a promoter-specific and MRF-specific manner to orchestrate myogenic differentiation. Moreover, this furthers the concept that each myogenic promoter must be considered individually, or as a member of a subset, when investigating regulatory mechanisms.

This manuscript will be submitted to Molecular Cell in the summer of 2004. Robert Perry was a Ph.D. student in the lab who did the initial expression studies demonstrating that E2A was not present, and analyzed synchronized cells for expression of HEB. Mélanie Fauteux is a technician in the lab who helped with transfections and luciferase assays. Charlotte Berkes is a Ph.D. student at the University of Washington who built the Mgn-Luc reporter vector, and the corresponding E-box mutants. I performed all of the experiments reported in the manuscript, constructed the figures and wrote the manuscript.

### MyoD Synergizes with the E-Protein HEBβ to Induce Myogenic Differentiation

Maura H. Parker<sup>1,2</sup>, Robert L.S. Perry<sup>3</sup>, Mélanie C. Fauteux<sup>1</sup>, Charlotte A. Berkes<sup>4</sup> and Michael A. Rudnicki<sup>1,2,5</sup>

- Ottawa Health Research Institute Molecular Medicine Program 501 Smyth Road, Ottawa, Ontario Canada, K1H 8L6 Tel: 613-739-6740 Fax: 613-737-8803
- 2. McMaster University Medical Sciences Program Hamilton, Ontario Canada
- Department of Biology York University Toronto, Ontario Canada
- 4. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Centre Seattle, WA USA
- 5. Correspondence should be addressed to M.A.R. E-mail: mrudnicki@ohri.ca

Running Title: MyoD requires HEBβ for Differentiation Key words: myoblasts, proliferation, differentiation, HEBβ, MyoD, Myogenin

#### Abstract

The MyoD family of bHLH transcription factors are postulated to function as heterodimers with members of the E-protein family to induce myogenic gene activation. The E-protein, HEB, is alternatively spliced to generate two isoforms, HEBa and HEBB, however the molecular functions of the HEB proteins remain largely elusive. Our data demonstrated that both myoblasts and myotubes expressed HEBa, whereas expression of HEBB was upregulated early in the differentiation program. In myoblasts, HEBa failed to synergize with MyoD to activate the myogenin promoter, and the E2 E-box specifically mediated the negative regulation. Upon induction of differentiation, a MyoD-HEBB complex predominated and bound the E1 E-box of the myogenin promoter to stimulate transcription. Notably, forced expression of HEBB with MyoD synergistically stimulated endogenous myogenin transcription whilst in growth conditions. However, after differentiation, HEBa synergized with myogenin, but not MyoD, to activate the MLC enhancer. Specific knock down of HEBB by siRNA in myoblasts blocked differentiation and inhibited induction of myogenin transcription. Therefore, HEBa and HEBB play a novel and central role in orchestrating the regulation of myogenic factor activity through myogenic differentiation.

#### Introduction

Basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) containing transcription factors play an important role in the development of a variety of cellular lineages. Tissue-specific bHLH transcription factors homo- or heterodimerize to regulate the transcription of a restricted set of tissue-specific target genes (reviewed in Westerman et al., 2003). The myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) are a group of basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factors, consisting of MyoD, Myf5, myogenin, and MRF4, that control skeletal muscle development (Tapscott et al., 1988). Genetic and expression analysis has suggested that *Myf5* and *MyoD* act as determination factors that specify muscle progenitor cell identity. Although expression of MyoD or Myf5 commits a cell to the myogenic lineage, expression of MyoD is more effective at initiating differentiation. *Myogenin* and *MRF4* are induced upon differentiation and activate the differentiation program (reviewed in Parker et al., 2003).

Transcription of muscle-specific genes is dependent upon dimer interactions between MRFs and the more ubiquitously expressed E-proteins, a process mediated by the helix-loop-helix motif. The E-protein family includes the E2A gene products (E12/E47), the E2-2 gene products (ITF-2A and 2B), and the HEB gene products (HEB $\alpha$ and HEB $\beta$ ). Dimerization is dependent upon the relative abundance of each transcription factor, and/or the presence of other factors that may potentiate or inhibit dimerization. Therefore the ability of bHLH factors to homo- or heterodimerize in a variety of combinations raises the hypothesis that regulation of dimer formation is essential for control of tissue-specific gene expression.

The role of E2A in myogenesis was first postulated upon finding that MyoD was able to heterodimerize with E12 and E47 *in vitro* (Murre et al., 1989; Murre et al., 1991). Co-transfection of MyoD and E47 is required for E-box transcriptional activity in COS cells (Lassar et al., 1991). However, gene-targeting experiments have indicated that E12 and E47 are not essential for skeletal muscle formation or function (Zhuang et al., 1992).

HEB was isolated based on HLH region identity with E2A and ITF-2, and was shown to be highly expressed in skeletal muscle, as well as in the thymus and in B-cells (Hu et al., 1992). During embryonic development, HEB is widely expressed in the limb buds, somites, and proliferating neuroblasts. Expression is highest during the initial stages of differentiation and decreases once cellular differentiation has been completed (Neuman et al., 1993).

These results prompted us to investigate the importance of HEB in myogenesis. Our experiments establish an essential and novel role for HEB $\beta$  in regulating the switch from myogenin repression to myogenin activation as an immediate early step in the myogenic differentiation program.

#### Results

#### Induction of HEB<sup>β</sup> during Myogenic Differentiation

The HEB gene is alternatively spliced to generate two isoforms, HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$ . The HEB $\beta$  isoform is distinguished by insertion of a 24-amino acid ankyrin-like motif, resulting from inclusion of a 72-base pair (bp) alternate exon (Klein et al., 1993). Prediction of the domain structure of HEB, based on studies of E12 and E47, reveals that this motif intersects the second putative activation domain (AD2), and may alter one face of the  $\alpha$ -helix present in this domain (Goldfarb et al., 1998; Markus et al., 2002; Massari et al., 1999).

To investigate the expression pattern of the two isoforms of HEB in myogenic differentiation, RT-PCR was performed using RNA isolated from a differentiation time course of C2C12 myoblasts and  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts (Figure 1A). C2C12 myoblasts and  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts were grown to 85-90% confluency, and either harvested for RNA isolation (GM; DMEM + 10% FBS) or switched to differentiation medium (DM; DMEM + 2% horse serum). The cells were harvested and the RNA isolated daily over a four-day period after stimulation with DM.

To distinguish HEB $\alpha$  from HEB $\beta$  by the size of the amplified product, PCR primers were designed that flanked the region surrounding the 72- bp ankyrin-like motif. RT-PCR analysis indicated that expression of HEB $\alpha$  mRNA remained constant throughout proliferation and differentiation in both C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 1A) and primary myoblasts (not shown). By contrast, expression of HEB $\beta$  was not detectable in proliferating myoblasts but was induced upon differentiation with increased expression evident as differentiation proceeded (Figure 1A). Notably, 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts displayed no modulation in HEB isoform expression in high versus low mitogen conditions (Figure 1A). Furthermore, levels of E12 and E47 mRNAs remained unaltered in myoblasts through differentiation or in 10T1/2 fibroblasts after serum withdrawal (Figure 1B).

Western blot analysis of protein extracts using an antibody that recognized both isoforms of HEB, demonstrated that HEB was abundantly expressed in proliferating primary myoblasts and C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 1C). However, expression of HEB protein was almost undetectable by 4 days after the onset of differentiation, suggesting that expression of HEB is further regulated at the post-transcriptional level. (Figure 1C). Moreover, this indicates that HEB plays an important role during the initial stages of differentiation.

Western analysis revealed readily detectable E12 and E47 protein in *tibialis* anterior (TA) muscle (Figure 1C, lane 1), transfected fibroblasts (Figure 1C, lanes 2 and 3), and adult mouse mammary tissue (not shown). Strikingly, expression of E12 and E47 was below the limit of detection in C2C12 myoblasts, primary myoblasts and  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts (Figure 1C, lanes 4-14). Therefore, the low levels of E12 and E47, and high expression of HEB proteins supported the notion that HEB was a significant transcriptional partner of the MyoD family of bHLH factors. Moreover, the absence of HEB $\beta$  in proliferating myoblasts and its upregulation during myogenic differentiation is consistent with a differentiation-specific role for HEB $\beta$ .

# Figure 1. HEB expression is highly regulated in proliferating and differentiating myoblasts.

A. RNA was isolated from a differentiation time course of C2C12 myoblasts and 10T1/2 fibroblasts, and analyzed by RT-PCR. *HEB* $\alpha$  was expressed under both growth and differentiation conditions whereas *HEB* $\beta$  was induced upon differentiation of C2C12 cells.

B. RT-PCR detection of E12 and E47 mRNAs in C2C12 and 10T1/2 cells.

C. Western analysis of HEB and E2A expression reveals abundant HEB protein but no detectable E2A protein in myoblasts and fibroblasts .

## Figure 1


#### HEB Regulates Binding of MyoD to Muscle-Specific Promoters

To determine if HEB is associated with promoters of myogenic-specific genes, chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays were performed using either proliferating or differentiating C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 2A). Prior to the immunoprecipitation, a small volume of the extract from each sample was removed, the cross-links reversed, and the DNA purified. This "input" DNA was carefully quantitated, and the relative amount of immunoprecipitated (IP) DNA used in each PCR reaction was normalized for the amount of input DNA. PCR amplification of the IP DNA was undertaken with primers specific for myogenic promoter regions; primers specific for the amylase promoter served as a negative control.

In proliferating C2C12 myoblasts, binding of the MRFs and HEB to the myogenin promoter was minimal, even though MyoD, Myf5 and HEB were expressed (Figure 2A; data not shown). After 2 days in differentiation medium, MyoD, myogenin and HEB were all associated with the myogenin promoter. Therefore, MyoD and HEB associated with the myogenin promoter to a greater extent in differentiation. In a similar manner, binding of MyoD, myogenin and HEB to the MLC enhancer was also enriched after differentiation (Figure 2A). Interestingly, Myf5 was associated with the MLC enhancer in both proliferation and after 2 days in differentiation, but not with the myogenin promoter.

To determine if binding of MyoD and HEB to myogenic-specific promoters was mutually dependent, ChIP assays were repeated in transfected  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts.  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts are non-myogenic, but are amenable to myogenic conversion upon expression of MyoD. Co-expression of either HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  enhanced binding of MyoD to the MLC enhancer (Figure 2B). Moreover, binding of endogenously expressed HEB to the MLC enhancer was dependent on expression of MyoD (Figure 2B). Taken together, these findings indicate that HEB binds to myogenic E-boxes in association with MyoD or myogenin.

#### HEBα and HEBβ Display Promoter-Specific Activity

To study the role of HEB in transcriptional activation, the mouse cDNAs for both HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  were cloned by RT-PCR, using mRNA isolated from differentiating wild type primary myoblasts. The full-length cDNAs were cloned into the EMSV vector, the same vector from which the MRFs were expressed. MRF transcriptional activity was assessed using reporter vectors containing either four repeats of the CA<u>CC</u>TG E-box from the MCK promoter (*4R-Luc*), a portion of the murine myogenin promoter (*Mgn-Luc*), or rat myosin light chain enhancer (*MLC-Luc*).

Co-transfection of HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  with 4*R*-Luc into C2C12 cells augmented the activity of the reporter in both proliferation and differentiation (Figure 3A). Notably, the increase in 4*R*-Luc activity was increased 1.8-fold with HEB $\alpha$  relative to HEB $\beta$ . The MLC enhancer (MLC-Luc) displayed increased activity in both proliferating and differentiating conditions only when HEB $\alpha$  was over-expressed. Neither E12 nor E47

#### Figure 2. HEB binds muscle-specific promoters.

A. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) revealed that binding of HEB to the myogenin promoter and myosin light chain (MLC) enhancer increased markedly after differentiation. Amylase was amplified as a control for specificity, and input DNA was amplified with each primer set to ensure proper DNA quantitation. B. ChIP analysis of transfected 10T1/2 fibroblasts revealed that HEB overexpression facilitated MyoD-binding to the endogenous MLC promoter. Moreover, HEB binding to the MLC enhancer requires MyoD expression. Amylase was amplified as a control for specificity, and input DNA was amplified to ensure proper quantitation.



## Figure 3. Expression of HEB specifically enhances the activity of muscle-specific promoters in C2C12 myoblasts.

A. C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with the indicated reporter plasmids, in addition to either empty EMSV plasmid (control), or plasmid expressing HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$ . Luciferase activity was normalized to protein, and fold activation was determined by setting the activity of the control transfection as 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation, and the error bars represent the standard deviation (n=9).

B. C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with MLC-Luc as in A, but with either control plasmid or a plasmid expressing E12 or E47.

Figure 3.



stimulated the activity of *MLC-Luc* in either proliferation or differentiation conditions (Figure 3B). Strikingly, the activity of the myogenin promoter (*Mgn-Luc*) was only enhanced in differentiation, and only in the presence of HEB $\beta$  (Figure 3A). Therefore, overexpression of HEB in myoblasts stimulated the activity of myogenic promoters in myocytes. Notably, HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  isoforms stimulated transcription of different reporters suggesting that HEB isoforms either display binding preferences or have different activities on different promoters.

## HEB $\alpha$ and HEB $\beta$ Differentially Synergize with MyoD and Myogenin in a Differentiation-Specific Manner

To determine the effect of HEB on each MRF, 10T1/2 fibroblasts were transfected with each reporter vector individually, and one of *EMSV-MyoD*, *-Myf5*, *-myogenin*, or *EMSV* control, in addition to *EMSV-HEB* $\alpha$ , *EMSV-HEB* $\beta$ , or *EMSV* alone. In proliferation conditions, both HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  increased the activity of MyoD on *MLC-Luc*, but not Myf5 or myogenin activity (Figure 4A). In differentiation conditions, only the activity of myogenin was increased, and specifically through HEB $\alpha$ .

A potential complication was that two transcription factors, both capable of binding to the E-box sequence, were being assayed. Therefore, to determine if the increase in activity was additive (each transcription factor acting individually) or synergistic (both factors acting together), a value, designated as "synergy" was calculated (Markus et al., 2002). If the value for synergy was 1, or close to 1, then the effect of HEB and the MRF together on the activity of the enhancer was considered additive. If the value was significantly greater than 1, then the two transcription factors were considered to have functioned synergistically (see Materials and Methods).

HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  both acted synergistically and specifically with MyoD in proliferation conditions to activate the MLC enhancer (Figure 4A). Although the cells were maintained in growth medium, they initiated differentiation, as indicated by the expression of endogenous *myogenin* gene (Figure 5A, lanes 4-6). This suggested that the increase in activity is representative of the initial stages of differentiation, rather than a true proliferative response. After 2 days in differentiation, HEB $\alpha$  synergized with myogenin to activate the MLC enhancer. This corresponded with the results observed in C2C12 myoblasts in high serum, in which only HEB $\alpha$  activated the MLC enhancer.

MyoD and HEB $\beta$  functioned synergistically to activate the myogenin promoter in growth conditions (Figure 4B). However, in differentiation conditions both HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  synergized with myogenin to activate the myogenin promoter. Intriguingly, neither HEB $\alpha$  nor HEB $\beta$  functioned synergistically with the MRFs to activate 4*R*-Luc (Figure 4C).

In order to further validate the data obtained using reporter vector assays, we exogenously expressed the MRFs in  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  cells, either alone or with HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$ . In agreement with the reporter vector assays, HEB $\beta$  was able to enhance expression of endogenous myogenin to a greater extent than HEB $\alpha$  (Figure 5A, lanes 4-6). This was not the result of increased MyoD or Myf5 expression as MyoD levels remained constant and Myf5 was undetectable in 10T1/2 cells transfected with MyoD. In addition,

**Figure 4. HEB-dependent increase in MRF activity is synergistic and multifaceted.** A. 10T1/2 fibroblasts were transfected with the MLC-Luc reporter plasmid, and MyoD, Myf5 or myogenin expressing plasmids with either HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  expression plasmids. The panels on the left represent fold activation. The activity of the MLC-Luc reporter plasmid alone was arbitrarily set at 1, and the activity in the presence of the effectors was determined relative to this value (Fold Activation). The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent the standard deviation (n=9). The panels on the right represent synergy (see Materials and Methods). The horizontal line represents the value at which the two effectors function independently, or additively. The bars represent the mean synergy value and the error bars represent the standard deviation (n=9). B. The same transfection as A, but with the Mgn-Luc reporter plasmid. C. The same transfection as A and B, but with the 4R-Luc reporter plasmid.

Figure 4.



### Figure 5. HEBB enhances MyoD-mediated expression of endogenous myogenin.

A. 10T1/2 fibroblasts were transfected as indicated, and the cells were maintained in growth medium (GM) or induced to differentiate for two days (DM). Protein was isolated and 25 µg was analyzed by western blot with the indicated antibodies. Expression of tubulin was monitored as a control for protein quantitation.

B. 10T1/2 fibroblasts were transfected as indicated, and the cells were maintained in growth medium (GM) or induced to differentiate for two days (DM). RNA was isolated and analyzed by RT-PCR. Forced expression of HEBa and HEBB in 10T1/2 fibroblasts resulted in the exclusive expression of the overexpressed isoform.





transfection with Myf5 did not induce expression of myogenin in GM, even when coexpressed with HEB isoforms (Figure 5A, lanes 7-9).

Interestingly, myogenin-mediated expression of myogenin in serum-starved 10T1/2 fibroblasts was enhanced in presence of exogenous HEB $\beta$  (Figure 5A, lane 12). This was not the result of myogenin-induced expression of endogenous MyoD, as MyoD was undetectable by western blot (Figure 5A, lanes 10-12). In addition, it was not the result of a HEB-mediated increase in the activity of the *MSV* LTR, since the expression of *EMSV-MyoD* and *EMSV-Myf5* were not altered in the presence of either HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$ . Taken together, these data reveal a hitherto unknown role for HEB $\beta$  in directing transcription during myogenic differentiation.

#### Binding to E1- and E2-E Boxes in the Myogenin Promoter by Specific MyoD-HEB Complexes Regulates Induction of Transcription during Differentiation

The observation that distinct combinations of MyoD and myogenin with HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  functioned is a synergistic manner, either in growth or differentiation depending on the promoter, suggested the possibility that specific complexes were being recruited to individual E-boxes. Therefore, we investigated whether MyoD and HEB $\beta$  synergistic activation of the myogenin promoter was E-box specific.

The 224-bp minimal myogenin promoter required to recapitulate myogenin expression *in* vivo contains two consensus E-box sequences, E1 (CA<u>GT</u>TG) and E2 (CA<u>CA</u>TG) (Figure 6A). Mutation of the E1 E-box (Mgn-LucE1<sup>mut</sup>) or deletion of the E2 box (Mgn-Luc $\Delta E2$ ) decreased MyoD-mediated activation of the myogenin promoter during early differentiation (Figure 6B). In contrast, the low ability of HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  to activate Mgn-Luc transcription was unaffected by mutation of E1, and was actually increased upon deletion of E2. Furthermore, HEB $\beta$  and more strikingly, HEB $\alpha$ , displayed significantly increased activity on the double E-box mutant reporter vector (Mgn-LucE1<sup>mut</sup>/\Delta E2).

In absence of the E1 E-box, HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  appeared to function as inhibitors of MyoD as evidenced by negative synergy (Figure 6C). Moreover, deletion of the E2 Ebox resulted in a robust 2-fold increase in synergy between MyoD and HEB $\beta$  (Figure 6C). By contrast, both HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  were unable to function synergistically with MyoD to activate Mgn-LucE1<sup>mut</sup>/ $\Delta$ E2 (Figure 6C). We interpret these data to suggest that in growth conditions, a MyoD-HEB $\alpha$  complex binds the E1 E-box to inhibit myogenin transcription, and this inhibition requires the E2 E-box complex. During initiation of differentiation, a MyoD-HEB $\beta$  complex binds the E1 E-box to stimulate myogenin transcription. Together, these experiments underscore the dynamic role played by HEB isoforms in facilitating MyoD activity during myogenic differentiation.

#### Knock Down of HEBβ Inhibits Differentiation

Our experiments indicate that in growth conditions MyoD and HEBß synergistically activate myogenin transcription. These data therefore suggest that

#### Figure 6. MyoD activity on the myogenin promoter is E1 E-box specific.

A. Schematic diagram of the E-boxes in the Mgn-Luc reporter vector and the mutant reporter vectors in which the E1 E-box has been mutated (Mgn-LucE1<sup>mut</sup>), or the E2 E-box has been deleted (Mgn-Luc $\Delta E2$ ), or both (Mgn-Luc $E1^{mut}/\Delta E2$ ).

B. Activity of *Mgn-Luc* in transfected 10T1/2 fibroblasts. Cells were transfected with either EMSV control, MyoD, HEB $\alpha$ , or HEB $\beta$ , in addition to each of the reporter plasmids indicated. The cells were maintained in growth medium, harvested and assayed for luciferase activity. The bars represent the mean fold activation, and the error bars represent standard deviation (n=3).

C. Synergy between MyoD and HEB isoforms in the activation of Mgn-Luc in transfected 10T1/2 fibroblasts. Cells were transfected with combinations of MyoD and HEB $\alpha$  or MyoD and HEB $\beta$ . The horizontal line represents the value at which the two effectors function in an additive manner. The bars represent the mean synergy value and the error bars represent the standard deviation (n=3).



induction of HEB $\beta$  in myoblasts acts as a switch that permits progression through the immediate early differentiation program. To investigate the effect of loss of HEB expression on myogenic differentiation, C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with siRNAs specific for HEB and assessed for myogenin expression 48 hours after stimulation with differentiation medium (Figure 7). Typically, transient transfection resulted in about 10-12% of cells transfected as judged by Cy3-labeled siRNA uptake (Figure 7C).

Transfection of GAPDH-specific siRNA effectively inhibited expression of GAPDH protein as demonstrated by western blot analysis (Figure 7A). Transfection of C2C12 myoblasts with HEB-specific siRNA#36 either alone, or in combination with the other HEB-specific siRNAs (mix), resulted in an apparent high level inhibition of HEB expression given the overall transfection efficiency (Figure 7B, lanes 2 and 5). By contrast, siRNA#15 had no effect, as thus served as a negative control (Figure 7B, lane 1). Moreover, siRNA#36 knock down of HEB expression resulted in a markedly decreased myogenin expression, despite a similar level of MyoD expression (Figure 7B, lane 2). Importantly, siRNA#60, designed to specifically bind HEB $\beta$ , and not HEB $\alpha$ , inhibited myogenin expression (Figure 7B, lane 4). Interestingly, siRNA#60 also induced an increase in Myf5 expression, raising the possibility that MyoD and HEB $\beta$  negatively regulates Myf5 transcription.

HEB-specific siRNAs were labelled with Cy3, and thus detectable by immunofluorescence following transfection. The transfection efficiency for each siRNA was approximately equal, with 9.8% of cells transfected with GAPDH siRNA, 12.8% with siRNA #36, and 12.4% with siRNA #60. As demonstrated in Figure 7C, C2C12 cells transfected with high levels of siRNA #36 and #60 exhibited an inability to upregulate endogenous myogenin (Figure 7C, arrows) relative to untransfected cells (Figure 7C, arrowheads). By contrast, cells transfected with GAPDH siRNA expressed normal levels of myogenin (Figure 7C, arrow in upper panel). In fact, myogenin is expressed in 78.7% cells transfected with GAPDH siRNA, but is expressed in only 24.6% of cells transfected with HEB siRNA #36, and 20.5% of cells transfected with HEB  $\beta$ -specific siRNA #60 (Figure 7E).

After 4 days in DM, GAPDH and untransfected C2C12 cells displayed normal differentiation kinetics as evidenced by the presence of multiple nuclei and myosin heavy chain (MyHC) expression (Figure 7C, arrowheads in lower panels). By contrast, cells transfected with HEB-specific siRNAs displayed an overall delay in differentiation as judged by fusion index and reduced MyHC expression. For example, GAPDH siRNA transfected cells contained on average 5.4 nuclei per myotube (Figure 7C, arrow in lower panel, Figure 7F), whereas cells transfected with HEB siRNA#36 exhibited an average of 1.8 nuclei per myotube (Figure 7C, arrow in lower panel, Figure 7F). Moreover, those transfected with HEB $\beta$ -specific siRNA #60 displayed an average of 1.3 nuclei per myotube (Figure 7C, arrow in lower panel, Figure 7F). Together, these data therefore confirm that HEB $\beta$  is required for the switch from myoblast proliferation to myogenic differentiation.

## Figure 7. Knock down of HEB expression inhibits induction of myogenin and differentiation.

A. Western analysis of C2C12 myoblasts transfected with GAPDH siRNA. Note the reduced levels of GAPDH protein only in cells transfected with siRNA specific for GAPDH. Expression of tubulin was monitored as a control for protein quantitation. B. Western analysis of C2C12 cells transfected with HEB-specific siRNAs and then induced to differentiate for 48 hours. Note the reduced level of HEB and myogenin protein present in cells transfected with siRNAs specific for HEB $\alpha/\beta$  (#35, mix) and HEB $\beta$  (#60). HEB siRNA#15 did not reduce HEB expression.

C & D. Immunofluorescent detection of myogenin and myosin heavy chain (MyHC) in siRNA-transfected C2C12 cells. Cells were fixed either after 48 h of differentiation for detection of myogenin (C) or after 96 h for detection of MyHC (D). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Note the inhibition in myogenin induction (C) and delayed formation of multinucleated myotubes (D) after HEB $\alpha/\beta$  (#36) and HEB $\beta$  (#60) induced knock down of HEB expression.

Figure 7.



#### Discussion

Our experiments indicate that differentiation-dependent alternative splicing of HEB plays a hitherto unappreciated regulatory role during myogenic differentiation. HEBa is expressed in both proliferating and differentiating myoblasts. However, HEBB is expressed exclusively during myogenic differentiation (Figure 1A, 1C). Expression of myogenin is a hallmark of early differentiation, and is highly regulated in order to prevent premature induction of differentiation. The MyoD and HEBB-specific activation of the myogenin promoter is an important means of regulation since expression of HEBB is not induced until differentiation has been initiated. In later differentiation, both HEBa and HEBB activated the myogenin promoter synergistically and specifically with myogenin. This observation is consistent with the notion that MyoD plays a central role in regulating the switch from myoblast proliferation to initiation of differentiation. By contrast, myogenin functions to enforce terminal differentiation by enhancing transcriptional activity of differentiation-specific target genes (Bergstrom and Tapscott, 2001). Therefore, MyoD initiates expression of myogenic genes, but once myogenin is expressed, the two MRFs function cooperatively and synergistically with HEB, to fully activate transcription.

E12 and E47 have been proposed to function as the heterodimerization partners for the MRFs, thereby enhancing activation of muscle-specific genes (Lassar et al., 1991). Our experiments surprisingly suggested that while C2C12 myoblasts and primary myoblasts expressed E12/E47 mRNA, the level of E2A protein was below the limit of detection by Western and ChIP analysis using several commercial preparations of antibody. Moreover, in C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 3B), and 10T1/2 fibroblasts expressing MyoD or Myf5 (data not shown), neither E12 nor E47 were able to augment the activity of *MLC-Luc* or *4R-Luc*. Taken together, these data provide a compelling argument that HEB serves as an important E-protein partner of MyoD and myogenin, and functions in a promoter-specific manner to support and enhance myogenic differentiation.

One interesting possibility is that HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  each participate in the formation of distinct transcription complexes. The activation domain of a sequence specific *trans*-acting factor typically associates with coactivators, such as elements of the basal transcriptional machinery or chromatin-modifying enzymes (Featherstone, 2002). Activators, in cooperation with coactivators, establish the pre-initiation complex (PIC), which includes the TATA-binding protein (TBP) and TBP-associated factors (TAFs). The PIC is not assembled unless a transcriptional activator is present, even if the DNA is accessible. Moreover, the PIC is not universal, and in fact, TBP can form a variety of complexes that may be promoter-specific, or unique to the state of the cell (Hochheimer and Tjian, 2003; Veenstra and Wolffe, 2001). Therefore, it is possible that HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  facilitate the formation of unique PICs on different myogenic promoters.

A number of studies have demonstrated that HEB is able to function both as an activator and a repressor on a given promoter, depending on the presence of other factors (Mandolesi et al., 2002; Rose et al., 2001; Watanabe et al., 1993). In particular, HEB represses activation of the GAP-43 gene in PC12 cells, pending expression of

Nex1/MATH2, a member of the neuroD family of bHLH factors (Uittenbogaard et al., 2003). Nex1/MATH2 binds to the GAP-43 promoter, alleviates HEB-mediated repression and activates expression of the gene, resulting in neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation. Indeed, alleviating the repression may involve a switch from a HEB $\alpha$ -specific complex to a HEB $\beta$ -specific complex.

The ability of HEB $\beta$  to synergize with MyoD appeared to be promoter specific, given that MyoD and HEB $\beta$  were unable to synergistically activate the 4*R*-Luc reporter plasmid. Although this may be the result of differences in core E-box sequence, it is more likely to be indicative of the importance of the context or the position of the E-box within a promoter. MyoD-mediated activation of the Mgn-Luc required at least one consensus E-box (Figure 6B); in the presence of both, activity is cooperative, resembling the MCK enhancer (Weintraub et al., 1990).

Although MyoD alone was able to activate a myogenin promoter containing only the E2 E-box (Mgn-LucE1<sup>mut</sup>), overexpression of either HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  repressed MyoD activity on this reporter construct. Moreover, the activity of the E1-complex was regulated through the E2-complex, given that MyoD-HEB $\beta$  synergy was enhanced approximately 2-fold in the absence of the E2 E-box, and surprisingly, MyoD and HEB $\alpha$ synergistically activated this same reporter construct (Mgn-Luc  $\Delta$ E2). Importantly, binding of a MyoD-HEB $\beta$  complex to the E1 E-box was required to transcriptionally activate the myogenin promoter. Taken together, this indicates that an active MyoD-HEB $\beta$  complex replaces an inhibitory MyoD-HEB $\alpha$  complex on the E1 E-box of the myogenin promoter upon initiation of differentiation.

The E1 E-box is proximal to the TATA box and the initiator (Inr) element of the promoter. The ankyrin-like motif of HEB $\beta$  may play an essential role in recruiting the preinitiation complex to the E1 E-box. The role of the E2 E-box may be twofold, in that it regulates precocious activation by means of the E1 E-box, but may also bind myogenin to maintain expression of the gene. MyoD and myogenin bind to distinct portions of the MLC enhancer and function cooperatively in order to fully activate expression of MLC (Asakura et al., 1993). As such, HEB $\alpha$  or HEB $\beta$  may utilize this E-box in association with myogenin in later differentiation to sustain expression of myogenin.

Knock down experiments demonstrated that HEB $\beta$  is essential for myogenin expression and differentiation into multinucleate myotubes. Loss of HEB did not appear to inhibit expression of myosin heavy chain, but did alter differentiation, as the average number of nuclei per myotube is considerably reduced in cells positive for HEB siRNA. Moreover, siRNA transfected cells display a higher level of Myf5 expression (Figure 7, lane 4). This is reminiscent of primary myoblasts from  $MyoD^{-/-}$  mice, which express more *Myf*5, and remain primarily mononuclear after mitogen withdrawal (Sabourin et al., 1999).

Therefore, HEB plays an important role in the formation of promoter-specific complexes on muscle-specific genes. HEB $\beta$  is expressed exclusively after initiation of differentiation in myoblasts and specifically forms a distinct activation complex in cooperation with MyoD to induce myogenin transcription. This study provides the first evidence that E-proteins, and specifically HEB, directly regulates the activity of the

MyoD-family of bHLH transcription factors in an isoform- and promoter-specific manner. Determining the factors that regulate differentiation-specific expression of HEB $\beta$  will be important for understanding the early aspects of myogenic differentiation. Indeed, splicing is regulated in other tissues, such as neurons, and the ratio of expression of HEB $\alpha$  to HEB $\beta$  is characteristic of each cell type. Altering the ratio in these tissues likely plays an essential role in the switch from proliferation to differentiation, as it does in skeletal muscle.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Cell Culture and Transfections**

C3H10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts (ATCC; CCL-226) and C2C12 myoblasts (ATCC; CRL-1772) were maintained in growth medium (GM), consisting of Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM; Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gemini Bioscience) and 0.1 units/ml of penicillin and 0.1 µg/ml of streptomycin (Invitrogen; 1X). Transfections were performed using the calcium phosphate method as previously described (Perry et al., 2001). Briefly, 1 day prior to transfections, cells were plated at 3.5 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells per 60-mm dish (Falcon) for 10T1/2 cells, or 2.5 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells per 60-mm dish for C2C12 cells. Cells were incubated with the calcium phosphate precipitate for 16 hours, washed twice with PBS and refed with GM. 24 hours after refeeding, cells were either harvested (GM) or washed once with PBS and refed with differentiation medium and cultured for an additional 48 hours (DM; DMEM + 2% horse serum (Invitrogen) and penicillin/streptomycin). Transfections were assayed for efficiency by inclusion of a plasmid expressing either β-gal or GFP.

Primary myoblasts were isolated as described previously (Sabourin et al., 1999) and maintained in Ham's F10 medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 20% FBS, 2X penicillin/streptomycin, and 12.5 ng/ml basic FGF (Invitrogen). Primary myoblasts were induced to differentiate by washing the cells once with PBS and refeeding with DMEM supplemented with 5% horse serum and 2X penicillin/streptomycin.

#### Plasmids

Plasmids expressing MyoD, Myf5 or myogenin were constructed in pEMSV as previously described (Davis et al., 1987). Expression plasmids encoding HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$  were constructed by RT-PCR using RNA from differentiating primary myoblasts as template, and primers specific for the N- and C-terminus of murine HEB:

F1 (5') ATGAATCCCCAGCAGCAGCGCATG (3')

R1 (5') CCATGGTCAGATGACCCATAGGGTTGGT(3').

The PCR products were cloned into the EcoRI site of pEMSV. The plasmids encoding ITF-2A and ITF-2B were kind gifts of Dr. Ilona Skerjanc. The E12 expression plasmid was a kind gift of Dr. Lauren Snider, and the E47 expression plasmid was a kind gift of Cornelius Murre. The 4R-Luc plasmid was constructed by cloning the BamH1 fragment from 4RtkCAT (Weintraub et al., 1990) into the BglII site of the pGL3 Promoter reporter vector (Promega). The BamH1 fragment from MLC-CAT (Donoghue et al., 1988) was also cloned into the BglII site of this vector to obtain the MLC-Luc. Myogenin-luciferase (MG-Luc) and the E-box mutants were constructed as previously described (Berkes et al., 2004). Vectors lacking cDNA inserts or promoter elements were used as controls in the transfections.

#### **RNA** Isolation

C2C12 myoblasts and 10T1/2 fibroblasts were grown to approximately 85-90% confluency in 60-mm dishes and either harvested as a GM sample or washed once with PBS and refed with DM. The cells were then harvested at various time points after

refeeding with DM. RNA was isolated according to manufacturer's instructions using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). The RNA was quantitated and  $5\mu g$  was run on a formaldehyde gel to ensure integrity.

#### **RT-PCR**

RT-PCR was carried out using the RNA PCR Core Kit (Applied Biosystems). Briefly, 1  $\mu$ g of RNA was reverse transcribed for 1 hour at 42°C, using random hexamers. One-eighth of the reaction was used in a PCR reaction (20 cycles) with primers specific for  $\alpha$ -actin:

forward (5') TGAGACCTTCAACACCCCAG (3')

reverse (5') GAGCCAGAGCAGTAATCTCC (3')

in order to ensure proper quantitation of the RNA. One-fourth of the reaction was used in a PCR reaction (30 cycles) with primers specific for HEB:

forward (5') GATCTCCTTCACCTCTCACAG (3')

reverse (5') TAGTAGGCAGACTGGTAGAAG (3')

The primers for E2A were specific for the bHLH:

E12 forward (5') CCAGACGAGGACGAGGACGAC (3')

E47 forward (5') AGTACAGATGAGGTGCTGTCC (3')

E2A reverse (5') ACCACGCCAGACACCTTCTCC (3')

The PCR reactions were optimized to ensure that amplification was within the linear range.

#### **Protein Extraction**

Cells were washed twice with PBS and scraped with NP-40 lysis buffer (50 mM Hepes (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM NaF, 0.5 mM PMSF, 0.5 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 1  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin, 1  $\mu$ g/ml pepstatin, and 1  $\mu$ g/ml leupeptin) and transferred to a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. The cells were incubated on ice for 30-45 minutes with periodic vortexing, and the lysates cleared by centrifugation. Protein concentration was determined using the modified Bradford Assay (BioRad), using BSA as a standard.

#### **Immunoblotting and Antibodies**

Western blot analysis was performed as described previously (Perry et al., 2001). The antibodies used were: anti-HEB (A-20; Santa Cruz), anti-MyoD (C-20; Santa Cruz), anti-myogenin (F5D; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), anti-Myf5 (C-20; Santa Cruz), anti-E2A (V-18; Santa Cruz), anti-tubulin (DM1A; Sigma), anti-GAPDH (Ambion). For immunoblotting, all antibodies were used according to manufacturer's instructions, and anti-myogenin was used at 1:10 (hybridoma supernatant). Anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies were used at 1:2000 (BioRad), and were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL; Amersham-Pharmacia)

#### **Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assays**

For each immunoprecipitation, the protein and DNA in approximately  $1 \times 10^{6}$  C2C12 myoblasts/myotubes or 1.5 X  $10^{6}$  transfected 10T1/2 fibroblasts were cross-

linked by the addition of formaldehyde directly to the culture medium to a final concentration of 1%, and incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C. The cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS containing protease inhibitors (PBS+; 1 mM PMSF, 1  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin, 1  $\mu$ g/ml leupeptin, 1  $\mu$ g/ml pepstatin A). The cells were lysed with 200  $\mu$ l of SDS Lysis Buffer (Upstate) and the cross-linked protein DNA complexes were isolated according to the manufacturer's instructions (Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay Kit; Upstate). For input DNA, 50  $\mu$ l of sample was removed prior to the immunoprecipitation (IP), the cross-links were reversed as instructed in the kit protocol, and the DNA was purified using the PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen). The amount of input DNA was quantitated using the PicoGreen dsDNA Quantitation Kit (Molecular Probes).

The antibodies used to immunoprecipitate the complexes were all supplied by Santa Cruz: anti-MyoD (C-20), anti-HEB (A-20), anti-Myf5 (C-20), and anti-myogenin (M-225), and used at 1  $\mu$ g per IP. After the IP, the immunoprecipitated complexes were washed according to the manufacturer's protocol, the cross-links were reversed and the DNA was purified.

8.2 ng of input DNA from 10T1/2 samples and 1.2 ng of input DNA from C2C12 samples were used in a 25-cycle PCR reaction. The amount of immunoprecipitated DNA used for each 35-cycle PCR reaction was determined based on the concentration of input DNA. PCR reactions were optimized to ensure that amplification was within the linear range and the primers used were previously described (Bergstrom et al., 2002).

#### **Reporter Assays**

Transfected cells were washed twice with PBS and scraped with 1X Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega). The cells were incubated on ice for 30 minutes with periodic vortexing, followed by one round of freeze-thaw lysis. The extracts were centrifuged and the supernatant transferred to a new tube. Luciferase activity was assayed using 10-15  $\mu$ l of extract and the Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Protein concentration was determined using the modified Bradford assay (BioRad), and the relative light units (RLUs) from the luciferase assay were normalized using protein concentration. Fold activity was determined by setting the relative light units (RLUs) for the reporter vector alone sample as 1. Synergy is defined as:

$$SYNERGY = \frac{RLUs(MRF + HEB)}{RLUs(MRF) + RLUs(HEB)}$$

where the RLUs represent luciferase activity normalized to protein concentration.

#### siRNA

HEB target sequences were chosen from a group of possible sequences from the siRNA Target Finder website (<u>www.ambion.com/techlib/misc/siRNA\_finder.html</u>). DNA oligonucleotides were synthesized (Alpha DNA):

#15 5'-AAT GAC AGT CGA TTA GGA ACC CCTGTCTC- 3' (anti-sense) 5'-AA GGT TCC TAA TCG ACT GTC A CCTGTCTC-3' (sense)

## #36 5'- AAT CTC CTA GTT ACC CAT CTC CCTGTCTC -3' (anti-sense) 5'- AA GAG ATG GGT AAC TAG GAG A CCTGTCTC -3' (sense)

- #67 5'- AAT GCA TCA ATT GGA AAC CTC CCTGTCTC -3' (anti-sense) 5'- AA GAG GTT TCC AAT TGA TGC A CCTGTCTC -3' (sense)
- #60 5'- AAC TTC ACG AGC ATT TGC AAG CCTGTCTC -3' (anti-sense) 5'- AA CTT GCA AAT GCT CGT GAA G CCTGTCTC -3' (sense)

and siRNA molecules constructed using the *Silencer* siRNA Construction Kit (Ambion). GAPDH siRNA was synthesized using DNA oligonucleotides provided by Ambion, and served as a positive control. The siRNA was labeled with Cy3 using the *Silencer* siRNA Labeling Kit to permit visualization of transfected cells.

C2C12 myoblasts were plated at 1 X  $10^4$  cells per 35-mm plate. The following day, the cells were transfected with 18.75 pmol of siRNA using Oligofectamine and cultured for 2 days. The cells were washed once with PBS, refed with DM without penicillin/streptomycin, and cultured for 48 hours, or 96 hours.

#### **Immunocytochemistry**

Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA)/PBS for 5 minutes at room temperature, and the fixation was stopped with 100mM glycine/PBS for 5 minutes. The cells were washed three times with PBS, and permeabilized in 0.3% Triton X-100/PBS for 5 minutes, followed by another three washes in PBS. The cells were blocked in 10% horse serum/PBS for one hour, followed by incubation for one hour with primary antibody (F5D [anti-myogenin] or MF20 [anti-myosin heavy chain]; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank; 1:20 in 10% goat serum/PBS). The cells were then washed three times in PBS, and incubated with FITC-conjugated anti-mouse secondary (Chemicon; 1:200 in 10% goat serum/PBS) for one hour. The cells were washed three times in PBS and nuclei were stained with 4'6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; 0.25µg/ml in PBS) for 5 minutes. The cells were washed once in PBS and mounted with Fluorescence Mounting Medium (DAKO).

#### References

Asakura, A., Fujisawa-Sehara, A., Komiya, T., and Nabeshima, Y. (1993). MyoD and myogenin act on the chicken myosin light-chain 1 gene as distinct transcriptional factors. Mol Cell Biol 13, 7153-7162.

Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Strand, A., Perry, R. L., Rudnicki, M. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2002). Promoter-specific regulation of MyoD binding and signal transduction cooperate to pattern gene expression. Mol Cell 9, 587-600.

Bergstrom, D. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2001). Molecular distinction between specification and differentiation in the myogenic basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor family. Mol Cell Biol 21, 2404-2412.

Berkes, C. A., Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Seaver, K. J., Knoepfler, P. S., and Tapscott, S. J. (2004). Pbx marks genes for activation by MyoD indicating a role a homeodomain protein in establishing myogenic potential. Mol Cell *in press*.

Davis, R. L., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. B. (1987). Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51, 987-1000.

Donoghue, M., Ernst, H., Wentworth, B., Nadal-Ginard, B., and Rosenthal, N. (1988). A muscle-specific enhancer is located at the 3' end of the myosin light-chain 1/3 gene locus. Genes Dev 2, 1779-1790.

Featherstone, M. (2002). Coactivators in transcription initiation: here are your orders. Curr Opin Genet Dev 12, 149-155.

Goldfarb, A. N., Lewandowska, K., and Pennell, C. A. (1998). Identification of a highly conserved module in E proteins required for in vivo helix-loop-helix dimerization. J Biol Chem 273, 2866-2873.

Hochheimer, A., and Tjian, R. (2003). Diversified transcription initiation complexes expand promoter selectivity and tissue-specific gene expression. Genes Dev 17, 1309-1320.

Hu, J. S., Olson, E. N., and Kingston, R. E. (1992). HEB, a helix-loop-helix protein related to E2A and ITF2 that can modulate the DNA-binding ability of myogenic regulatory factors. Mol Cell Biol 12, 1031-1042.

Klein, E. S., Simmons, D. M., Swanson, L. W., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1993). Tissuespecific RNA splicing generates an ankyrin-like domain that affects the dimerization and DNA-binding properties of a bHLH protein. Genes Dev 7, 55-71. Lassar, A. B., Davis, R. L., Wright, W. E., Kadesch, T., Murre, C., Voronova, A., Baltimore, D., and Weintraub, H. (1991). Functional activity of myogenic HLH proteins requires hetero- oligomerization with E12/E47-like proteins in vivo. Cell *66*, 305-315.

Mandolesi, G., Gargano, S., Pennuto, M., Illi, B., Molfetta, R., Soucek, L., Mosca, L., Levi, A., Jucker, R., and Nasi, S. (2002). NGF-dependent and tissue-specific transcription of vgf is regulated by a CREB-p300 and bHLH factor interaction. FEBS Lett *510*, 50-56.

Markus, M., Du, Z., and Benezra, R. (2002). Enhancer-specific modulation of E protein activity. J Biol Chem 277, 6469-6477.

Massari, M. E., Grant, P. A., Pray-Grant, M. G., Berger, S. L., Workman, J. L., and Murre, C. (1999). A conserved motif present in a class of helix-loop-helix proteins activates transcription by direct recruitment of the SAGA complex. Mol Cell 4, 63-73.

Murre, C., McCaw, P. S., Vaessin, H., Caudy, M., Jan, L. Y., Jan, Y. N., Cabrera, C. V., Buskin, J. N., Hauschka, S. D., Lassar, A. B., and et al. (1989). Interactions between heterologous helix-loop-helix proteins generate complexes that bind specifically to a common DNA sequence. Cell 58, 537-544.

Murre, C., Voronova, A., and Baltimore, D. (1991). B-cell- and myocyte-specific E2box-binding factors contain E12/E47- like subunits. Mol Cell Biol 11, 1156-1160.

Neuman, T., Keen, A., Knapik, E., Shain, D., Ross, M., Nornes, H. O., and Zuber, M. X. (1993). ME1 and GE1: basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors expressed at high levels in the developing nervous system and in morphogenetically active regions. Eur J Neurosci 5, 311-318.

Parker, M. H., Seale, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2003). Looking back to the embryo: defining transcriptional networks in adult myogenesis. Nature Reviews Genetics 4, 497-507.

Perry, R. L., Parker, M. H., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2001). Activated MEK1 binds the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex to repress transactivation. Mol Cell 8, 291-301.

Rose, S. D., Swift, G. H., Peyton, M. J., Hammer, R. E., and MacDonald, R. J. (2001). The role of PTF1-P48 in pancreatic acinar gene expression. J Biol Chem 276, 44018-44026.

Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Seale, P., Asakura, A., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1999). Reduced differentiation potential of primary MyoD-/- myogenic cells derived from adult skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 144, 631-643.

Tapscott, S. J., Davis, R. L., Thayer, M. J., Cheng, P. F., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. B. (1988). MyoD1: a nuclear phosphoprotein requiring a Myc homology region to convert fibroblasts to myoblasts. Science 242, 405-411.

Uittenbogaard, M., Martinka, D. L., and Chiaramello, A. (2003). The basic helix-loophelix differentiation factor Nex1/MATH-2 functions as a key activator of the GAP-43 gene. J Neurochem 84, 678-688.

Veenstra, G. J., and Wolffe, A. P. (2001). Gene-selective developmental roles of general transcription factors. Trends Biochem Sci 26, 665-671.

Watanabe, Y., Kawakami, K., Hirayama, Y., and Nagano, K. (1993). Transcription factors positively and negatively regulating the Na,K-ATPase alpha 1 subunit gene. J Biochem (Tokyo) 114, 849-855.

Weintraub, H., Davis, R., Lockshon, D., and Lassar, A. (1990). MyoD binds cooperatively to two sites in a target enhancer sequence: occupancy of two sites is required for activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 5623-5627.

Westerman, B. A., Murre, C., and Oudejans, C. B. (2003). The cellular Pax-Hox-helix connection. Biochim Biophys Acta 1629, 1-7.

Zhuang, Y., Kim, C. G., Bartelmez, S., Cheng, P., Groudine, M., and Weintraub, H. (1992). Helix-loop-helix transcription factors E12 and E47 are not essential for skeletal or cardiac myogenesis, erythropoiesis, chondrogenesis, or neurogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89, 12132-12136.

### **Preface to Chapter 3**

Myoblasts isolated from  $MyoD^{-/-}$  mice proliferate more rapidly, display a delay in differentiation, and continue to incorporate BrdU after serum withdrawal (Sabourin et al., 1999). Therefore, the next logical course of action was to determine which cell cycle regulatory proteins were affected by the loss of MyoD, and the mechanism by which the regulation is achieved. This paper contributes to the field of skeletal muscle biology by demonstrating that MyoD induces cell cycle arrest by regulating expression of cyclin D1, D2, and E. Moreover, the loss of MyoD results in maintained activation of NF- $\kappa$ B under conditions which induce differentiation. NF- $\kappa$ B directly activates expression of cyclin D1 and components of the proteosome.

This manuscript will be submitted for publication in 2004. Robert Perry cultured the  $MyoD^{-/-}:Myf5^{-/-}$  fibroblasts, and performed the transfections for Figure 6. Adele Girgis-Gabardo was a technician in the lab who isolated the initial  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts and helped with cell culture. I performed the experiments shown in Figures 1 through 5 and 7, the RNase protection assay of Figure 6, constructed the figures, and wrote the manuscript.

### Maintained Activation of NF-KB Inhibits Differentiation in MyoDnull Myoblasts

Maura H. Parker<sup>1,2</sup>, Robert L.S. Perry<sup>3</sup>, Adele Girgis-Gabardo, and Michael A. Rudnicki<sup>2,4</sup>

1 Faculty of Health Sciences Graduate Programme

McMaster University

Hamilton, Ontario

2 Ottawa Health Research Institute

Molecular Medicine Program

Ottawa, Ontario

3 Department of Biology

York University

Toronto, Ontario

4 Corresponding author: Ottawa Health Research Institute, 501 Smyth Rd, Ottawa, ON, Canada, K1H 8L6; Ph: 613-739-6740; Fax: 613-737-8803; e-mail: mrudnicki@ohri.ca

#### Abstract

Myoblasts isolated from  $MyoD^{-/}$  myoblasts proliferate more rapidly that wildtype myoblasts, and continue to incorporate BrdU after serum withdrawal (Sabourin et al., 1999). The precise mechanism by which MyoD regulates cell cycle withdrawal is not well understood. We demonstrated that increased nuclear localization of cyclin E, and a concomitant increase in cdk2 activity, contributed to the increase in proliferation of the MyoD-null myoblasts and DNA synthesis in the absence of serum. Moreover, expression of cyclin D was maintained during differentiation, inhibiting expression of musclespecific genes required for differentiation. Importantly, MyoD regulation of cell cycle was indirect and was the result of maintained activation of NF- $\kappa$ B. Therefore, MyoD regulates cell cycle withdrawal by indirectly regulating expression and stability of important cell cycle regulators.

#### Introduction

The myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs), namely MyoD, Myf5, myogenin, and MRF4/Myf6, play a well-defined role in orchestrating skeletal muscle development and differentiation (Parker et al., 2003). The MRFs share a highly homologous basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) domain, which is required for DNA binding and dimerization with the E-protein family of transcription factors. MRF-E-protein heterodimers bind to the consensus E-box sequence, CANNTG, found in the promoters of muscle-specific genes. The DNA binding and transcriptional activity of these dimers is highly regulated by a variety of protein-protein interactions and extrinsic cues (Perry and Rudnicki, 2000; Puri and Sartorelli, 2000).

Analysis of regeneration in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  muscle established an essential role for MyoD in the regulation of adult myogenesis. Specifically, increased numbers of satellite cells and a deficient regenerative processes in muscles of mice that lack MyoD ( $MyoD^{-/-}$ ), or MyoD and dystrophin ( $MyoD^{-/-}:mdx$ ), suggests that MyoD-deficient satellite cells have an increased propensity for self-renewal rather than differentiation (Megeney et al., 1996). Several labs have subsequently demonstrated impaired differentiation of cultured  $MyoD^{-/-}$ satellite cell derived myoblasts, with a concomitant increase in Myf5 expression (Cornelison et al., 2000; Sabourin et al., 1999; Yablonka-Reuveni et al., 1999).

A further investigation of differentiation potential demonstrated a continued incorporation of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts during differentiation, indicating continued DNA synthesis in the absence of mitogen stimulation (Sabourin et al., 1999). In addition,  $MyoD^{-/-}$  cultures display a reduced number of differentiated cells, as assessed by myosin heavy chain (MyHC) expression, and notably, those cells that have differentiated are primarily mononuclear. These cells also demonstrate a delay in the expression of differentiation specific markers such as myogenin, MRF4,  $\alpha$ -actins and the acetylcholine receptor- $\delta$ .

A number of previous studies have investigated the role of the cell cycle machinery in regulating MyoD activity, yet the only report to date examining the corollary describes how MyoD initiates the expression of p21, an inhibitor of cdk2 and cdk1 kinase activity (Halevy et al., 1995; Parker et al., 1995). Interestingly,  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts have a similar level of p21 mRNA as compared to WT myoblasts, and mice lacking p21 display no apparent muscle abnormalities (Deng et al., 1995; Sabourin et al., 1999). In contrast, mice lacking p21 and p57, another cdk2/cdk1 inhibitor, are phenotypically similar to myogenin knockout mice, in that they lack differentiated myofibers (Zhang et al., 1999). Although p21 alone does not regulate cell cycle exit in myoblasts, this suggests that inhibition of cdk2 activity is essential for myogenic differentiation.

Therefore, in this study we sought to examine the role MyoD plays in regulating cell cycle withdrawal and terminal differentiation. We demonstrated that continued S-phase entry was due to maintained expression of cyclin D and E, and increased cdk2 activity. Importantly, it is hypothesized that MyoD indirectly controls cell cycle withdrawal by regulating activation of the p50/NF- $\kappa$ B1 and p65/RelA transcription factors.

### Results

# $MyoD^{\checkmark}$ Myoblasts Maintained Expression of Cyclin D1 and D2 after Serum Withdrawal

In order to investigate the changes in cell cycle in the absence of MyoD, RNA was isolated from a differentiation time course of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  and WT primary myoblasts, and the relative expression level of a variety of cyclins was determined using an RNase protection assay (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). The relative amount of mRNA present for each cyclin was quantitated using a phosphorimager, and normalized to a GAPDH control. Figure 1A and 2A depict the resulting autoradiographs of the gels and Figure 1B and 2B graphically depict the results.  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts exhibited a higher level of cyclin D1 and D2 mRNA, and a lower level of cyclin D3 and cyclin G1 mRNA as compared to WT myoblasts (Figure 1). However, neither cyclin E nor cyclin H mRNA was affected by the absence of MyoD.

#### Loss of MyoD Stimulates S-phase Entry

To determine if the changes in mRNA are translated into changes in protein levels, nuclear protein extracts isolated from a similar differentiation time course were analyzed by Western blot analysis. In accord with RNase protection assay results,  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts displayed a higher level of cyclin D1 and D2 protein in the nucleus and continued expression after mitogen withdrawal (Figure 3). The level of cdk4 in the nucleus was also elevated, and expression continued after mitogen withdrawal. Expression of cyclin D3 protein, on the other hand, was not altered in the absence of MyoD.

Although expression of cyclin E mRNA was not altered,  $MyoD^{-L}$  myoblasts displayed an increase in the level of cyclin E protein in the nucleus (Figure 4A). Moreover, the level of nuclear cdk2 protein was elevated, and more importantly, appeared to be the slower migrating, or activated, form. As expected, this correlated with an increase in cdk2 kinase activity (Figure 4B).

Although cdk activity is regulated by the expression of its corresponding cyclin partner, the cyclin-cdk complex is also activated by the cdk-activating kinase (CAK), which includes cyclin H and cdk7. Western blot analysis demonstrated that expression of cdk7 protein was increased in the nucleus of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  cells, yet cyclin H expression was similar to that of WT myoblasts, as expected from the RNase protection assays (Figures 4C and 2B).

To determine if increased cdk2 kinase activity forced cells to enter S-phase more rapidly, proliferating  $MyoD^{-/-}$  and WT myoblasts were subjected to fluorescent activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis. The greatest proportion of WT myoblasts were in the G1 phase of the cell cycle (84%) (Figure 5). Furthermore, 23% of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts were in S phase compared with 12% of WT cells. This increase in the proportion of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts in S-phase was accompanied by a decrease in the proportion of cells in G1

# Figure 1. Maintained expression of cyclin D in $MyoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts after serum withdrawal.

A. RNA was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts and an RNase protection assay was performed with the indicated probes. The protected <sup>32</sup>P-labeled fragments were separated on a polyacrylamide gel, the gel dried and exposed to X-ray film.

B. The amount of each protected fragment was quantitated using a phosphorimager. The values obtained were normalized relative to the GAPDH control and the L32 control, and graphed as a function of the number of days in differentiation medium (DM). Expression of *cyclin D1* and *D2* was increased in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts.

### Figure 1.



### Figure 2. Decreased cyclin G1 expression in MyoD<sup>-/-</sup> myoblasts.

A. RNA was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts and an RNase protection assay was performed with the indicated probes. The protected <sup>32</sup>P-labeled fragments were separated on a polyacrylamide gel, the gel dried and exposed to X-ray film.

B. The amount of each protected fragment was quantitated using a phosphorimager. The values obtained were normalized relative to the GAPDH control and the L32 control and graphed as a function of the number of days in differentiation medium (DM). Expression of cyclin G1 was decreased in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts, however expression of cyclin E was unchanged.

### Figure 2.



## Figure 3. Cyclin D1 and D2 protein remained localized to the nucleus during serum withdrawal in $MyoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts.

Nuclear protein was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts and a western blot was performed with the indicated antibodies. The level of cyclin D1 and D2 protein in the nucleus was elevated in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts, as was the level of its corresponding kinase, cdk4.
### Figure 3.



## Figure 4. Maintained nuclear localization of cyclin E and increased cdk2 activity during serum withdrawal in $MyoD^{-1}$ myoblasts.

A. Nuclear protein was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts and a western blot was performed using the indicated antibodies. Cyclin E protein remained localized to the nucleus in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts, even after serum withdrawal

B. Cdk2 was immunoprecipitated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts, and assayed for kinase activity using histone H1 and  $\gamma^{-32}$ P-ATP as substrate.  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts displayed a higher level of cdk2 kinase activity.

C. Nuclear protein was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-7}$  primary myoblasts and a western blot was performed using the indicated antibodies.  $MyoD^{-7}$  myoblasts exhibited an increased level of cdk7, a component of the cdk-activating kinase (CAK) complex.

### Figure 4.



(68% of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  cells compared to 84% of WT cells). Moreover, 8.8% of WT cells were in mitosis compared to 4.1% of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts. Therefore, in the absence of MyoD, myoblasts enter into S-phase more readily.

#### MyoD Regulation of Cyclin D Gene Expression is Indirect and Involves NF-KB

In order to address whether the changes in cyclin expression were a direct result of MyoD or Myf5 activity, embryonic fibroblasts lacking both *MyoD* and *Myf-5* (double knockout fibroblasts; DKO fibroblasts) were transfected with MyoD, Myf-5, or an estradiol-inducible form of MyoD (MyoD-ER). The MyoD-ER transfected cells were either treated with ethanol, thus keeping the MyoD-ER fusion protein in the cytoplasm, or exposed to estradiol, activating MyoD by inducing nuclear localization. RNA was isolated from proliferating cells and RNase protection assays were performed using the two cyclin probe sets shown earlier (Figure 6). Neither MyoD nor Myf5 expression altered the levels of cyclin mRNA as compared to control cells. Moreover, estradiol induction of MyoD-ER transfected cells had no effect on cyclin expression. This suggests that the cell cycle anomalies of the  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts are not the direct result of MyoD or Myf-5 transcriptional activity.

Indeed, NF- $\kappa$ B directly activates expression of cyclin D1, and blocks synthesis of the C3 subunit of the proteasome (Guttridge et al., 1999a). Strikingly,  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts retained NF- $\kappa$ B in the nucleus, even after mitogen withdrawal, in contrast to WT myoblasts, which predominantly maintained cytoplasmic localization of NF- $\kappa$ B (Figure 7). This strongly suggests that differentiation-specific MyoD activity inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B activation, allowing cyclin D expression to be downregulated.

# Figure 5. Proliferating $MyoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts displayed a greater percentage of cells in S-phase.

Proliferating WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts were fixed in ethanol and the DNA stained with propidium iodide (PI). The cells were then analyzed for DNA content by FACS analysis, and the percentage of cells in each phase of the cell cycle is indicated.  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts displayed a greater propensity to enter S-phase, relative to WT myoblasts.

Figure 5.



#### Figure 6. MyoD and Myf5 do not directly regulate expression of cyclin D.

Mouse embryonic fibroblasts isolated from  $MyoD^{-/-}:Myf-5^{-/-}$  mice were transfected with MyoD, Myf-5, or an estradiol-inducible form of MyoD (MyoD-ER). The cells transfected with MyoD-ER were treated either with ethanol (MyoD-ER) or estradiol (MyoD-ER + estradiol). RNA was isolated from proliferating cells, and RNase protection assays were performed using the two cyclin probe sets described earlier. The first two lanes represent mouse control RNA, and the third lane, labeled "control", represents fibroblasts transfected with empty expression vector. The two sets of MyoD and Myf-5 lanes represent two separate experiments. The pattern of *cyclin* expression was not altered upon transfection of MyoD or Myf5, or estradiol induction of MyoD-ER.

#### eyelin A2 eyelin B1 eyelin D1 eyelin D2 eyelin D3 eyelin B2 L32 L32





Figure 6.

mouse control RNA 1 mouse control RNA 2 control MyoD Myf-5 MyoD Myf-5

MyoD-ER

MyoD-ER & estradiol

68

## Figure 7. Sustained activation of NF- $\kappa$ B during serum withdrawal in $MyoD^{-/-}$ myoblasts.

Protein was isolated from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts and a western blot using the nuclear (N) and cytoplasmic (C) fractions was performed with an antibody specific for the p65 subunit of NF- $\kappa$ B.  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts displayed a continued localization of NF- $\kappa$ B to the nucleus after serum withdrawal.

### Figure 7.



#### Discussion

Expression of muscle-specific genes is regulated by the MRF family of bHLH transcription factors. Mice lacking both MyoD and Myf5 display a complete absence of skeletal muscle, demonstrating that MyoD and Myf5 play an essential role in myogenic specification (Rudnicki et al., 1993). During embryonic development, progenitors present at sites of hypaxial and limb muscle formation express Myf5, but not MyoD, and proliferate extensively prior to differentiation (Amthor et al., 1999; Delfini et al., 2000). Moreover, the population of LacZ-expressing epaxial myogenic progenitors is reduced in the absence of Myf5 in gene-targeted  $Myf5^{nLacZnLacZ}$  embryos, and myoblasts from newborn  $Myf5^{-/-}$  mice display reduced proliferative potential (Tajbakhsh et al., 1996)(Montarras et al., 2000). Taken together, these observations suggest a model in which Myf5 activity is required for proliferation and specification of the myogenic lineage, whereas MyoD functions predominantly to induce cell cycle arrest and differentiation. This is especially intriguing in light of the increase in Myf5 expression in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts and their propensity to proliferate rather than differentiate.

Myogenic differentiation requires irreversible withdrawal from the cell cycle, and a number of studies have elucidated the importance of cell cycle proteins in regulating myogenic differentiation (Kitzmann and Fernandez, 2001; Wei and Paterson, 2001). Cell cycle progression, on the other hand, requires that pRb is phosphorylated, and this occurs, in part, through cyclin D1-cdk4 kinase activity. As such, the increase in expression of cyclin D1 and D2 in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts (Figure 1 and 3) may cause cell cycle progression in the absence of mitogens through increased phosphorylation of pRb. However, overexpression of cyclin D1 also inhibits MRF activity and myogenic differentiation through a mechanism independent of pRb or MyoD phosphorylation (Rao and Kohtz, 1995; Skapek et al., 1996; Skapek et al., 1995).

Cyclin D is able to bind transcription factors, such as the estrogen receptor, STAT3 and Beta2/NeuroD, or co-factors such as pCAF and HDACs, to inhibit transcriptional activity (Coqueret, 2002). Moreover, cyclin D blocks the interaction between Mef2 and its cofactor GRIP-1, thus inhibiting transcriptional activity of Mef2 (Chen et al., 2000; Lazaro et al., 2002). Given that Mef2 plays an important role in myogenic differentiation, this may represent an important mechanism by which continued expression of cyclin D1 blocks transcriptional activation of differentiation-specific myogenic genes.

Cyclin D1 is highly regulated at the level of transcriptional activation, protein expression, and subcellular localization. In WT myoblasts and C2C12 myoblasts, serum withdrawal results in export of cyclin D1, D2, and cdk4 protein out of the nucleus (Figure 3, data not shown), and downregulation of cyclin D1 and D2 expression (Figure 1). Normally, mitogens induce expression of cyclin D1 through activation of the the Ras-MAP kinase pathway (Albanese et al., 1995). Given that the level of cyclin D1 and D2 mRNA is maintained in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts, even after induction of differentiation through mitogen withdrawal (Figure 1), one possibility is that differentiation-specific MyoD activity negatively regulates the MAP kinase pathway, thereby downregulating expression of cyclin D1.

Degradation of cyclins is another important mechanism by which cell cycle progression is regulated. Cyclin D1 associates with Cul-1, a component of the SCF ubiquitin E3 ligase complex, and is degraded through the 26S proteasome (Russell et al., 1999; Yu et al., 1998). Phosphorylation of cyclin D1 on Thr286 by GSK-3 $\beta$  forces cyclin D1 out of the nucleus and targets the protein for degradation (Alt et al., 2000; Diehl et al., 1998). In the absence of MyoD, the level of nuclear localized cyclin D1 protein is elevated (Figure 3) and although this may simply reflect an increase in the mRNA, it may also be due to a lack of cyclin D1 phosphorylation, or a failure to activate the components of the degradation pathway. The possibility of MyoD-dependent degradation of cyclin D1 is intriguing since the level of cyclin E protein is also maintained in the nucleus of *MyoD*<sup>-/-</sup> myoblasts in the absence of mitogens (Figure 4).

Although cyclin D1 may function outside of the cell cycle in order to inhibit myogenic differentiation, the role of cyclin E is likely to be more archetypal. pRb is phosphorylated by the cyclin E-cdk2 complex, and this phosphorylation is required for S-phase entry (Harbour et al., 1999). Cyclin E expression is controlled by the E2F family of transcription factors, whose activity is regulated by interactions with pRb, p107 and p130. Cyclin D-cdk4 phosphorylates pRb, disrupting the interaction with E2F, and allowing E2F to activate transcription of the cyclin E gene. In fact, the only cell cycle function of cyclin D-cdk4 is to induce expression of cyclin E. Moreover, forced expression of cyclin E bypasses the need for cyclin D/cdk4 activity in the progression from G1 to S phase (Geng et al., 1996; Geng et al., 1999).

In the absence of MyoD, myoblasts displayed an increase in the proportion of cells in S-phase relative to WT myoblasts (Figure 5). This corresponded with an increase in nuclear localized cyclin E and cdk2 protein, and an increase in cdk2 kinase activity (Figure 4). Expression of *cyclin E* mRNA was not changed in the absence of MyoD, indicating that the increase in cyclin D1 expression is not inducing cell cycle progression through stimulation of pRb phosphorylation and induction of E2F activity. However, cyclin E protein was stabilized and remained localized to the nucleus after mitogen withdrawal (Figure 4).

Targeted degradation of cyclin E depends on phosphorylation of four main serine and threonine residues - T62, S372, T380, and S384. The F-box protein, Fbw7, recognizes phosphorylated T380, which is is phosphorylated by GSK3 $\beta$ . The SCF<sup>Fbw7</sup> ubiquitin ligase complex ubiquitinates cyclin E and targets the protein for degradation. Downregulation or inactivating mutations in the E3 ubiquitin ligase complexes have been implicated in a number of disease states, including cancer (Adams, 2003). Therefore, MyoD may inhibit S-phase entry by inducing the activity of SCF<sup>Fbw7</sup>, in order to ensure that cyclin E protein is degraded, allowing cells to arrest in the G1 phase of the cell cycle and induce differentiation.

Neither MyoD nor Myf5 appeared to directly regulate expression of either *cyclin* D1 or D2 (Figure 6). As indicated above, MyoD may regulate expression of cyclin D1 by modulating the activity of Ras-MAP kinase pathway. Moreover, it is possible that MyoD regulates expression of another factor that is involved in transcriptional control of cell

cycle genes. During normal differentiation of WT myoblasts and C2C12 myoblasts, NF- $\kappa$ B DNA-binding activity decreases within 24 hours of serum withdrawal (Guttridge et al., 1999a). Therefore, it was intriguing to discover that  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts displayed a continued nuclear localization of NF-kB, even after mitogen withdrawal (Figure 7). Furthermore, NF- $\kappa$ B regulates cyclin D1 expression at the mRNA level in myoblasts, and cyclin D2 expression in lymphoma cells (Guttridge et al., 1999b; Hinz et al., 2001).

Expression of NF- $\kappa$ B1 (p50) is downregulated in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts (P. Seale, J. Ishibashi, and M.A. Rudnicki, unpublished observations), however the antibody used for the western blot was specific for p65 (RelA). RelA/p65 is activated through the canonical pathway, and normally forms dimers with the NF- $\kappa$ B/p50 subunit. In fact, NF- $\kappa$ B1/p50 does not contain an activation domain, and homodimers are transcriptionally repressive. Moreover, the heterodimer or homodimer that is formed may function in cell-specific and a promoter-specific manner (Yamamoto and Gaynor, 2004).

Differentiation is accelerated in myoblasts expressing a non-phosphorylatable form of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ -SR), which is unable to be degraded and inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B (p65) nuclear localization (Guttridge et al., 1999b). Furthermore, these I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ -SR expressing myoblasts proliferate less rapidly and downregulate expression of *cyclin D1*. In myoblasts lacking MyoD, NF- $\kappa$ B was constitutively localized to the nucleus, the cells proliferated more rapidly, and maintained expression of *cyclin D1* after mitogen withdrawal (Figure 1 and 7)(Sabourin et al., 1999).

Normally, NF- $\kappa$ B is sequestered in the cytoplasm by inhibitory proteins, such as I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , I $\kappa$ B $\beta$ , and I $\kappa$ B $\epsilon$  (Israel, 2000; Liou and Hsia, 2003; Yamamoto and Gaynor, 2004). In response to a stimulus, the I $\kappa$ B proteins are degraded and NF- $\kappa$ B localizes to the nucleus. Regulation of NF- $\kappa$ B subcellular localization is further complicated by the inherent differences in the I $\kappa$ B proteins. I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  contains a nuclear export signal (NES), and is able to shuttle NF- $\kappa$ B out of the nucleus, as well as maintain cytoplasmic localization. The  $\beta$  and  $\epsilon$  forms do not contain an NES, and thus function solely to sequester NF- $\kappa$ B in the cytoplasm.

IκBα expression is regulated by NF-κB, such that upon stimulated degradation and NF-κB activation, expression of IκBα is induced as a feedback mechanism. In embryonic fibroblasts (EFs) expressing either IκBβ or IκBε, in the absence of IκBα, the level of nuclear NF-κB steadily increases until a plateau is reached, whereas EFs expressing only IκBα have a steady oscillation of nuclear NF-κB (Beg et al., 1995). It has been suggested that an increase in IκBβ or IκBε relative to IκBα reduces the oscillation of NF-κB, and results in sustainable NF-κB activation. Moreover, *IκBα-/-* EFs infected with a MyoD-expressing retrovirus maintain NF-kB nuclear localization, resulting in the formation of fewer myotubes that are smaller (Ladner et al., 2003). Therefore, it is possible that the increase in NF-κB activation in *MyoD<sup>-/-</sup>* myoblasts is due to a loss of IκBα expression, or an increase in the expression of either IκBβ or IκBε relative to IκBα response to the stimulus.

Localization of NF- $\kappa$ B to the nucleus may also be regulated by the Ras-MAP kinase pathway. Expression of an activated form of Ras (H-RasG12V) induces NF- $\kappa$ B activity in MyoD-expressing 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts, resulting in an increase in cyclin D1 expression and inhibition of myogenesis (Mitin et al., 2001). Notably, the inhibition of

myogenesis by this form of activated Ras does not solely depend on the activity of NF- $\kappa$ B, although expression of NF- $\kappa$ B alone in 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts inhibits MyoD-mediated myogenesis (Guttridge et al., 1999b; Mitin et al., 2001).

Indeed, MyoD negatively regulates expression of H-Ras, suggesting that in the absence of MyoD, myoblasts maintain activity of the Ras-MAP kinase pathway (Bergstrom et al., 2002). Moreover, MyoD induces the expression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5 (IGFBP-5), which binds IGFs in order to modulate their activity (P. Seale, J. Ishibashi, and M.A. Rudnicki, unpublished observations)(Bergstrom et al., 2002; Rousse et al., 2001). In fact, in the presence of IGFBP-5, IGF-I inhibits myoblast proliferation and stimulates differentiation, presumably by exchanging the responding pathway from the Ras-MAP kinase pathway to the PI-3' kinase/Akt pathway (Coolican et al., 1997; Ewton et al., 1998; Tureckova et al., 2001). Therefore, in the absence of MyoD, myoblasts are unable to activate expression of IGFBP-5, and IGF-I continues to induce proliferation through the Ras-MAPK pathway. Moreover, this inability to change signaling pathways may be due to the increase in NF- $\kappa$ B activity, given that TNF $\alpha$ , which activates NF- $\kappa$ B, blocks secretion of IGFBP-5 and inhibits IGF-I stimulated expression of myogenin (Broussard et al., 2003; Meadows et al., 2000).

Therefore, in the absence of MyoD, myoblasts are unable to exit the cell cycle in response to mitogen withdrawal.  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts continue to express cyclin D1 and D2, as well as maintain nuclear localization of cyclin D1, D2, and cyclin E. This may be due to the inability of  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts to downregulate the activity of the Ras-MAP kinase pathway, or upregulate the activity of GSK3 $\beta$  and the SCF<sup>Fbw7</sup> complex. The effects may also be a direct result of the loss of MyoD, the increase in Myf5 expression or the result of increased activation of NF- $\kappa$ B. Defining the precise gene targets of each of these transcription factors is essential for understanding the mechanism of Myf5-mediated proliferation of myogenic precursors and MyoD-mediated induction of differentiation.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Myoblast Isolation and Cell Culture**

Myoblasts were isolated from 6 to 8 week old wildtype (WT) Balb/C mice and MvoD<sup>-/-</sup> mice as previously described (Sabourin et al., 1999). Briefly, the hindlimb muscle of the mouse was removed, washed in PBS, minced in 1.5 ml of collagenase/dispase (2.1 units/ml dispase (Roche), 1% collagenase, 2.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>), and incubated for 12 minutes at 37°C in a humidified incubator. The mixture was pipetted up and down ten to fifteen times to disperse the muscle, and returned to 37°C for a further 8 minutes. This was repeated until the mixture was smooth. The mixture was passed through a nylon filter (Nitex, Fisher Scientific) to remove undigested material. The flowthrough was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1000 rpm, and the pellet resuspended in 4 mls of isolation medium (Ham's F10 medium supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum [FBS; Gemini Bioscience], 0.2 units/ml of penicillin and 0.2 µg/ml of streptomycin (Invitrogen; 2X), 10 ng/ml hepatocyte growth factor [HGF; Roche], and 5 ng/ml heparin [Sigma]). The cells were plated on a 6-cm plastic dish for 24 hours to allow the contaminating fibroblasts to adhere.

The following day, the medium and cells in suspension were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1000 rpm, and the pellet resuspended in 4 mls of isolation medium and plated on a 6-cm plastic dish. After 20 minutes at 37°C, the medium and cells in suspension were transferred to a collagen-coated 6-cm dish. The following day, the isolation medium was removed and the cells were refed with myoblast growth medium (Ham's F10 medium supplemented with 20% FBS, 2X penicillin and streptomycin, and 12.5 ng/ml of basic fibroblast growth factor [bFGF; Invitrogen]). For the first 3 passages, the cells were pre-plated on plastic for 15-20 minutes prior to reseeding on collagen-coated dishes to remove fibroblasts and non-myogenic cells. To induce differentiation, the cells were washed once with PBS and transferred to differentiation medium (DMEM supplemented with 5% horse serum (Invitrogen), and 2X penicillin/streptomycin).

#### **RNA** Isolation

RNA was isolated using TriZol Reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells from a 10-cm dish were lysed in 1ml of TriZol Reagent for 5 minutes at room temperature and the lysate transferred to a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube. The RNA was extracted from the mixture with 0.2 ml of chloroform, and precipitated with 0.5 ml isopropanol. The precipitate was washed with 1 ml of 75% ethanol, and the RNA dissolved in 250 µl of DEPC-treated water. In order to ensure purity, the RNA was reprecipitated with 500µl of ethanol and 10µl of 3M sodium acetate, and the pellet was washed once with 75% ethanol. The resulting RNA was resuspended in 30µl of DEPCtreated water, quantitated by spectrophotometry and analyzed on a formaldehyde-agarose gel.

#### **RNase Protection Assay**

The RNase protection assay was performed using the RiboQuant kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Pharmingen). Briefly, probes corresponding to the indicated cyclins were transcribed from each multiprobe set using T7 RNA polymerase and deoxynucleotides, including  $^{\alpha-32}$ P-labeled UTP. The labeled RNA probes were hybridized to 1µg of RNA isolated from a differentiation time course of myoblasts. Single stranded RNA was digested with RNase, and the double stranded protected fragments of RNA were separated on a 4.75% acrylamide/8M urea gel, the gel dried and exposed to X-OMAT XAR-5 (Kodak) film overnight. A sample of mouse RNA provided in the kit was included as a positive control. A sample of labeled probe not hybridized to RNA was also separated on the gel as a standard. The relative amount of radioactivity present in each band was quantitated using a Phosphorimager (Molecular Dynamics), and the values obtained for each cyclin were normalized to the value for the GAPDH control.

#### **Isolation of Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Protein**

Each 10 cm plate of myoblasts from a differentiation time course was washed twice with PBS+ (PBS containing 1mM sodium vanadate, 0.1 M sodium fluoride). The cells were scraped from the plate using 1 ml of PBS+ and transferred to an eppendorf tube. The cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 2.5 minutes at 4°C, and the supernatant was removed. The cell pellet was resuspended in 250 µl of Buffer A (10 mM Hepes [pH 7.8], 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF, 0.1% NP-40, 1 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin) and incubated on ice for 30 minutes with periodic mixing. The lysate was centrifuged at 10,000 X g for 5 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant transferred to a new tube (cytoplasmic fraction). The pellet was washed in 100 µl of Buffer A and re-centrifuged. This pellet was resuspended in 40 µl of Buffer C (20 mM Hepes [pH 7.8], 25% glycerol, 420 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin), and incubated on ice for 20 minutes with periodic vortexing. The lysate was centrifuged at 10,000 X g for 5 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant transferred to a new tube (nuclear fraction) and diluted with 60ul of Buffer D (20 mM Hepes [pH 7.8], 20% glycerol, 50 mM KCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF, 1 µg/ml each of aprotinin, leupeptin, and pepstatin). The protein concentration was determined with a Bradford assay (BioRad) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

#### **Immunoblotting and Antibodies**

Proteins were separated on 10 or 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, and transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Immobilon-P; Millipore) according to established protocols. The membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk/PBS for 1 hour at room temperature, and probed with primary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. The antibodies used were all from Santa Cruz Biotechnology: anti-cyclin D1 (C-20), anti-cyclin D2 (H-289), anti-cyclin D3 (C-16), anti-cdk4 (C-22), anti-cyclin A1 (C-19), anti-cyclin E (C-19), anti-cdk2 (H-298), anti-cyclin H (C-18), anti-cdk7 (C-19), anti-NF-kB p65 (C-20). For immunoblotting, all antibodies were used according to the manufacturer's instructions, normally at a dilution of 1:500 or 1:1000 in 5% non-fat

milk/PBS. After incubating with primary antibody, the blots were washed 3 times with PBS for 5 minutes each wash. The blots were then incubated with secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. Goat anti-mouse and goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies were used at 1:2000 (BioRad). The blots were washed 3 times with PBS for 5 minutes each wash, and the protein was detected using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL; Amersham-Pharmacia) and X-OMAT 5 x-ray film.

#### **Kinase Assay**

Each 10-cm plate from a differentiation time course of WT and  $MvoD^{-/-}$  primary myoblasts were washed twice with PBS+ and lysed with 300µl of NP-40 Lysis/IP buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.5], 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 2.5 mM EGTA, 1 mM DTT, 10% glycerol, 0.1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>VO<sub>3</sub>, 50 mM NaF, 20 mM β-glycerophosphate, 50 µg/ml PMSF, 2 µg/ml leupeptin, 1 µg/ml aprotinin, 10 µ µg/ml pepstatin). The lysates were incubated on ice for 30 minutes with periodic vortexing. The lysates were cleared by centrifugation (10,000 X g, 5 minutes, 4°C) and the protein was quantitated using a Bradford assay (BioRad). For the kinase assay, cdk2 was immunoprecipitated from 25 ug of extract using 1 ug of anti-cdk2 antibody (..., Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for 1 hour at 4°C with agitation. The cdk2-antibody complex was recovered by adding 25 µl of Protein A-Sepharose (Amersham Pharmacia) and further incubating at 4°C for 1 hour with agitation. The beads were collected by centrifugation (1000 X g, 2 minutes, 4°C), and washed three times with NP-40 Lysis/IP buffer, followed by three washes with kinase buffer (50 mM Hepes [pH 7.5], 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM MnCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM DTT, 10 mM βglycerophosphate, 1 mM sodium fluoride, 100 uM sodium vanadate). Kinase activity was assessed by incubating the immunoprecipitated cdk2 with 1 µg of histone H1 (Invitrogen) and 5  $\mu$ Ci of  $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P-ATP (Amersham Pharmacia) in kinase buffer, and incubating at 30°C for 20 minutes. The proteins were separated on a 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, stained with Coomassie Blue, destained (90% methanol, 10% acetic acid), dried, and exposed to X-OMAT XAR-5 film (Kodak).

#### FACS Analysis

A 10-cm dish each of proliferating WT and  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts was trypsinized, centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes and the cell pellets washed twice with PBS. The cells were fixed in 70% ethanol/PBS for 10 minutes on ice, centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes, and washed twice in PBS. DNA was stained with 5 µg/ml propidium iodide in PBS for 5 minutes. The stained cells were analyzed for DNA content using a fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) machine (Becton Dickinson; McMaster University Clinical Laboratory, Health Sciences Centre).

#### MyoD/Myf5 Double Knockout Fibroblasts

 $MyoD^{-/2}:Myf5^{-/2}$  embryonic fibroblasts were isolated as previously described (Perry, 2003). The cells were maintained in growth medium (DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and penicillin/streptomycin), and transfected using the calcium phosphate precipitate method as previously described (Perry et al., 2001). Briefly, 1 day prior to transfections, cells were plated at 2 X 10<sup>5</sup> cells per 10-cm dish (Falcon). Cells were incubated with the

calcium phosphate precipitate for 16 hours, washed twice with PBS and refed with growth medium (GM; DMEM + 10%FBS). 24 hours after refeeding, the cells were harvested for RNA isolation.

#### References

Adams, J. (2003). The proteasome: structure, function, and role in the cell. Cancer Treat Rev 29 Suppl 1, 3-9.

Albanese, C., Johnson, J., Watanabe, G., Eklund, N., Vu, D., Arnold, A., and Pestell, R. G. (1995). Transforming p21ras mutants and c-Ets-2 activate the cyclin D1 promoter through distinguishable regions. J Biol Chem 270, 23589-23597.

Alt, J. R., Cleveland, J. L., Hannink, M., and Diehl, J. A. (2000). Phosphorylationdependent regulation of cyclin D1 nuclear export and cyclin D1-dependent cellular transformation. Genes Dev 14, 3102-3114.

Amthor, H., Christ, B., and Patel, K. (1999). A molecular mechanism enabling continuous embryonic muscle growth - a balance between proliferation and differentiation. Development *126*, 1041-1053.

Beg, A. A., Sha, W. C., Bronson, R. T., and Baltimore, D. (1995). Constitutive NF-kappa B activation, enhanced granulopoiesis, and neonatal lethality in I kappa B alpha-deficient mice. Genes Dev 9, 2736-2746.

Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Strand, A., Perry, R. L., Rudnicki, M. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2002). Promoter-specific regulation of MyoD binding and signal transduction cooperate to pattern gene expression. Mol Cell *9*, 587-600.

Broussard, S. R., McCusker, R. H., Novakofski, J. E., Strle, K., Shen, W. H., Johnson, R. W., Freund, G. G., Dantzer, R., and Kelley, K. W. (2003). Cytokine-hormone interactions: tumor necrosis factor alpha impairs biologic activity and downstream activation signals of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor in myoblasts. Endocrinology 144, 2988-2996.

Chen, S. L., Dowhan, D. H., Hosking, B. M., and Muscat, G. E. (2000). The steroid receptor coactivator, GRIP-1, is necessary for MEF-2C-dependent gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev 14, 1209-1228.

Coolican, S. A., Samuel, D. S., Ewton, D. Z., McWade, F. J., and Florini, J. R. (1997). The mitogenic and myogenic actions of insulin-like growth factors utilize distinct signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 272, 6653-6662.

Coqueret, O. (2002). Linking cyclins to transcriptional control. Gene 299, 35-55.

Cornelison, D. D., Olwin, B. B., Rudnicki, M. A., and Wold, B. J. (2000). MyoD(-/-) satellite cells in single-fiber culture are differentiation defective and MRF4 deficient. Dev Biol 224, 122-137.

Delfini, M., Hirsinger, E., Pourquie, O., and Duprez, D. (2000). Delta 1-activated notch inhibits muscle differentiation without affecting Myf5 and Pax3 expression in chick limb myogenesis. Development 127, 5213-5224.

Deng, C., Zhang, P., Harper, J. W., Elledge, S. J., and Leder, P. (1995). Mice lacking p21CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. Cell 82, 675-684.

Diehl, J. A., Cheng, M., Roussel, M. F., and Sherr, C. J. (1998). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev 12, 3499-3511.

Endo, T., and Goto, S. (1992). Retinoblastoma gene product Rb accumulates during myogenic differentiation and is deinduced by the expression of SV40 large T antigen. J Biochem (Tokyo) 112, 427-430.

Ewton, D. Z., Coolican, S. A., Mohan, S., Chernausek, S. D., and Florini, J. R. (1998). Modulation of insulin-like growth factor actions in L6A1 myoblasts by insulin-like growth factor binding protein (IGFBP)-4 and IGFBP-5: a dual role for IGFBP-5. J Cell Physiol 177, 47-57.

Geng, Y., Eaton, E. N., Picon, M., Roberts, J. M., Lundberg, A. S., Gifford, A., Sardet, C., and Weinberg, R. A. (1996). Regulation of cyclin E transcription by E2Fs and retinoblastoma protein. Oncogene *12*, 1173-1180.

Geng, Y., Whoriskey, W., Park, M. Y., Bronson, R. T., Medema, R. H., Li, T., Weinberg, R. A., and Sicinski, P. (1999). Rescue of cyclin D1 deficiency by knockin cyclin E. Cell 97, 767-777.

Guttridge, D. C., Albanese, C., Reuther, J. Y., Pestell, R. G., and Baldwin, A. S., Jr. (1999a). NF-kappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 5785-5799.

Guttridge, D. C., Albanese, C., Reuther, J. Y., Pestell, R. G., and Baldwin, A. S. J. (1999b). NF-kappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 5785-5799.

Halevy, O., Novitch, B. G., Spicer, D. B., Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Hannon, G. J., Beach, D., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Correlation of terminal cell cycle arrest of skeletal muscle with induction of p21 by MyoD. Science 267, 1018-1021.

Harbour, J. W., Luo, R. X., Dei Santi, A., Postigo, A. A., and Dean, D. C. (1999). Cdk phosphorylation triggers sequential intramolecular interactions that progressively block Rb functions as cells move through G1. Cell *98*, 859-869.

Hinz, M., Loser, P., Mathas, S., Krappmann, D., Dorken, B., and Scheidereit, C. (2001). Constitutive NF-kappaB maintains high expression of a characteristic gene network, including CD40, CD86, and a set of antiapoptotic genes in Hodgkin/Reed-Sternberg cells. Blood *97*, 2798-2807.

Israel, A. (2000). The IKK complex: an integrator of all signals that activate NF- $\kappa$ B? Trends in Cell Biology *10*, 129-133.

Kitzmann, M., and Fernandez, A. (2001). Crosstalk between cell cycle regulators and the myogenic factor MyoD in skeletal myoblasts. Cell Mol Life Sci 58, 571-579.

Ladner, K. J., Caligiuri, M. A., and Guttridge, D. C. (2003). Tumor necrosis factorregulated biphasic activation of NF-kappa B is required for cytokine-induced loss of skeletal muscle gene products. J Biol Chem 278, 2294-2303.

Lazaro, J. B., Bailey, P. J., and Lassar, A. B. (2002). Cyclin D-cdk4 activity modulates the subnuclear localization and interaction of MEF2 with SRC-family coactivators during skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev *16*, 1792-1805.

Liou, H. C., and Hsia, C. Y. (2003). Distinctions between c-Rel and other NF-kappaB proteins in immunity and disease. Bioessays 25, 767-780.

Meadows, K. A., Holly, J. M., and Stewart, C. E. (2000). Tumor necrosis factor-alphainduced apoptosis is associated with suppression of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-5 secretion in differentiating murine skeletal myoblasts. J Cell Physiol *183*, 330-337.

Megeney, L. A., Kablar, B., Garrett, K., Anderson, J. E., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1996). MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev 10, 1173-1183.

Mitin, N., Kudla, A. J., Konieczny, S. F., and Taparowsky, E. J. (2001). Differential effects of Ras signaling through NFkappaB on skeletal myogenesis. Oncogene 20, 1276-1286.

Montarras, D., Lindon, C., Pinset, C., and Domeyne, P. (2000). Cultured myf5 null and myoD null muscle precursor cells display distinct growth defects. Biol Cell 92, 565-572.

Parker, M. H., Seale, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2003). Looking back to the embryo: defining transcriptional networks in adult myogenesis. Nature Reviews Genetics 4, 497-507.

Parker, S. B., Eichele, G., Zhang, P., Rawls, A., Sands, A. T., Bradley, A., Olson, E. N., Harper, J. W., and Elledge, S. J. (1995). p53-independent expression of p21Cip1 in muscle and other terminally differentiating cells. Science 267, 1024-1027.

Perry, R. L., Parker, M. H., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2001). Activated MEK1 binds the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex to repress transactivation. Mol Cell 8, 291-301.

Perry, R. L., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2000). Molecular mechanisms regulating myogenic determination and differentiation. Front Biosci 5, D750-767.

Perry, R. L. S. (2003) Requirement of MyoD for myogenic lineage maintenance and regulation of skeletal muscle terminal differentiation by the MAPK signaling pathway, Ph.D., McMaster University, Hamilton.

Puri, P. L., and Sartorelli, V. (2000). Regulation of muscle regulatory factors by DNAbinding, interacting proteins, and post-transcriptional modifications. J Cell Physiol 185, 155-173.

Rao, S. S., and Kohtz, D. S. (1995). Positive and negative regulation of D-type cyclin expression in skeletal myoblasts by basic fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factor beta. A role for cyclin D1 in control of myoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem 270, 4093-4100.

Rousse, S., Lallemand, F., Montarras, D., Pinset, C., Mazars, A., Prunier, C., Atfi, A., and Dubois, C. (2001). Transforming growth factor-beta inhibition of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-5 synthesis in skeletal muscle cells involves a c-Jun N-terminal kinase-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 276, 46961-46967.

Rudnicki, M. A., Schnegelsberg, P. N., Stead, R. H., Braun, T., Arnold, H. H., and Jaenisch, R. (1993). MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell 75, 1351-1359.

Russell, A., Thompson, M. A., Hendley, J., Trute, L., Armes, J., and Germain, D. (1999). Cyclin D1 and D3 associate with the SCF complex and are coordinately elevated in breast cancer. Oncogene 18, 1983-1991.

Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Seale, P., Asakura, A., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1999). Reduced differentiation potential of primary MyoD-/- myogenic cells derived from adult skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 144, 631-643.

Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Kim, P. S., Novitch, B. G., and Lassar, A. B. (1996). Cyclinmediated inhibition of muscle gene expression via a mechanism that is independent of pRB hyperphosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 7043-7053. Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Spicer, D. B., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Inhibition of myogenic differentiation in proliferating myoblasts by cyclin D1-dependent kinase. Science 267, 1022-1024.

Tajbakhsh, S., Bober, E., Babinet, C., Pournin, S., Arnold, H., and Buckingham, M. (1996). Gene targeting the myf-5 locus with nlacZ reveals expression of this myogenic factor in mature skeletal muscle fibres as well as early embryonic muscle. Dev Dyn 206, 291-300.

Tureckova, J., Wilson, E. M., Cappalonga, J. L., and Rotwein, P. (2001). Insulin-like growth factor-mediated muscle differentiation: collaboration between phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt-signaling pathways and myogenin. J Biol Chem 276, 39264-39270.

Wei, Q., and Paterson, B. M. (2001). Regulation of MyoD function in the dividing myoblast. FEBS Lett 490, 171-178.

Yablonka-Reuveni, Z., Rudnicki, M. A., Rivera, A. J., Primig, M., Anderson, J. E., and Natanson, P. (1999). The transition from proliferation to differentiation is delayed in satellite cells from mice lacking MyoD. Dev Biol *210*, 440-455.

Yamamoto, Y., and Gaynor, R. B. (2004). IkappaB kinases: key regulators of the NF-kappaB pathway. Trends Biochem Sci 29, 72-79.

Yu, Z. K., Gervais, J. L., and Zhang, H. (1998). Human CUL-1 associates with the SKP1/SKP2 complex and regulates p21(CIP1/WAF1) and cyclin D proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 11324-11329.

Zhang, P., Wong, C., Liu, D., Finegold, M., Harper, J. W., and Elledge, S. J. (1999). p21(CIP1) and p57(KIP2) control muscle differentiation at the myogenin step. Genes and Development 13, 213-224.

#### **Preface to Chapter 4**

pRb plays an important role in establishing terminal differentiation in skeletal muscle by preventing apoptosis and S-phase entry after initiation of differentiation. Moreover, pRb is essential for MyoD transcriptional activity and muscle-specific gene expression. *In vivo*, it has been technically difficult separating cell cycle and survival effects from muscle-specific gene expression. To specifically address myogenic gene activation, an activated hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb, pRb $\Delta$ p34, in which 8 cdk phosphor-acceptor sites were mutated, was expressed in C12C12 myoblasts and 10T½ fibroblasts co-expressing MyoD. This mutant mimics the form of pRb present during differentiation. This work established that pRb activates MyoD by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition, and therefore pRb plays an important role during the switch from proliferation to differentiation. I performed all of the experiments, constructed the figures and wrote the manuscript. In addition, I participated in a collaboration with Michael Huh, addressing the role of pRb *in vivo*, by looking at a muscle-specific knock-out of Rb and the resulting myoblasts. This work has been submitted to the Journal of Cell Science and is in review (Huh et al., 2004).

## Activated pRb increases MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition

Maura H. Parker<sup>1,2</sup> and Michael A. Rudnicki<sup>2,3</sup>

- 1 Faculty of Health Sciences Graduate Programme McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario
- 2 Ottawa Health Research Institute Molecular Medicine Program Ottawa, Ontario
- 3 Corresponding author: Ottawa Health Research Institute, 501 Smyth Rd, Ottawa, ON, Canada, K1H 8L6; Ph: 613-739-6740; Fax: 613-737-8803; e-mail: mrudnicki@ohri.ca

#### Abstract

In order to establish terminal myogenic differentiation, myoblasts must irreversibly withdraw from the cell cycle. Expression of the cell cycle regulator pRb increases upon initiation of differentiation, and is progressively dephosphorylated. However, the role of pRb in myogenic differentiation does not involve cell cycle regulation, but rather the activation of myogenic gene expression. pRb increased MLC enhancer activity, and activated a more rapid induction of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) expression. The increase in MyoD activity did not involve the N- or C-terminus in isolation, suggesting pRb targets the bHLH domain. However, an activated mutant of pRb was able to rescue cdk4-mediated inhibition of MyoD, which involves an 18-bp portion of the MyoD C-terminus. Therefore, pRb augments MyoD transcriptional activity by regulating the switch from a proliferation-specific to a differentiation-specific complex.

#### Introduction

The pRb-family, consisting of pRb, p107, and p130, is a group of nuclear phosphoproteins important in cell cycle regulation and cellular differentiation. The ability to control the cell cycle is mediated mainly by the interaction of hypophosphorylated pRb-family members with the E2F family of transcription factors. Cyclin D/cdk4, cyclin E/cdk2, and cyclin A/cdk2 complexes sequentially phosphorylate the pRb family during G1 and S-phase, disrupting the interaction with E2F factors, and stimulating activation of E2F-specific genes (Coqueret, 2002; Murray, 2004).

The mammalian genome encodes at least six E2F proteins that differ in transcriptional activity and pRb-family member preference. The binding of pRb-family members interferes with the ability of E2F factors to form complexes with members of the basal transcriptional machinery, such as TBP and TFIIB, thus inhibiting transcriptional activation (De Luca et al., 1998; Hagemeier et al., 1993; Kim et al., 1994; Pearson and Greenblatt, 1997). In addition, pRb has been shown to actively repress transcription through the recruitment of histone deacetylases (HDACs), Swi/Snf chromatin remodeling complexes, and histone methylases (Coqueret, 2002; Stevaux and Dyson, 2002).

pRb has been suggested to play its most significant role in ensuring that cells progress through the restriction point (R) in the first gap phase (G1) of the cell cycle and enter into the DNA-synthesis phase (S). Once past the restriction point, cells will continue through one more cell cycle, until the next G1 phase is reached. *In vitro*, myoblasts are induced to differentiate under low serum conditions, forcing the cells to exit the cell cycle from the G1 phase, prior to the restriction point. Once differentiation has been established, myoblasts are unable to re-enter the cell cycle, even upon serum restimulation. These myoblasts/myotubes are described as terminally differentiated. Since pRb plays an essential role in regulating passage through the restriction point, it has been postulated that the pRb family plays an important role in establishing the terminally differentiated state.

The level of *Rb* mRNA and protein increases during differentiation of C2C12 myoblasts (Corbeil et al., 1995; Endo and Goto, 1992). MyoD stimulates transcriptional activation of the *Rb* promoter, yet the mechanism by which this occurs is indirect (Bergstrom et al., 2002; Magenta et al., 2003; Martelli et al., 1994). Proliferating myoblasts predominantly maintain E2F in an uncomplexed form, or as a complex with p107, and to a lesser extent, complexed with p130. Interestingly, pRb-E2F complexes are conspicuously absent. By contrast, p130-E2F complexes predominate during muscle differentiation, while p107-E2F complexes disappear and pRb-E2F complexes remain absent. This indicates that during myogenic differentiation pRb plays a role distinct from the traditional repression of E2F transcriptional activity.

Studies using MyoD-converted *Rb*-null embryonic fibroblasts have shown that although p107 protein levels are increased in these cells, pRb is essential for both MyoD and MEF2 transcriptional activity, as well as maintaining the terminal differentiated state (Novitch et al., 1996; Novitch et al., 1999; Schneider et al., 1994). Although *Rb*-null fibroblasts expressing MyoD become myogenic and express early muscle markers, such as myogenin, expression of late markers, such as myosin heavy chain, is reduced. In addition, serum restimulation of these differentiated *Rb*-null myoblasts results in bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation and thus, S-phase entry and DNA synthesis.

In order to discriminate between the role of pRb in cell cycle and myogenic gene expression, a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb was expressed and its effects on MyoD activity and myogenic differentiation were assessed. We demonstrate that pRb increased MyoD transcriptional activity by specifically rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition.

#### Results

### pRb regulated activity of the MLC enhancer during the initial stages of differentiation

To investigate the role of pRb in MRF activation and differentiation, C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with a myosin light chain enhancer reporter construct (MLCLuc), and either a plasmid expressing wildtype mouse pRb (pRb), a hypophosphorylated mutant of mouse pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), or empty vector as control. A similar transfection was performed with a Gal4-MLCLuc reporter vector, in which five repeats of the Gal4 DNA binding site were inserted upstream of the MLC enhancer. For these transfections, Gal4-pRb or Gal4-pRb $\Delta$ p34 vectors, in which the Gal4 DNA binding domain was fused to the N-terminus of both the mouse pRb and the pRb $\Delta$ p34 sequence, were co-transfected with the Gal-MLCLuc.

In proliferating C2C12 myoblasts, pRb activated the MLC enhancer 5-fold above the control, and a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34) increased the activity 12-fold. In addition to demonstrating the importance of pRb in muscle gene activation, this data indicates that the phosphorylation status of pRb is important for this phenomenon. Thus, the interaction of pRb with another protein may be involved in the mechanism. This is not likely to involve a direct pRb-MyoD interaction for two reasons. First, increasing the probability of this interaction by using the Gal4-MLCLuc and Gal4 fusions of pRb did not augment MyoD activity to any significant degree (Figure 1A). In fact, the ability of Gal4-pRb to enhance activation of the Gal4-MLCLuc reporter was reduced 2.5-fold, and reduced 4-fold in the presence of pRb $\Delta$ p34. Second, Zhang and colleagues, investigating the effect of cdk4 on MyoD activity, demonstrate no direct interaction between MyoD and pRb by means of a mammalian 2-hybrid assay (Zhang et al., 1999a; Zhang et al., 1999b). Therefore, the ability of pRb to stimulate MyoD activity is not likely the result of a direct effect.

In differentiating C2C12 myoblasts (Fig. 1B), pRb and pRb $\Delta$ p34 did not significantly affect activation of the MLC enhancer, indicating that pRb plays a role early in differentiation, likely during the coupling of cell cycle withdrawal and initiation of differentiation. To determine if pRb-enhanced MLC enhancer activity is directed to MyoD specifically, 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts were transfected with MyoD, MLCLuc, and either pRb, pRb $\Delta$ p34, or empty vector. In proliferation medium (Fig 2A), pRb increased MyoD activity on the MLC enhancer approximately 2-fold, but a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34) increased MyoD activity 5-fold. Therefore, the increase in activation of the MLC enhancer in C2C12 myoblasts is at least in part due to the stimulation of MyoD activity.

Moreover, in differentiation medium (Figure 2.2B), both pRb and pRb $\Delta$ p34 inhibited MyoD activity on the MLC-Luc reporter approximately 4-fold. Under low mitogen conditions, the effect is not dependent upon pRb phosphorylation status since wild type pRb is no longer phosphorylated due to a normal loss of cdk activity. Transfection of either Gal4-pRb or Gal4-pRb $\Delta$ p34 inhibited MyoD activation of a Gal4-

#### Figure 1. pRb induced MRF transcriptional activity in proliferating conditions.

Proliferating C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with MLCLuc or Gal4-MLCLuc reporter plasmid, and either empty control vectors or plasmids encoding mouse pRb, a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), or fusions of pRb with the Gal4 DNAbinding domain. For proliferation (A), the cells were maintained in growth medium (GM; DMEM & 10% FCS) and harvested 36 hours after transfection. For differentiation (B), the cells were transferred to differentiation medium (DM; DMEM & 2% HS) 36 hours after transfection, and maintained for 48 hours prior to harvest. The luciferase assay values were normalized to protein concentration, and the activity of the MLCLuc and Gal4-MLCLuc reporter vector alone was set to 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent the standard deviation ( $\pm$ SD; n=9).

Figure 1.



#### Figure 2. pRb induced MyoD transcriptional activity in proliferating conditions.

Proliferating 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts were transfected with MLCLuc or Gal4-MLCLuc reporter plasmid, MyoD, and either empty control vectors or plasmids encoding mouse pRb, a hypo-phosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), or fusions of pRb with the Gal4 DNA-binding domain. For proliferation (A), the cells were maintained in growth medium (GM; DMEM & 10% FCS) and harvested 36 hours after transfection. For differentiation (B), the cells were transferred to differentiation medium (DM; DMEM & 2% HS) 36 hours after transfection, and maintained for 48 hours prior to harvest. The luciferase assay values were normalized to protein concentration, and the activity of the MLCLuc and Gal4-MLCLuc reporter vector alone was set to 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent the standard deviation (±SD; n=9).

Figure 2.



MLCLuc

Gal4-MLCLuc

MLCLuc reporter construct, further supporting the hypothesis that pRb does not interact with MyoD in order to augment transcriptional activity.

#### pRb regulated MyoD transcriptional activity independently of the N- and Cterminal domains

To further investigate the role of pRb in differentiation, 10T1/2 cells were transfected with MyoD alone or MyoD and pRb, and the extent of differentiation was assessed by scoring the number of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) positive nuclei per 1000 nuclei.  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts transfected with MyoD and pRb exhibited a 2-fold increase in the number of MyHC positive nuclei, as compared to cells transfected with MyoD alone, consistent with the increase in MyoD activity on the MLC enhancer (Figure 3A).

C2C12 cells transfected with pRb displayed approximately 3-fold more MyHCpositive nuclei after 24 hours in differentiation medium, as compared to control cells (Figure 3B). The effect of pRb on MyHC expression was only apparent during the first 24 hours of differentiation, since at the 48-hour time point and beyond, there was no difference in the number of MyHC positive nuclei as compared with the control. Taken together, this indicates that pRb accelerates differentiation, likely through an indirect stimulation of MyoD activity.

In order to address which domain of MyoD is affected by the presence of pRb, Gal4 fusions of the N-terminus (Gal4-MyoD<sup>1-99</sup>) and C-terminus (Gal4-MyoD<sup>174-318</sup>) of MyoD were transfected into  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts with a Gal4-luciferase reporter (Gal4-Luc). The N-terminus of MyoD (amino acids 1-99) contains the transactivation domain and a protein-protein interaction domain implicated in chromatin-remodeling. The C-terminus (amino acids 174-318) also contains a chromatin-remodeling domain and has transcriptional activity. Neither pRb nor pRb $\Delta$ p34 altered the activity of Gal4-MyoD<sup>1-99</sup> or Gal4-MyoD<sup>174-318</sup> on a Gal4-Luc reporter. This suggests that pRb affects the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) domain, responsible for DNA-binding, heterodimerization and other important protein-protein interactions.

#### Activated pRb rescued cdk4-mediated inhibition of MyoD

Cdk4 interacts with an 18-bp region of the C-terminus of MyoD (Zhang et al., 1999a; Zhang et al., 1999b). This interaction inhibits MyoD DNA binding and is independent of cdk activity. Indeed, both cdk4 and dominant negative cdk4 (DNcdk4), inhibited MyoD activity on the MLC enhancer in proliferating conditions. Co-expression of a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (mpRb $\Delta$ p34) rescued this inhibition, yet wildtype pRb had little or no effect.

To determine if a kinase-activating cyclin of cdk4 is able to alter inhibition of MyoD by cdk4, cyclin D1 was cotransfected with cdk4 and MLCLuc into C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 6). Cyclin D1 enhanced cdk4 inhibition of MLC enhancer activity. Moreover, expression of cyclin D1, together with cdk4, inhibited the ability of mpRb $\Delta$ p34 to rescue the cdk4-mediated inhibition (Figure 6).

#### Figure 3. pRb accelerated expression of MyHC in C2C12 myoblasts and MyoDconverted 10T1/2 fibroblasts.

(A) Proliferating  $10T\frac{1}{2}$  fibroblasts were transfected with MyoD alone, MyoD and pRb, or empty vector as a control. The cells were transferred to differentiation medium 36 hours after transfection, and cultured for the indicated times. Expression of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) was monitored, and the numbers represent the average number of MyHC positive nuclei per 1000 nuclei. (±SD; n=3). The control plates were negative for MyHC expression (data not shown).

(B) Proliferating C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with Rb, or empty vector as a control. The cells were transferred to differentiation medium 36 hours after transfection, and cultured for the indicated times. Expression of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) was monitored, and the numbers represent the average number of MyHC positive nuclei per 1000 nuclei. ( $\pm$ SD; n=3).

## Figure 3.

### A 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> cells

	MyoD	control	MyoĐ	& Rb
24 hours	12.0 ±	3.4	29.5±	6.5
48 hours	34.6 ±	10.0	94.9 ±	17.0
72 hours	63.6 <u>+</u>	7.8	119.3	: 15.1
96 hours	107.9 -	<b>± 8.5</b>	220.1 -	27.6

### B C2C12 cells

	control	Rb
24 hours 48 hours 72 hours 96 hours	$10.0 \pm 2.5 \\ 32.5 \pm 6.1 \\ 176.0 \pm 26.6 \\ 159.9 \pm 22.1$	$37.7 \pm 6.1 \\ 45.8 \pm 7.7 \\ 164.5 \pm 21.8 \\ 151.1 \pm 26.8$
## Figure 4. pRb did not affect the activity of the MyoD N- or C-terminus.

Proliferating 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts were transfected with the Gal4-Luc reporter and plasmid encoding either the N-terminus of MyoD (Gal4-MyoD<sup>1-99</sup>) or the C-terminus of MyoD (Gal4-MyoD<sup>174-318</sup>) fused to the Gal4 DNA-binding domain, in addition to plasmids encoding mouse pRb or a hypo-phosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34). The cells were harvested 36 hours after transfection and luciferase activity was assayed. The luciferase assay values were normalized to protein concentration, and the activity of the Gal4-Luc reporter vector alone was set to 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent the standard deviation (±SD; n=9).

Figure 4.



# Figure 5. A hypophosphorylated pRb mutant rescued cdk4 inhibition of MRF activity.

Proliferating C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with MLCLuc and either empty control vector or plasmid encoding cyclin dependent kinase 4 (cdk4), or dominant-negative cdk4 (DNcdk4). These cells were also co-transfected with either control vector, or plasmid encoding pRb or pRb $\Delta$ p34. The cells were harvested 36 hours after transfection, and luciferase activity was assayed. The luciferase assay values were normalized using the protein concentration, and the activity of the MLCLuc reporter vector alone was set to 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent standard deviation (±SD; n=9).

Figure 5.



## Figure 6. A hypophosphorylated pRb mutant was unable to rescue cdk4 inhibition of MRF activity when cyclin D1 is co-expressed.

Proliferating C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with MLCLuc, and plasmids encoding cyclin dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) and cyclin D1. These cells were also co-transfected with either control vector, or plasmid encoding pRb or pRb $\Delta$ p34. The cells were harvested 36 hours after transfection, and luciferase activity was assayed. The luciferase assay values were normalized using the protein concentration, and the activity of the MLCLuc reporter vector alone was set to 1. The bars represent the mean fold activation and the error bars represent standard deviation (±SD; n=9).

Figure 6.



cdk4 + cyclin D1

## Discussion

Mice lacking Rb die during embryonic development and display defects in erythroid differentiation, as well as massive cell death in the peripheral and central nervous system (PNS and CNS) (Clarke et al., 1992; Jacks et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1992). Transgenic expression of low levels of Rb permits  $Rb^{-/-}$  embryos to survive until birth ( $mgRb:Rb^{-/-}$ ); however, the pups die soon after of skeletal muscle defects (Zacksenhaus et al., 1996). Increased cell death, in addition to smaller muscle fibers, reduced expression of muscle-specific genes, and ectopic S-phase entry characterize the abnormal muscle. Supplementing  $Rb^{-/-}$  embryos with wildtype extraembryonic cells rescues the defect in erythroid differentiation, and enhances survival in the PNS and CNS, yet does not prevent endoreduplication (de Bruin et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2003). Importantly, skeletal muscle continues to exhibit severe defects, and the mice die shortly after birth due to diaphragm failure.

MyoD-expressing embryonic fibroblasts (EFs) lacking Rb are able to activate early differentiation markers, such as myogenin, but expression of late markers, such as MLC and MyHC, is abrogated (Novitch et al., 1996). In addition, the activity of musclespecific reporter genes is severely reduced, illustrating the importance of pRb in myogenic gene expression. These cells fail to exit the cell cycle, are able to enter into Sphase even after induction of differentiation, but are unable to progress through mitosis. Thus, it was postulated that pRb was required for expression of late muscle markers and maintenance of the terminally differentiated state. Yet, the question remained: Is the lack of myogenic differentiation the result of the inability to exit the cell cycle?

Ectopic expression of pRb in C2C12 myoblasts accelerated expression of myosin heavy chain (MyHC) during initiation of differentiation, and doubled the number of MyHC-positive 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts co-expressing MyoD (Figure 3). This is most likely due to enhanced transcriptional activation of myogenic genes. Indeed, pRb enhanced activity of the myosin light chain (MLC) enhancer in C2C12 myoblasts and 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts expressing MyoD, without altering survival or transfection efficiency (Figure 1 and Figure 2, data not shown). Moreover, pRb was unable to enhance the activity of Gal4 DNA binding domain fusions with the N- or C-terminus of MyoD (Figure 4), suggesting that pRb targets the basic helix loop helix domain, and functions to enhance DNA binding or dimerization of MyoD with HEB.

A muscle-specific knockout of *Rb*, in which pRb expression is lost prior to differentiation (*Rbflox:Myf5-Cre*), recapitulates the muscle defects seen in other *Rb*-null mice (Huh et al., 2004). However, loss of pRb expression after onset of differentiation (*Rbflox:MCK-Cre*) results in mice with apparently normal muscle development and differentiation. Moreover, differentiated *Rbflox:MCK-Cre* satellite cell-derived myoblasts are unable to re-enter S-phase upon serum restimulation. Therefore, pRb is dispensible for maintenance of the terminally differentiated state once that state has been established.

#### Figure 7. Model of pRb activation of muscle-specific gene expression.

During proliferation, growth factors activate expression of cyclin D1, and maintain pRb in an inactive, phosphorylated state. Cyclin D1 prevents binding of Mef2 to its cofactor, GRIP-1, inhibiting Mef2 transcriptional activity. Moreover, MyoD interacts with cdk4, which precludes binding of MyoD to DNA. Together, this prevents activation of muscle-specific gene expression. Upon initiation of differentiation, pRb is progressively dephosphorylated, and hypophosphorylated pRb negatively regulates p21<sup>ras</sup> activation. In turn, cyclin D1 expression is inhibited, and Mef2 is able to interact with GRIP-1. Furthermore, hypophosphorylated pRb disrupts the MyoD-cdk4 interaction, allowing MyoD to bind DNA. Together, MyoD and Mef2 activate expression of muscle-specific genes.





pRb regulates S-phase entry by inhibiting E2F-mediated gene expression, until phosphorylation of pRb releases E2F, allowing E2F to be transcriptionally active. C2C12 myoblasts ectopically expressing E2F1 are able to induce differentiation, but synthesize DNA and express cyclin A upon serum restimulation (Chen and Lee, 1999). Mice lacking both *Rb* and *E2F1* continue to display defects in myogenic differentiation, despite a reduction in apoptosis and S-phase entry in other tissues (Tsai et al., 1998). Taken together, this indicates that loss of pRb expression does not inhibit skeletal muscle differentiation by inducing cell cycle progression mediated by unregulated E2F1. However, other E2F family members may be compensating for the loss of E2F1, or may play a more important role in cell cycle progression in myoblasts.

Expression of an N-terminal deletion of pRb ( $Rb^{\Delta 195-224}$ ) in *Rb*-null mice is unable to rescue the defect in skeletal muscle differentiation (Riley et al., 1997). This deletion encompasses a region outside of the pocket domain, and therefore this mutant is able to bind E2Fs and cyclins. Furthermore, mutations in the pocket domain, rendering pRb incapable of binding E2Fs, are able to cooperate with MyoD to activate the MCK enhancer and induce differentiation (Sellers et al., 1998). Therefore, pRb does not promote myogenic differentiation by inhibiting E2F activity and inducing cell cycle arrest.

pRb also interacts with Id2, a helix-loop-helix (HLH)-containing protein that lacks a basic domain, and inhibits transcriptional activity of the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) and E-proteins (Benezra et al., 1990; Langlands et al., 1997; Lasorella et al., 2000; Peverali et al., 1994). If the interaction of pRb and Id2 dissociates the Id-MRF complex, then loss of Id2 expression should rescue the defects in myogenic differentiation in  $Rb^{-/-}$  mice. However, loss of *Id2* has no effect on myogenic differentiation, clearly indicating that the defects in  $Rb^{-/-}$  skeletal muscle cannot be ameliorated by removing functional Id2.

 $Rb^{-2}$  embryonic fibroblasts (EFs) exhibit elevated levels of activated N- and K-Ras during the G1 phase of the cell cycle (Lee et al., 1999). This overstimulation of Ras can be rescued by ectopic expression of pRb, and recapitulated in WT cells expressing SV40 large T antigen (SVLT). Importantly, expression of dominant-negative Ras (Ras<sup>N17</sup>) in  $Rb^{-/-}$  EFs enhances MyoD activity on the muscle creatine kinase (MCKLuc) reporter and induces expression of myosin heavy chain (MyHC). This demonstrates that there is functional equivalency between introduction of Ras<sup>N17</sup> and pRb with regards to muscle gene expression.

Mice lacking Rb and N-ras survive until between day 16.5 and 17.5 of embryonic development (E16.6 – E17.5), and the embryos appear normal, albeit smaller, until E15.5 (Takahashi et al., 2003). An examination of axial muscle at E14.5 reveals that concomitant loss of N-ras prevents the reduction in muscle fiber density and the abnormal myotube formation seen in the absence of Rb. Moreover, activity of the MCKLuc reporter and a MEF2-specific reporter is rescued. However, ectopic DNA synthesis and apoptosis persist. This clearly demonstrates that the role of Rb in myogenic differentiation is mediated by two pathways: (1) regulation of ras activation, which controls muscle

specific gene expression, and (2) regulation of S-phase entry, presumably through regulation of the E2F family members.

Activated Ras induces expression of cyclin D1 (Albanese et al., 1995; Filmus et al., 1994; Winston et al., 1996). In myoblasts, activation of the Ras-MAP kinase pathway by basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) specifically upregulates cyclin D1 and inhibits myogenic differentiation (Rao and Kohtz, 1995). Ectopic expression of cyclin D1 inhibits activation of an E-box reporter by MyoD and myogenin (Skapek et al., 1995). A mutant of cyclin D1, unable to bind pRb, is nonetheless able to inhibit MyoD transcriptional activity, indicating that cyclin D1-mediated inhibition of muscle specific gene expression is independent of pRb (Skapek et al., 1996).

Cyclin D1 interacts with p/CAF, and is able to regulate the activity of the androgen receptor (Reutens et al., 2001). It is possible that cyclin D1 prevents the interaction of p/CAF with MyoD, thereby inhibiting MyoD acetylation, which is necessary for MyoD activation (Sartorelli et al., 1999). Moreover, histone deacteylase 1 (HDAC1) interacts with MyoD in proliferating cells, resulting in both the deacetylation of MyoD and inhibition of MyoD transcriptional activity (Mal et al., 2001). A hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), which occurs naturally in low serum conditions, interacts with HDAC1, disrupting the MyoD-HDAC1 complex, thereby activating MyoD (Puri et al., 2001).

However,  $Rb^{N757F}$ , which can bind E2F, but cannot interact with HDAC1, is able to cooperate with MyoD to stimulate muscle-specific gene activation and myogenic differentiation in  $Rb^{-/-}$  EFs (Chen and Wang, 2000). Nevertheless, this mutant is unable to establish permanent growth arrest, given that serum restimulation induces phosphorylation of this pRb mutant and initiates S-phase entry in MyHC-positive cells. Therefore, this data questions the ability of pRb to enhance muscle-specific gene expression and myogenic differentiation by disrupting HDAC1-MyoD complexes. Moreover, HRDP an inhibitor of HDACs, which binds HDAC1 and HDAC3, is highly expressed in skeletal muscle, and expression increases as differentiation proceeds, providing an alternative mechanism for overcoming HDAC-mediated inhibition of MyoD activity (Zhou et al., 2000). Yet, the mechanism by which pRb is able to activate MyoD transcriptional activity is not apparent.

Cyclin D1 forms a complex with cdk4, the activity of which is required for activation of cyclin E expression. Cdk4 inhibits MyoD transcriptional activity by preventing binding to DNA, independently of kinase activity (Zhang et al., 1999a; Zhang et al., 1999b). Indeed, both cdk4 and a dominant negative cdk4 (DNcdk4), lacking kinase activity, inhibited MyoD activity on the MLC enhancer in proliferating conditions (Figure 5). Co-expression of a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (mpRb $\Delta$ p34) rescued this inhibition, yet wildtype pRb had little or no effect, suggesting that a hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb binds cdk4, disrupting the MyoD-cdk4 interaction, allowing MyoD to activate transcription.

Expression of cyclin D1 together with cdk4 inhibited the ability of mpRb $\Delta$ p34 to rescue the cdk4-mediated inhibition (Figure 6). Cyclin D1/cdk4 activity blocks the nuclear sub-localization of MEF2C and GRIP-1, a steroid receptor coactivator (SRC), necessary for muscle-specific gene expression (Lazaro et al., 2002). GRIP-1 interacts

with both MEF2C and myogenin and mediates synergistic transactivation of myogenic promoters (Chen et al., 2000). Specifically, MEF2 transcriptional activity is required for activation of the MLC enhancer (Esser et al., 1999; McGrew et al., 1996; Zetser et al., 1999). Moreover, in the absence of Rb, MyoD is able to induce nuclear localization of MEF2, which is able to bind DNA, but is functionally inactive (Novitch et al., 1999). Although the mechanism by which pRb activates MEF2 in unknown, the importance of pRb in muscle-specific gene expression is indisputable. Yet, cyclin D/cdk4 inhibition of MEF2 activity is unable to be overcome in the presence of an activated form of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), indicating a specific role for pRb in regulating MyoD activity.

Therefore, pRb plays an important role in myogenic differentiation and musclespecific gene expression exclusive of cell cycle withdrawal. pRb negatively regulates Ras activation, resulting in downregulation of cyclin D1. Cyclin D1 inhibits muscle-specific gene expression, in part by inhibiting formation of an active MEF2 transcriptional complex. An activated form of pRb is unable to rescue cyclin D-mediated inhibition of myogenic transcriptional activation, suggesting the two molecules function independently. However, activated pRb is able to disrupt the cdk4-MyoD complex, allowing MyoD to bind DNA and activate transcription.

## Materials and Methods

#### **Cell Culture and Transfections**

C3H10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> fibroblasts (ATCC; CCL-226) and C2C12 myoblasts (ATCC; CRL-1772) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM; Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gemini Bioscience) and 0.1 units/ml of penicillin and 0.1 µg/ml of streptomycin (Invitrogen; 1X). Transfections were performed using the calcium phosphate method as previously described (Perry et al., 2001). Briefly, 1 day prior to transfections, cells were plated at 3.5 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells per 60-mm dish (Falcon) for 10T<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> cells, or 2.5 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells per 60-mm dish for C2C12 cells. Cells were incubated with the calcium phosphate precipitate for 16 hours, washed twice with PBS and refed with growth medium (GM; DMEM + 10%FBS). 24 hours after refeeding, cells were either harvested (GM), or washed once with PBS and refed with differentiation medium and cultured for an additional 48 hours (DM; DMEM + 2% horse serum (Invitrogen) and penicillin/streptomycin). Transfections were assayed for efficiency by inclusion of a plasmid expressing either β-gal or GFP.

#### Plasmids

The plasmids expressing MyoD was constructed in pEMSV as previously described (Davis et al., 1987). Expression plasmids encoding Gal4-MyoD<sup>1-99</sup> and Gal4-MyoD<sup>174-318</sup> were constructed as previously described (Perry et al., 2001). Expression plasmids encoding murine pRb, Gal4-pRb, the hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), and Gal4-pRb $\Delta$ p34 were kind gifts of Paul Hamel (University of Toronto). Expression vectors encoding cdk4, dominant negative cdk4 (dNcdk4), and cyclin D1 were kind gifts of Peter Whyte (McMaster University, Hamilton). The BamH1 fragment from MLC-CAT (Donoghue et al., 1988), representing the rat myosin light chain 1/3 enhancer, was cloned into the BgIII site of the pGL3 Promoter reporter vector (Promega) to give MLCLuc. Five repeats of the cognate Gal4 binding sequence were cloned into the XbaI site of pGL3 to give Gal4Luc, and also cloned into the MLC-Luc to give Gal4-MLCLuc. Vectors lacking cDNA inserts or promoter elements were used as controls in the transfections.

#### **Reporter Assays**

Transfected cells were washed twice with PBS and scraped with 1X Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega). The cells were incubated on ice for 30 minutes with periodic vortexing, followed by one round of freeze-thaw lysis. The extracts were centrifuged and the supernatant transferred to a new tube. Luciferase activity was assayed using 10-15  $\mu$ l of extract and the Luciferase Assay System (Promega). Protein concentration was determined using the modified Bradford assay (BioRad), and the relative light units (RLUs) from the luciferase assay were normalized using protein concentration. Fold activity was determined by setting the relative light units (RLUs) for the reporter vector alone sample as 1.

#### Immunocytochemistry

Cells were fixed with ice-cold 90% methanol for 10 minutes at -20°C. The cells were washed three times with PBS, and blocked in 5% non-fat milk/PBS for one hour, followed by incubation for one hour with primary antibody (MF20 [anti-myosin heavy chain]; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank; 1:10 in 5% non-fat milk/PBS). The cells were then washed three times in PBS, and incubated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody (BioRad; 1:1000 in 5% non-fat milk/PBS) for one hour. The cells were washed three times in PBS and incubated with staining solution (0.06% diaminobenzamidine (DAB), 0.05M Tris [pH 7.6], 0.03% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) until a brown colour appeared. The reaction was stopped by rinsing the cells with water. The nuclei were counterstained with hematoxylin.

## References

Albanese, C., Johnson, J., Watanabe, G., Eklund, N., Vu, D., Arnold, A., and Pestell, R. G. (1995). Transforming p21ras mutants and c-Ets-2 activate the cyclin D1 promoter through distinguishable regions. J Biol Chem 270, 23589-23597.

Benezra, R., Davis, R. L., Lockshon, D., Turner, D. L., and Weintraub, H. (1990). The protein Id: a negative regulator of helix-loop-helix DNA binding proteins. Cell 61, 49-59.

Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Strand, A., Perry, R. L., Rudnicki, M. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2002). Promoter-specific regulation of MyoD binding and signal transduction cooperate to pattern gene expression. Mol Cell 9, 587-600.

Chen, G., and Lee, E. Y. (1999). Phenotypic differentiation without permanent cell-cycle arrest by skeletal myocytes with deregulated E2F-1. DNA Cell Biol 18, 305-314.

Chen, S. L., Dowhan, D. H., Hosking, B. M., and Muscat, G. E. (2000). The steroid receptor coactivator, GRIP-1, is necessary for MEF-2C-dependent gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev 14, 1209-1228.

Chen, T. T., and Wang, J. Y. (2000). Establishment of irreversible growth arrest in myogenic differentiation requires the RB LXCXE-binding function. Mol Cell Biol 20, 5571-5580.

Clarke, A. R., Maandag, E. R., van Roon, M., van der Lugt, N. M., van der Valk, M., Hooper, M. L., Berns, A., and te Riele, H. (1992). Requirement for a functional Rb-1 gene in murine development. Nature 359, 328-330.

Coqueret, O. (2002). Linking cyclins to transcriptional control. Gene 299, 35-55.

Corbeil, H. B., Whyte, P., and Branton, P. E. (1995). Characterization of transcription factor E2F complexes during muscle and neuronal differentiation. Oncogene 11, 909-920.

Davis, R. L., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. B. (1987). Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51, 987-1000.

de Bruin, A., Wu, L., Saavedra, H. I., Wilson, P., Yang, Y., Rosol, T. J., Weinstein, M., Robinson, M. L., and Leone, G. (2003). Rb function in extraembryonic lineages suppresses apoptosis in the CNS of Rb-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 6546-6551.

De Luca, P., Majello, B., and Lania, L. (1998). Retinoblastoma protein tethered to promoter DNA represses TBP-mediated transcription. J Cell Biochem 70, 281-287.

Donoghue, M., Ernst, H., Wentworth, B., Nadal-Ginard, B., and Rosenthal, N. (1988). A muscle-specific enhancer is located at the 3' end of the myosin light-chain 1/3 gene locus. Genes Dev 2, 1779-1790.

Endo, T., and Goto, S. (1992). Retinoblastoma gene product Rb accumulates during myogenic differentiation and is deinduced by the expression of SV40 large T antigen. J Biochem (Tokyo) 112, 427-430.

Esser, K., Nelson, T., Lupa-Kimball, V., and Blough, E. (1999). The CACC box and myocyte enhancer factor-2 sites within the myosin light chain 2 slow promoter cooperate in regulating nerve-specific transcription in skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 274, 12095-12102.

Filmus, J., Robles, A. I., Shi, W., Wong, M. J., Colombo, L. L., and Conti, C. J. (1994). Induction of cyclin D1 overexpression by activated ras. Oncogene 9, 3627-3633.

Hagemeier, C., Cook, A., and Kouzarides, T. (1993). The retinoblastoma protein binds E2F residues required for activation in vivo and TBP binding in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res 21, 4998-5004.

Huh, M. S., Parker, M. H., Scime, A., Parks, R., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Rb is required for progression through myogenic differentiation but not maintenance of terminal differentiation. Journal of Cell Biology submitted.

Jacks, T., Fazeli, A., Schmitt, E. M., Bronson, R. T., Goodell, M. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (1992). Effects of an Rb mutation in the mouse. Nature 359, 295-300.

Kim, Y. W., Otterson, G. A., Kratzke, R. A., Coxon, A. B., and Kaye, F. J. (1994). Differential specificity for binding of retinoblastoma binding protein 2 to RB, p107, and TATA-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol 14, 7256-7264.

Langlands, K., Yin, X., Anand, G., and Prochownik, E. V. (1997). Differential interactions of Id proteins with basic-helix-loop-helix transcription factors. J Biol Chem 272, 19785-19793.

Lasorella, A., Noseda, M., Beyna, M., Yokota, Y., and Iavarone, A. (2000). Id2 is a retinoblastoma protein target and mediates signalling by Myc oncoproteins. Nature 407, 592-598.

Lazaro, J. B., Bailey, P. J., and Lassar, A. B. (2002). Cyclin D-cdk4 activity modulates the subnuclear localization and interaction of MEF2 with SRC-family coactivators during skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev 16, 1792-1805.

Lee, E. Y., Chang, C. Y., Hu, N., Wang, Y. C., Lai, C. C., Herrup, K., Lee, W. H., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for Rb are nonviable and show defects in neurogenesis and haematopoiesis. Nature 359, 288-294.

Lee, K. Y., Ladha, M. H., McMahon, C., and Ewen, M. E. (1999). The retinoblastoma protein is linked to the activation of Ras. Mol Cell Biol 19, 7724-7732.

Magenta, A., Cenciarelli, C., De Santa, F., Fuschi, P., Martelli, F., Caruso, M., and Felsani, A. (2003). MyoD stimulates RB promoter activity via the CREB/p300 nuclear transduction pathway. Molecular and Cellular Biology 23, 2893-2906.

Mal, A., Sturniolo, M., Schiltz, R. L., Ghosh, M. K., and Harter, M. L. (2001). A role for histone deacetylase HDAC1 in modulating the transcriptional activity of MyoD: inhibition of the myogenic program. Embo J 20, 1739-1753.

Martelli, F., Cenciarelli, C., Santarelli, G., Polikar, B., Felsani, A., and Caruso, M. (1994). MyoD induces retinoblastoma gene expression during myogenic differentiation. Oncogene 9, 3579-3590.

McGrew, M. J., Bogdanova, N., Hasegawa, K., Hughes, S. H., Kitsis, R. N., and Rosenthal, N. (1996). Distinct gene expression patterns in skeletal and cardiac muscle are dependent on common regulatory sequences in the MLC1/3 locus. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 4524-4534.

Murray, A. W. (2004). Recycling the cell cycle: cyclins revisited. Cell 116, 221-234.

Novitch, B. G., Mulligan, G. J., Jacks, T., and Lassar, A. B. (1996). Skeletal muscle cells lacking the retinoblastoma protein display defects in muscle gene expression and accumulate in S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. J Cell Biol *135*, 441-456.

Novitch, B. G., Spicer, D. B., Kim, P. S., Cheung, W. L., and Lassar, A. B. (1999). pRb is required for MEF2-dependent gene expression as well as cell- cycle arrest during skeletal muscle differentiation. Curr Biol 9, 449-459.

Pearson, A., and Greenblatt, J. (1997). Modular organization of the E2F1 activation domain and its interaction with general transcription factors TBP and TFIIH. Oncogene 15, 2643-2658.

Perry, R. L., Parker, M. H., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2001). Activated MEK1 binds the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex to repress transactivation. Mol Cell 8, 291-301.

Peverali, F. A., Ramqvist, T., Saffrich, R., Pepperkok, R., Barone, M. V., and Philipson, L. (1994). Regulation of G1 progression by E2A and Id helix-loop-helix proteins. Embo J 13, 4291-4301.

Puri, P. L., Iezzi, S., Stiegler, P., Chen, T. T., Schiltz, R. L., Muscat, G. E., Giordano, A., Kedes, L., Wang, J. Y., and Sartorelli, V. (2001). Class I histone deacetylases sequentially interact with MyoD and pRb during skeletal myogenesis. Mol Cell *8*, 885-897.

Rao, S. S., and Kohtz, D. S. (1995). Positive and negative regulation of D-type cyclin expression in skeletal myoblasts by basic fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factor beta. A role for cyclin D1 in control of myoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem 270, 4093-4100.

Reutens, A. T., Fu, M., Wang, C., Albanese, C., McPhaul, M. J., Sun, Z., Balk, S. P., Janne, O. A., Palvimo, J. J., and Pestell, R. G. (2001). Cyclin D1 binds the androgen receptor and regulates hormone-dependent signaling in a p300/CBP-associated factor (p/CAF)-dependent manner. Molecular Endocrinology 15, 797-811.

Riley, D. J., Liu, C. Y., and Lee, W. H. (1997). Mutations of N-terminal regions render the retinoblastoma protein insufficient for functions in development and tumor suppression. Mol Cell Biol 17, 7342-7352.

Sartorelli, V., Puri, P. L., Hamamori, Y., Ogryzko, V., Chung, G., Nakatani, Y., Wang, J. Y., and Kedes, L. (1999). Acetylation of MyoD directed by PCAF is necessary for the execution of the muscle program. Mol Cell *4*, 725-734.

Schneider, J. W., Gu, W., Zhu, L., Mahdavi, V., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (1994). Reversal of terminal differentiation mediated by p107 in Rb-/- muscle cells. Science 264, 1467-1471.

Sellers, W. R., Novitch, B. G., Miyake, S., Heith, A., Otterson, G. A., Kaye, F. J., Lassar, A. B., and Kaelin, W. G., Jr. (1998). Stable binding to E2F is not required for the retinoblastoma protein to activate transcription, promote differentiation, and suppress tumor cell growth. Genes Dev 12, 95-106.

Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Kim, P. S., Novitch, B. G., and Lassar, A. B. (1996). Cyclinmediated inhibition of muscle gene expression via a mechanism that is independent of pRB hyperphosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 7043-7053.

Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Spicer, D. B., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Inhibition of myogenic differentiation in proliferating myoblasts by cyclin D1-dependent kinase. Science 267, 1022-1024.

Stevaux, O., and Dyson, N. J. (2002). A revised picture of the E2F transcriprional netowrk and RB function. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 14, 684-691.

Takahashi, C., Bronson, R. T., Socolovsky, M., Contreras, B., Lee, K. Y., Jacks, T., Noda, M., Kucherlapati, R., and Ewen, M. E. (2003). Rb and N-ras function together to control differentiation in the mouse. Mol Cell Biol 23, 5256-5268.

Tsai, K. Y., Hu, Y., Macleod, K. F., Crowley, D., Yamasaki, L., and Jacks, T. (1998). Mutation of E2f-1 suppresses apoptosis and inappropriate S phase entry and extends survival of Rb-deficient mouse embryos. Mol Cell 2, 293-304.

Winston, J. T., Coats, S. R., Wang, Y. Z., and Pledger, W. J. (1996). Regulation of the cell cycle machinery by oncogenic ras. Oncogene 12, 127-134.

Wu, L., de Bruin, A., Saavedra, H. I., Starovic, M., Trimboli, A., Yang, Y., Opavska, J., Wilson, P., Thompson, J. C., Ostrowski, M. C., et al. (2003). Extra-embryonic function of Rb is essential for embryonic development and viability. Nature 421, 942-947.

Zacksenhaus, E., Jiang, Z., Chung, D., Marth, J. D., Phillips, R. A., and Gallie, B. L. (1996). pRb controls proliferation, differentiation, and death of skeletal muscle cells and other lineages during embryogenesis. Genes Dev 10, 3051-3064.

Zetser, A., Gredinger, E., and Bengal, E. (1999). p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway promotes skeletal muscle differentiation. Participation of the Mef2c transcription factor. J Biol Chem 274, 5193-5200.

Zhang, J. M., Wei, Q., Zhao, X., and Paterson, B. M. (1999a). Coupling of the cell cycle and myogenesis through the cyclin D1- dependent interaction of MyoD with cdk4. Embo J 18, 926-933.

Zhang, J. M., Zhao, X., Wei, Q., and Paterson, B. M. (1999b). Direct inhibition of G(1) cdk kinase activity by MyoD promotes myoblast cell cycle withdrawal and terminal differentiation. Embo J 18, 6983-6993.

Zhou, X., Richon, V. M., Rifkind, R. A., and Marks, P. A. (2000). Identification of a transcriptional repressor related to the noncatalytic domain of histone deacetylases 4 and 5. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 1056-1061.

## Chapter 5 - Discussion

Myogenic specification and differentiation is characterized by a spatially and temporally regulated pattern of gene expression. Although expression of any one of the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) defines a myogenic cell, the MRFs are not functionally redundant (Parker et al., 2003). Expression of Myf5 alone defines a population of proliferative cells that are committed to the myogenic lineage, and migrate to the limb buds or reside in the myotome prior to differentiation. However, in culture, proliferating myoblasts express both MyoD and Myf5.

Neither HEB $\alpha$  nor HEB $\beta$  synergistically activate Myf5, and Myf5 transcriptional activity was only marginally increased after induction of differentiation (Chapter 2, Figure 4). *Myf5* expression is increased 4-fold in  $MyoD^{-/-}$  myoblasts, which proliferate more rapidly and exhibit a delay in differentiation (Sabourin et al., 1999). Moreover, myoblasts isolated from newborn  $Myf5^{-/-}$  mice are unable to proliferate (Montarras et al., 2000). Taken together, this suggests that Myf5 regulates genes required for cell cycle progression rather than differentiation. However, expression of Myf5 in  $MyoD^{-/-}:Myf5^{-/-}$  fibroblasts did not alter expression of cyclin D1 or D2 (Chapter 3 – Figure 6); yet this does not preclude a direct role for Myf5 in regulating cyclin expression in myoblasts. Furthermore, Myf5 was bound to the MLC enhancer in proliferating and differentiating C2C12 myoblasts, suggesting Myf5 may also mark genes to be activated by MyoD and myogenin later in differentiation (Chapter 2, Figure 2).

During myoblast proliferation, activated MEK1 forms a complex with MyoD, which inhibits MyoD activity and prevents myogenic differentiation (Perry et al., 2001). Moreover, a mutant of MyoD lacking amino acids 3 to 56 is unable to form a complex in association with activated MEK1. HEB $\alpha$  was expressed in both proliferating and differentiating myoblasts, however, HEB $\beta$  expression was restricted to differentiating myoblasts (Chapter 2, Figure 1). The hypothesis is that activated MEK1 forms a complex with MyoD and HEB $\alpha$ , inhibiting HEB-mediated activation of MyoD on the myogenin promoter. In the absence of the MyoD N-terminus, the inhibitory complex will not form, and HEB $\alpha$  should be able to synergize with MyoD to activate expression of myogenin.

HEBa was able to synergistically activate a mutant of MyoD, in which the Nterminus of MyoD is replaced with that of Myf5 (data not shown). Since HEBa is normally unable to activate MyoD on the myogenin promoter, this demonstrates that this domain is responsible for preventing HEBa-mediated activation of myogenin expression. This is an important form of regulation in view of the fact that HEBa is expressed in proliferating myoblasts, and precocious expression of myogenin induces cell cycle withdrawal and initiation of differentiation. Further dissection of the N-terminus indicates that amino acids 3 to 56, which represent a transactivation domain, are responsible for regulating the ability of MyoD to respond to HEBa.

Preliminary experiments addressing the effect of activated MEK1 on HEBmediated activation of MyoD indicated that activated MEK1 inhibits synergy between MyoD and HEB $\alpha$  (data not shown). Interestingly, activated MEK1 had little or no effect on HEB $\alpha$ -mediated activation of MyoD<sup> $\Delta 3-56$ </sup>, suggesting that when MyoD is in complex with HEB $\alpha$  on the myogenin promoter, the N-terminus functions as a MEK1-responsive inhibitory domain. On the other hand, activated MEK1 inhibited HEB $\beta$ -mediated synergistic activation of MyoD<sup> $\Delta 3-56$ </sup> more dramatically than wildtype MyoD. Thus, in the context of a differentiation-specific MyoD-HEB $\beta$  complex, the N-terminus functions as an activation domain, and allows MyoD to be potentially unresponsive to MEK1-mediated inhibition. Determining the precise complexes formed in the presence of HEB $\alpha$  and HEB $\beta$ , with and without activated MEK1, will be important in determining the mechanism by which these factors regulate MyoD activity.

During differentiation, MyoD and myogenin bind to E-box sequences (CANNTG) in the promoters of muscle-specific genes and activate transcription. MyoD binds to a promoter just prior to transcriptional activation, which suggests that initiation of myogenic gene expression is regulated in part at the level of DNA binding (Bergstrom et al., 2002). During proliferation, cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) interacts with MyoD and inhibits binding to DNA (Zhang et al., 1999a; Zhang et al., 1999b). Moreover, the cell cycle regulator, pRb, predominantly exists in its inactive, phosphorylated form, as a result of cdk activity. A hypophosphorylated mutant of pRb (pRb $\Delta$ p34), which mimics the differentiation-specific activated form of pRb, augments MyoD activity by rescuing cdk4-mediated inhibition of MyoD (Chapter 4, Figure 5).

MyoD stimulates transcriptional activation of the *Rb* promoter indirectly, causing the level of pRb mRNA and protein to increase upon induction of differentiation (Bergstrom et al., 2002; Corbeil et al., 1995; Endo and Goto, 1992; Magenta et al., 2003; Martelli et al., 1994). MyoD also regulates cell cycle withdrawal by ensuring timely degradation of cyclin E protein and downregulation of cdk2 activity during initiation of differentiation (Chapter 3, Figure 4). Taken together, MyoD upregulates expression of pRb, and ensures the protein is in its active form by inhibiting cdk2 activity and preventing phosphorylation. Hypophosphorylated pRb disrupts the MyoD-cdk4 interaction, and enhances MyoD binding to promoter DNA.

Genes expressed in tissues other than skeletal muscle, are also regulated by MyoD and the MRFs. Indeed, MyoD regulates expression of cyclin D1 and D2, as well as IGFBP5 and NF- $\kappa$ B1/p50 (Chapter 3 – Figure 1, Discussion). Although MyoD may regulate expression of these genes by binding E-boxes in the promoter, expression may also be regulated by another transcription factor. As such, MyoD downregulated activation of NF- $\kappa$ B specifically during initiation of differentiation (Chapter 3, Figure 7). NF- $\kappa$ B binding sites in the cyclin D1 promoter specifically regulate muscle-specific expression, and thus, in the absence of MyoD, expression of cyclin D1 and D2 is maintained after serum withdrawal (Chapter 3 – Figure 1,3)(Guttridge et al., 1999). Cyclin D1 specifically inhibits myogenic gene expression independently of pRb phosphorylation (Skapek et al., 1996).

It is predicted that the E-box sequence can be found once every 256-bp in the genome. Indeed, E-boxes are located in the promoters of a number of genes, including neural-specific and B-cell specific genes. Moreover, the bHLH DNA binding motif, which recognizes the E-box sequence, is not restricted to the MRF family of transcription factors.

MyoD and myogenin bound to the E-boxes of the B-cell specific IgH enhancer (data not shown). E12 and E47, the E2A gene products, regulate expression of genes

involved in B-cell development and differentiation. Therefore, if E12 and E47 were expressed in myoblasts, and dimerized with MyoD and myogenin to activate gene expression, then IgH should be activated in muscle cells.

Interestingly, HEB did not bind to the IgH enhancer in C2C12 myoblasts, suggesting that binding of HEB to a promoter may be required for MRF-mediated transcriptional activation (data not shown). Moreover, binding of HEB to the MLC enhancer required expression of MyoD, indicating that HEB functions as a regulatory factor, rather than a directing factor (Chapter 2, Figure 2). However, HEB also plays a role in B-cell development and differentiation as a heterodimer partner of E12 and E47. If HEB binds to B-cell specific promoters in the presence of E12 or E47, this precludes coexpression of the two E-proteins in myogenic cells.

Transcription factors may direct binding of MyoD to specific E-boxes within a promoter that are flanked by the cognate DNA binding sequence for that particular transcription factor. Indeed, Pbx1 binding sites adjacent to the E2 E-box of the myogenin promoter, target MyoD complex formation on this E-box (Berkes et al., 2004). However, HEBB-MyoD activation of myogenin expression specifically required the E1 E-box of the myogenin promoter (Chapter 1, Figure 6). Moreover, this E-box is proximal to the TATA box, and complexes bound to this E-box have more potential to be involved in associations with the basal transcriptional machinery. Importantly, it is hypothesized that the type of complex formed determines which activation and regulatory domains are accessible. Therefore, E-box specific complexes are likely to play distinct roles in gene expression and possess unique transcriptional activation potentials.

In the absence of HEBB, expression of myogenin was inhibited, and myotubes remained mononuclear, indicating HEBB is required for myogenic differentiation (Chapter 1, Figure 7). HEBB differs from HEBa only by the presence of a 24-amino acid ankyrin-like motif, which intersects the putative second activation domain. This suggests that HEBa and HEBB may form distinct transcriptional complexes with MyoD or myogenin. Moreover, the promoters of a particular cluster of myogenic genes, which exhibit a similar pattern of regulation, likely bind similar MRF-HEB complexes. This is important, since expression of these genes is also likely to be affected by the same signaling pathways and regulatory molecules. Ultimately, the ability to define the MRF complexes bound to a particular cluster of genes and identify a pattern of promoterspecific regulation is paramount to understanding myogenic specification and differentiation.

The formation of unique complexes suggests that particular domains of MyoD may play unique functions in each complex. Preliminary data indicates that in order for HEBB to synergistically enhance MyoD activity on the myogenin promoter, the Cterminus of MyoD must be present (data not shown). Moreover, replacing the C-terminus of Myf5 with that of MyoD, converted Myf5 into a HEB-responsive transcription factor. Deletion of amino acids 170 to 209 or 218 to 269 of MyoD did not alter the ability of MyoD to respond to HEBB, indicating that as yet unidentified domains are important in HEBβ-mediated transcriptional activation.

A mutant of MyoD lacking the N-terminal transactivation domain (amino acids 3 to 56) displayed an enhanced ability to respond to HEBB (data not shown). Moreover, HEB $\beta$  is unable to synergistically activate a mutant of MyoD lacking amino acids 63 to 99. Specifically, amino acids 96 (Trp) and 98 (Cys) are required for MyoD binding to the E2 E-box of the myogenin promoter in association with Pbx1 (Berkes et al., 2004). However, these amino acids do not appear to affect binding of MyoD to the E1 E-box, which is required for HEB $\beta$ -mediated activation of MyoD. Therefore, it would be interesting to test the ability of HEB to synergize with the MyoD<sup>W96A/C98A</sup> mutant, and determine if activity from the E1 E-box is affected.

The process of myogenic specification and differentiation involves a complex pattern of gene regulation, involving numerous transcription factors and regulatory mechanisms. Clusters of genes, in which the expression patterns is similar, are being defined, and guiding skeletal muscle biologists toward searching for promoter-specific complexes and patterns of regulation. Although we know that MEK1 affects early markers of differentiation, such as myogenin, and pRb and p38 regulate expression of late-induced differentiation genes, the question remains of how these regulatory molecules target particular promoters. Presumably, the formation of promoter-specific complexes accounts for the restricted pattern of regulation, but how are these complexes formed? Do the complexes change during the processes of specification and differentiation? What cellular stimuli and regulatory pathways are involved in complex construction and evolution? Thankfully, the questions, and thus the experimental possibilities, are endless.

# Figure 1. Regulation of Myogenic Gene Expression in Proliferating and Differentiating Myoblasts.

MyoD binding to promoter DNA is inhibited in proliferating myoblasts by cdk4. MyoD also forms a repressive complex in cooperation with HEBa and MEK1. Moreover, during proliferation, cyclin D1-cdk4 and cyclin E-cdk2 maintain pRb in a phosphorylated state. Upon initiation of differentiation, MyoD downregulates expression of cyclin D1, and induces targeted degradation of cyclin E. pRb is progressively dephosphorylated, and disrupts the MyoD-cdk4 interaction. MyoD binds the E1 E-box of the myogenin promoter, as a complex with HEB $\beta$ , and activates expression. Myogenin cooperates with HEBa, and MyoD-HEB $\beta$  and myogenin-HEBa fully activate expression of myogenin. Moreover, MyoD and myogenin cooperate to induce expression of other muscle-specific genes, such as myosin light chain (MLC) and myosin heavy chain (MyHC).



### **Chapter 6 - References**

Akkila, W. M., Chambers, R. L., Ornatsky, O. I., and McDermott, J. C. (1997). Molecular cloning of up-regulated cytoskeletal genes from regenerating skeletal muscle: potential role of myocyte enhancer factor 2 proteins in the activation of muscleregeneration-associated genes. Biochem J 325, 87-93.

Allen, R. E., and Boxhorn, L. K. (1989). Regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and differentiation by transforming growth factor-beta, insulin-like growth factor I, and fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Physiol 138, 311-315.

Allen, R. E., Dodson, M. V., and Luiten, L. S. (1984). Regulation of skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation by bovine pituitary fibroblast growth factor. Exp Cell Res 152, 154-160.

Allen, R. E., Luiten, L. S., and Dodson, M. V. (1985). Effect of insulin and linoleic acid on satellite cell differentiation. J Anim Sci 60, 1571-1579.

Amthor, H., Christ, B., and Patel, K. (1999). A molecular mechanism enabling continuous embryonic muscle growth - a balance between proliferation and differentiation. Development 126, 1041-1053.

Armand, O., Boutineau, A. M., Mauger, A., Pautou, M. P., and Kieny, M. (1983). Origin of satellite cells in avian skeletal muscles. Arch Anat Microsc Morphol Exp 72, 163-181.

Asakura, A., Fujisawa-Sehara, A., Komiya, T., and Nabeshima, Y. (1993). MyoD and myogenin act on the chicken myosin light-chain 1 gene as distinct transcriptional factors. Mol Cell Biol 13, 7153-7162.

Bailey, P., Downes, M., Lau, P., Harris, J., Chen, S. L., Hamamori, Y., Sartorelli, V., and Muscat, G. E. (1999). The nuclear receptor corepressor N-CoR regulates differentiation: N-CoR directly interacts with MyoD. Mol Endocrinol 13, 1155-1168.

Beauchamp, J. R., Heslop, L., Yu, D. S., Tajbakhsh, S., Kelly, R. G., Wernig, A., Buckingham, M. E., Partridge, T. A., and Zammit, P. S. (2000). Expression of CD34 and Myf5 defines the majority of quiescent adult skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Biol 151, 1221-1234.

Bendall, A. J., Ding, J., Hu, G., Shen, M. M., and Abate-Shen, C. (1999). Msx1 antagonizes the myogenic activity of Pax3 in migrating limb muscle precursors. Development 126, 4965-4976.

Bennett, A. M., and Tonks, N. K. (1997). Regulation of distinct stages of skeletal muscle differentiation by mitogen-activated protein kinases. Science 278, 1288-1291.

Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Strand, A., Perry, R. L., Rudnicki, M. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2002). Promoter-specific regulation of MyoD binding and signal transduction cooperate to pattern gene expression. Mol Cell *9*, 587-600.

Bergstrom, D. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (2001). Molecular distinction between specification and differentiation in the myogenic basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor family. Mol Cell Biol 21, 2404-2412.

Berkes, C. A., Bergstrom, D. A., Penn, B. H., Seaver, K. J., Knoepfler, P. S., and Tapscott, S. J. (2004). Pbx marks genes for activation by MyoD indicating a role for a homeodomain protein in establishing myogenic potential. Mol Cell *14*, 465-477.

Bischoff, R. (1994). The satellite cell and muscle regneration. In Myology, A. G. Engel, and C. Franzini-Armstrong, eds. (New York, McGraw-Hill), pp. 97-118.

Black, B. L., Molkentin, J. D., and Olson, E. N. (1998). Multiple roles for the MyoD basic region in transmission of transcriptional activation signals and interaction with MEF2. Mol Cell Biol 18, 69-77.

Bober, E., Brand-Saberi, B., Ebensperger, C., Wilting, J., Balling, R., Paterson, B. M., Arnold, H. H., and Christ, B. (1994a). Initial steps of myogenesis in somites are independent of influence from axial structures. Development *120*, 3073-3082.

Bober, E., Franz, T., Arnold, H. H., Gruss, P., and Tremblay, P. (1994b). Pax-3 is required for the development of limb muscles: a possible role for the migration of dermomyotomal muscle progenitor cells. Development *120*, 603-612.

Borello, U., Coletta, M., Tajbakhsh, S., Leyns, L., De Robertis, E. M., Buckingham, M., and Cossu, G. (1999). Transplacental delivery of the Wnt antagonist Frzb1 inhibits development of caudal paraxial mesoderm and skeletal myogenesis in mouse embryos. Development *126*, 4247-4255.

Borycki, A. G., Brunk, B., Tajbakhsh, S., Buckingham, M., Chiang, C., and Emerson, C. P., Jr. (1999). Sonic hedgehog controls epaxial muscle determination through Myf5 activation. Development *126*, 4053-4063.

Brand-Saberi, B., Muller, T. S., Wilting, J., Christ, B., and Birchmeier, C. (1996). Scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF) induces emigration of myogenic cells at interlimb level in vivo. Dev Biol *179*, 303-308.

Braun, T., and Arnold, H. H. (1995). Inactivation of Myf-6 and Myf-5 genes in mice leads to alterations in skeletal muscle development. Embo J 14, 1176-1186.

Braun, T., Bober, E., Winter, B., Rosenthal, N., and Arnold, H. H. (1990). Myf-6, a new member of the human gene family of myogenic determination factors: evidence for a gene cluster on chromosome 12. Embo J 9, 821-831.

Braun, T., Buschhausen-Denker, G., Bober, E., Tannich, E., and Arnold, H. H. (1989). A novel human muscle factor related to but distinct from MyoD1 induces myogenic conversion in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. Embo J *8*, 701-709.

Braun, T., Rudnicki, M. A., Arnold, H. H., and Jaenisch, R. (1992). Targeted inactivation of the muscle regulatory gene Myf-5 results in abnormal rib development and perinatal death. Cell 71, 369-382.

Brennan, T. J., Chakraborty, T., and Olson, E. N. (1991). Mutagenesis of the myogenin basic region identifies an ancient protein motif critical for activation of myogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *88*, 5675-5679.

Brent, A. E., Schweitzer, R., and Tabin, C. J. (2003). A somitic compartment of tendon progenitors. Cell 113, 235-248.

Buffinger, N., and Stockdale, F. E. (1994). Myogenic specification in somites: induction by axial structures. Development 120, 1443-1452.

Cabane, C., Englaro, W., Yeow, K., Ragno, M., and Derijard, B. (2003). Regulation of C2C12 myogenic terminal differentiation by MKK3/p38alpha pathway. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 284, C658-666.

Chen, T. T., and Wang, J. Y. (2000). Establishment of irreversible growth arrest in myogenic differentiation requires the RB LXCXE-binding function. Mol Cell Biol 20, 5571-5580.

Chiang, C., Litingtung, Y., Lee, E., Young, K. E., Corden, J. L., Westphal, H., and Beachy, P. A. (1996). Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. Nature 383, 407-413.

Choi, J., Costa, M. L., Mermelstein, C. S., Chagas, C., Holtzer, S., and Holtzer, H. (1990). MyoD converts primary dermal fibroblasts, chondroblasts, smooth muscle, and retinal pigmented epithelial cells into striated mononucleated myoblasts and multinucleated myotubes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 7988-7992.

Christ, B., and Ordahl, C. P. (1995). Early stages of chick somite development. Anat Embryol (Berl) 191, 381-396.

Clegg, C. H., Linkhart, T. A., Olwin, B. B., and Hauschka, S. D. (1987). Growth factor control of skeletal muscle differentiation: commitment to terminal differentiation occurs in G1 phase and is repressed by fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Biol *105*, 949-956.

Cornelison, D. D., Olwin, B. B., Rudnicki, M. A., and Wold, B. J. (2000). MyoD(-/-) satellite cells in single-fiber culture are differentiation defective and MRF4 deficient. Dev Biol 224, 122-137.

Corbeil, H. B., Whyte, P., and Branton, P. E. (1995). Characterization of transcription factor E2F complexes during muscle and neuronal differentiation. Oncogene 11, 909-920.

Cossu, G., Kelly, R., Tajbakhsh, S., Di Donna, S., Vivarelli, E., and Buckingham, M. (1996). Activation of different myogenic pathways: myf-5 is induced by the neural tube and MyoD by the dorsal ectoderm in mouse paraxial mesoderm. Development *122*, 429-437.

Crescenzi, M., Fleming, T. P., Lassar, A. B., Weintraub, H., and Aaronson, S. A. (1990). MyoD induces growth arrest independent of differentiation in normal and transformed cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 8442-8446.

Daston, G., Lamar, E., Olivier, M., and Goulding, M. (1996). Pax-3 is necessary for migration but not differentiation of limb muscle precursors in the mouse. Development *122*, 1017-1027.

Davis, R. L., Cheng, P. F., Lassar, A. B., Thayer, M., Tapscott, S., and Weintraub, H. (1989). MyoD and achaete-scute: 4-5 amino acids distinguishes myogenesis from neurogenesis. Princess Takamatsu Symp 20, 267-278.

Davis, R. L., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. B. (1987). Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell 51, 987-1000.

De Angelis, L., Berghella, L., Coletta, M., Lattanzi, L., Zanchi, M., Cusella-De Angelis, M. G., Ponzetto, C., and Cossu, G. (1999). Skeletal myogenic progenitors originating from embryonic dorsal aorta coexpress endothelial and myogenic markers and contribute to postnatal muscle growth and regeneration. J Cell Biol 147, 869-878.

de la Serna, I. L., Carlson, K. A., and Imbalzano, A. N. (2001a). Mammalian SWI/SNF complexes promote MyoD-mediated muscle differentiation. Nat Genet 27, 187-190.

de la Serna, I. L., Roy, K., Carlson, K. A., and Imbalzano, A. N. (2001b). MyoD can induce cell cycle arrest but not muscle differentiation in the presence of dominant negative SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling enzymes. J Biol Chem 276, 41486-41491.

Delfini, M., Hirsinger, E., Pourquie, O., and Duprez, D. (2000). Delta 1-activated notch inhibits muscle differentiation without affecting Myf5 and Pax3 expression in chick limb myogenesis. Development *127*, 5213-5224.

Dietrich, S., Schubert, F. R., Gruss, P., and Lumsden, A. (1999). The role of the notochord for epaxial myotome formation in the mouse. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 45, 601-616.

Dietrich, S., Schubert, F. R., and Lumsden, A. (1997). Control of dorsoventral pattern in the chick paraxial mesoderm. Development 124, 3895-3908.

Duprez, D., Fournier-Thibault, C., and Le Douarin, N. (1998). Sonic Hedgehog induces proliferation of committed skeletal muscle cells in the chick limb. Development 125, 495-505.

Edmondson, D. G., Lyons, G. E., Martin, J. F., and Olson, E. N. (1994). Mef2 gene expression marks the cardiac and skeletal muscle lineages during mouse embryogenesis. Development *120*, 1251-1263.

Edmondson, D. G., and Olson, E. N. (1989). A gene with homology to the myc similarity region of MyoD1 is expressed during myogenesis and is sufficient to activate the muscle differentiation program. Genes Dev 3, 628-640.

Endo, T., and Goto, S. (1992). Retinoblastoma gene product Rb accumulates during myogenic differentiation and is deinduced by the expression of SV40 large T antigen. J Biochem (Tokyo) 112, 427-430.

Epstein, J. A., Shapiro, D. N., Cheng, J., Lam, P. Y., and Maas, R. L. (1996). Pax3 modulates expression of the c-Met receptor during limb muscle development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 4213-4218.

Fajas, L., Egler, V., Reiter, R., Hansen, J., Kristiansen, K., Debril, M. B., Miard, S., and Auwerx, J. (2002). The retinoblastoma-histone deacetylase 3 complex inhibits PPARgamma and adipocyte differentiation. Dev Cell *3*, 903-910.

Fan, C. M., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1994). Patterning of mammalian somites by surface ectoderm and notochord: evidence for sclerotome induction by a hedgehog homolog. Cell 79, 1175-1186.

Franz, T., Kothary, R., Surani, M. A., Halata, Z., and Grim, M. (1993). The Splotch mutation interferes with muscle development in the limbs. Anat Embryol (Berl) 187, 153-160.

Gamel, A. J., Brand-Saberi, B., and Christ, B. (1995). Halves of epithelial somites and segmental plate show distinct muscle differentiation behavior in vitro compared to entire somites and segmental plate. Dev Biol *172*, 625-639.

Gerber, A. N., Klesert, T. R., Bergstrom, D. A., and Tapscott, S. J. (1997). Two domains of MyoD mediate transcriptional activation of genes in repressive chromatin: a mechanism for lineage determination in myogenesis. Genes Dev 11, 436-450.

Goulding, M., Lumsden, A., and Paquette, A. J. (1994). Regulation of Pax-3 expression in the dermomyotome and its role in muscle development. Development 120, 957-971.

Grozinger, C. M., and Schreiber, S. L. (2000). Regulation of histone deacetylase 4 and 5 and transcriptional activity by 14-3-3-dependent cellular localization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97, 7835-7840.

Gussoni, E., Soneoka, Y., Strickland, C. D., Buzney, E. A., Khan, M. K., Flint, A. F., Kunkel, L. M., and Mulligan, R. C. (1999). Dystrophin expression in the mdx mouse restored by stem cell transplantation. Nature 401, 390-394.

Gustafsson, M. K., Pan, H., Pinney, D. F., Liu, Y., Lewandowski, A., Epstein, D. J., and Emerson, C. P., Jr. (2002). Myf5 is a direct target of long-range Shh signaling and Gli regulation for muscle specification. Genes Dev 16, 114-126.

Guttridge, D. C., Albanese, C., Reuther, J. Y., Pestell, R. G., and Baldwin, A. S., Jr. (1999). NF-kappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 5785-5799.

Han, J., Jiang, Y., Li, Z., Kravchenko, V. V., and Ulevitch, R. J. (1997). Activation of the transcription factor MEF2C by the MAP kinase p38 in inflammation. Nature *386*, 296-299.

Han, T. H., and Prywes, R. (1995). Regulatory role of MEF2D in serum induction of the c-jun promoter. Mol Cell Biol 15, 2907-2915.

Hardy, S., Kong, Y., and Konieczny, S. F. (1993). Fibroblast growth factor inhibits MRF4 activity independently of the phosphorylation status of a conserved threonine residue within the DNA- binding domain. Mol Cell Biol *13*, 5943-5956.

Hasty, P., Bradley, A., Morris, J. H., Edmondson, D. G., Venuti, J. M., Olson, E. N., and Klein, W. H. (1993). Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the myogenin gene. Nature *364*, 501-506.

Hawke, T. J., and Garry, D. J. (2001). Myogenic satellite cells: physiology to molecular biology. J Appl Physiol 91, 534-551.

Henthorn, P., Kiledjian, M., and Kadesch, T. (1990). Two distinct transcription factors that bind the immunoglobulin enhancer microE5/kappa 2 motif. Science 247, 467-470.

Hirano, S., Hirako, R., Kajita, N., and Norita, M. (1995). Morphological analysis of the role of the neural tube and notochord in the development of somites. Anat Embryol (Berl) *192*, 445-457.

Hirsinger, E., Malapert, P., Dubrulle, J., Delfini, M. C., Duprez, D., Henrique, D., Ish-Horowicz, D., and Pourquie, O. (2001). Notch signalling acts in postmitotic avian myogenic cells to control MyoD activation. Development *128*, 107-116.

Hopwood, N. D., and Gurdon, J. B. (1990). Activation of muscle genes without myogenesis by ectopic expression of MyoD in frog embryo cells. Nature 347, 197-200.

Houzelstein, D., Auda-Boucher, G., Cheraud, Y., Rouaud, T., Blanc, I., Tajbakhsh, S., Buckingham, M. E., Fontaine-Perus, J., and Robert, B. (1999). The homeobox gene Msx1 is expressed in a subset of somites, and in muscle progenitor cells migrating into the forelimb. Development *126*, 2689-2701.

Hu, J. S., Olson, E. N., and Kingston, R. E. (1992). HEB, a helix-loop-helix protein related to E2A and ITF2 that can modulate the DNA-binding ability of myogenic regulatory factors. Mol Cell Biol *12*, 1031-1042.

Huang, J., Blackwell, T. K., Kedes, L., and Weintraub, H. (1996). Differences between MyoD DNA binding and activation site requirements revealed by functional random sequence selection. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 3893-3900.

Jackson, K. A., Mi, T., and Goodell, M. A. (1999). Hematopoietic potential of stem cells isolated from murine skeletal muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 14482-14486.

Johnson, R. L., Laufer, E., Riddle, R. D., and Tabin, C. (1994). Ectopic expression of Sonic hedgehog alters dorsal-ventral patterning of somites. Cell 79, 1165-1173.

Jones, P. A., and Taylor, S. M. (1980). Cellular differentiation, cytidine analogs and DNA methylation. Cell 20, 85-93.

Jostes, B., Walther, C., and Gruss, P. (1990). The murine paired box gene, Pax7, is expressed specifically during the development of the nervous and muscular system. Mech Dev 33, 27-37.

Kablar, B., Krastel, K., Ying, C., Tapscott, S. J., Goldhamer, D. J., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1999). Myogenic determination occurs independently in somites and limb buds. Dev Biol 206, 219-231.

Kataoka, Y., Matsumura, I., Ezoe, S., Nakata, S., Takigawa, E., Sato, Y., Kawasaki, A., Yokota, T., Nakajima, K., Felsani, A., and Kanakura, Y. (2003). Reciprocal inhibition between MyoD and STAT3 in the regulation of growth and differentiation of myoblasts. J Biol Chem 278, 44178-44187.

Kato, Y., Kravchenko, V. V., Tapping, R. I., Han, J., Ulevitch, R. J., and Lee, J. D. (1997). BMK1/ERK5 regulates serum-induced early gene expression through transcription factor MEF2C. Embo J 16, 7054-7066.

Kato, Y., Zhao, M., Morikawa, A., Sugiyama, T., Chakravortty, D., Koide, N., Yoshida, T., Tapping, R. I., Yang, Y., Yokochi, T., and Lee, J. D. (2000). Big mitogen-activated kinase regulates multiple members of the MEF2 protein family. J Biol Chem 275, 18534-18540.

Kaul, A., Koster, M., Neuhaus, H., and Braun, T. (2000). Myf-5 revisited: loss of early myotome formation does not lead to a rib phenotype in homozygous Myf-5 mutant mice. Cell *102*, 17-19.

Kenny-Mobbs, T., and Thorogood, P. (1987). Autonomy of differentiation in avian branchial somites and the influence of adjacent tissues. Development *100*, 449-462. Kiefer, J. C., and Hauschka, S. D. (2001). Myf-5 is transiently expressed in nonmuscle mesoderm and exhibits dynamic regional changes within the presegmented mesoderm and somites I-IV. Dev Biol *232*, 77-90.

Kitzmann, M., Carnac, G., Vandromme, M., Primig, M., Lamb, N. J., and Fernandez, A. (1998). The muscle regulatory factors MyoD and myf-5 undergo distinct cell cycle-specific expression in muscle cells. J Cell Biol *142*, 1447-1459.

Kitzmann, M., Vandromme, M., Schaeffer, V., Carnac, G., Labbe, J. C., Lamb, N., and Fernandez, A. (1999). cdk1- and cdk2-mediated phosphorylation of MyoD Ser200 in growing C2 myoblasts: role in modulating MyoD half-life and myogenic activity. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 3167-3176.

Klein, E. S., Simmons, D. M., Swanson, L. W., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1993). Tissuespecific RNA splicing generates an ankyrin-like domain that affects the dimerization and DNA-binding properties of a bHLH protein. Genes Dev 7, 55-71.

Kong, Y., Johnson, S. E., Taparowsky, E. J., and Konieczny, S. F. (1995). Ras p21Val inhibits myogenesis without altering the DNA binding or transcriptional activities of the myogenic basic helix-loop-helix factors. Mol Cell Biol *15*, 5205-5213.

Konieczny, S. F., and Emerson, C. P., Jr. (1984). 5-Azacytidine induction of stable mesodermal stem cell lineages from 10T1/2 cells: evidence for regulatory genes controlling determination. Cell *38*, 791-800.

Kruger, M., Mennerich, D., Fees, S., Schafer, R., Mundlos, S., and Braun, T. (2001). Sonic hedgehog is a survival factor for hypaxial muscles during mouse development. Development *128*, 743-752.

Lassar, A. B., Buskin, J. N., Lockshon, D., Davis, R. L., Apone, S., Hauschka, S. D., and Weintraub, H. (1989). MyoD is a sequence-specific DNA binding protein requiring a region of myc homology to bind to the muscle creatine kinase enhancer. Cell 58, 823-831.

Lassar, A. B., Davis, R. L., Wright, W. E., Kadesch, T., Murre, C., Voronova, A., Baltimore, D., and Weintraub, H. (1991). Functional activity of myogenic HLH proteins requires hetero- oligomerization with E12/E47-like proteins in vivo. Cell *66*, 305-315.

Lechner, C., Zahalka, M. A., Giot, J. F., Moller, N. P., and Ullrich, A. (1996). ERK6, a mitogen-activated protein kinase involved in C2C12 myoblast differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 4355-4359.

Li, J., Lin, Q., Wang, W., Wade, P., and Wong, J. (2002). Specific targeting and constitutive association of histone deacetylase complexes during transcriptional repression. Genes Dev *16*, 687-692.

Li, L., Heller-Harrison, R., Czech, M., and Olson, E. N. (1992a). Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase inhibits the activity of myogenic helix-loop-helix proteins. Mol Cell Biol *12*, 4478-4485.

Li, L., Zhou, J., James, G., Heller-Harrison, R., Czech, M. P., and Olson, E. N. (1992b). FGF inactivates myogenic helix-loop-helix proteins through phosphorylation of a conserved protein kinase C site in their DNA- binding domains. Cell 71, 1181-1194.

Linker, C., Lesbros, C., Stark, M. R., and Marcelle, C. (2003). Intrinsic signals regulate the initial steps of myogenesis in vertebrates. Development *130*, 4797-4807.

Liu, D., Black, B. L., and Derynck, R. (2001). TGF-beta inhibits muscle differentiation through functional repression of myogenic transcription factors by Smad3. Genes Dev 15, 2950-2966.

Liu, D., Kang, J. S., and Derynck, R. (2004). TGF-beta-activated Smad3 represses MEF2-dependent transcription in myogenic differentiation. Embo J 23, 1557-1566.

Liu, L. N., Dias, P., and Houghton, P. J. (1998). Mutation of Thr115 in MyoD positively regulates function in murine fibroblasts and human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Cell Growth Differ 9, 699-711.

Lu, J., McKinsey, T. A., Zhang, C. L., and Olson, E. N. (2000). Regulation of skeletal myogenesis by association of the MEF2 transcription factor with class II histone deacetylases. Mol Cell 6, 233-244.

Magenta, A., Cenciarelli, C., De Santa, F., Fuschi, P., Martelli, F., Caruso, M., and Felsani, A. (2003). MyoD stimulates RB promoter activity via the CREB/p300 nuclear transduction pathway. Molecular and Cellular Biology 23, 2893-2906.

Mal, A., and Harter, M. L. (2003). MyoD is functionally linked to the silencing of a muscle-specific regulatory gene prior to skeletal myogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 1735-1739.

Mal, A., Sturniolo, M., Schiltz, R. L., Ghosh, M. K., and Harter, M. L. (2001). A role for histone deacetylase HDAC1 in modulating the transcriptional activity of MyoD: inhibition of the myogenic program. Embo J 20, 1739-1753.

Maroto, M., Reshef, R., Munsterberg, A. E., Koester, S., Goulding, M., and Lassar, A. B. (1997). Ectopic Pax-3 activates MyoD and Myf-5 expression in embryonic mesoderm and neural tissue. Cell 89, 139-148.

Martelli, F., Cenciarelli, C., Santarelli, G., Polikar, B., Felsani, A., and Caruso, M. (1994). MyoD induces retinoblastoma gene expression during myogenic differentiation. Oncogene 9, 3579-3590.

McDermott, J. C., Cardoso, M. C., Yu, Y. T., Andres, V., Leifer, D., Krainc, D., Lipton, S. A., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (1993). hMEF2C gene encodes skeletal muscle- and brainspecific transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol 13, 2564-2577.

McKinsey, T. A., Zhang, C. L., and Olson, E. N. (2001). Identification of a signalresponsive nuclear export sequence in class II histone deacetylases. Mol Cell Biol 21, 6312-6321.

McKinsey, T. A., Zhang, C. L., and Olson, E. N. (2002). MEF2: a calcium-dependent regulator of cell division, differentiation and death. Trends Biochem Sci 27, 40-47.

Megeney, L. A., Kablar, B., Garrett, K., Anderson, J. E., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1996). MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev 10, 1173-1183.

Milasincic, D. J., Calera, M. R., Farmer, S. R., and Pilch, P. F. (1996). Stimulation of C2C12 myoblast growth by basic fibroblast growth factor and insulin-like growth factor 1 can occur via mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent and -independent pathways. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 5964-5973.

Miner, J. H., and Wold, B. (1990). Herculin, a fourth member of the MyoD family of myogenic regulatory genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 1089-1093.

Mitin, N., Kudla, A. J., Konieczny, S. F., and Taparowsky, E. J. (2001). Differential effects of Ras signaling through NFkappaB on skeletal myogenesis. Oncogene 20, 1276-1286.

Montarras, D., Lindon, C., Pinset, C., and Domeyne, P. (2000). Cultured myf5 null and myoD null muscle precursor cells display distinct growth defects. Biol Cell 92, 565-572.

Munsterberg, A. E., Kitajewski, J., Bumcrot, D. A., McMahon, A. P., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Combinatorial signaling by Sonic hedgehog and Wnt family members induces myogenic bHLH gene expression in the somite. Genes Dev 9, 2911-2922.

Murre, C., McCaw, P. S., Vaessin, H., Caudy, M., Jan, L. Y., Jan, Y. N., Cabrera, C. V., Buskin, J. N., Hauschka, S. D., Lassar, A. B., and et al. (1989). Interactions between heterologous helix-loop-helix proteins generate complexes that bind specifically to a common DNA sequence. Cell 58, 537-544.

Murre, C., Voronova, A., and Baltimore, D. (1991). B-cell- and myocyte-specific E2box-binding factors contain E12/E47- like subunits. Mol Cell Biol 11, 1156-1160.

Nabeshima, Y., Hanaoka, K., Hayasaka, M., Esumi, E., Li, S., and Nonaka, I. (1993). Myogenin gene disruption results in perinatal lethality because of severe muscle defect. Nature 364, 532-535.

Naidu, P. S., Ludolph, D. C., To, R. Q., Hinterberger, T. J., and Konieczny, S. F. (1995). Myogenin and MEF2 function synergistically to activate the MRF4 promoter during myogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 15, 2707-2718.

Naya, F. J., Wu, C., Richardson, J. A., Overbeek, P., and Olson, E. N. (1999). Transcriptional activity of MEF2 during mouse embryogenesis monitored with a MEF2dependent transgene. Development *126*, 2045-2052.

Neville, C. M., Choe, Y. H., Lee, Y. S., Spinner, D., Tsay, H. J., and Schmidt, J. (1998). The E protein CTF4 and acetylcholine receptor expression in development and denervation supersensitivity. J Biol Chem 273, 14046-14052.
Novitch, B. G., Spicer, D. B., Kim, P. S., Cheung, W. L., and Lassar, A. B. (1999). pRb is required for MEF2-dependent gene expression as well as cell- cycle arrest during skeletal muscle differentiation. Curr Biol 9, 449-459.

Odelberg, S. J., Kollhoff, A., and Keating, M. T. (2000). Dedifferentiation of mammalian myotubes induced by msx1. Cell 103, 1099-1109.

Olson, E. N., Arnold, H. H., Rigby, P. W., and Wold, B. J. (1996). Know your neighbors: three phenotypes in null mutants of the myogenic bHLH gene MRF4. Cell 85, 1-4.

Ordahl, C. P., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1992). Two myogenic lineages within the developing somite. Development 114, 339-353.

Pardanaud, L., and Dieterlen-Lievre, F. (2000). Ontogeny of the endothelial system in the avian model. Adv Exp Med Biol 476, 67-78.

Parker, M. H., Seale, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2003). Looking back to the embryo: defining transcriptional networks in adult myogenesis. Nature Reviews Genetics 4, 497-507.

Patapoutian, A., Yoon, J. K., Miner, J. H., Wang, S., Stark, K., and Wold, B. (1995). Disruption of the mouse MRF4 gene identifies multiple waves of myogenesis in the myotome. Development 121, 3347-3358.

Perry, R. L., Parker, M. H., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2001). Activated MEK1 binds the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex to repress transactivation. Mol Cell 8, 291-301.

Petropoulos, H., and Skerjanc, I. S. (2000). Analysis of the inhibition of MyoD activity by ITF-2B and full-length E12/E47. J Biol Chem 275, 25095-25101.

Polesskaya, A., Duquet, A., Naguibneva, I., Weise, C., Vervisch, A., Bengal, E., Hucho, F., Robin, P., and Harel-Bellan, A. (2000). CREB-binding protein/p300 activates MyoD by acetylation. J Biol Chem 275, 34359-34364.

Polesskaya, A., Naguibneva, I., Duquet, A., Bengal, E., Robin, P., and Harel-Bellan, A. (2001). Interaction between acetylated MyoD and the bromodomain of CBP and/or p300. Mol Cell Biol 21, 5312-5320.

Pourquie, O. (2001). Vertebrate somitogenesis. Annual Review of Cellular and Developmental Biology 17, 311-350.

Pourquie, O., Coltey, M., Breant, C., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1995). Control of somite patterning by signals from the lateral plate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 3219-3223.

Pourquie, O., Coltey, M., Teillet, M. A., Ordahl, C., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1993). Control of dorsoventral patterning of somitic derivatives by notochord and floor plate. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 5242-5246.

Pourquie, O., Fan, C. M., Coltey, M., Hirsinger, E., Watanabe, Y., Breant, C., Francis-West, P., Brickell, P., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1996). Lateral and axial signals involved in axian somite patterning: a role for BMP4. Cell *84*, 461-471.

Pownall, M. E., Gustafsson, M. K., and Emerson, C. P., Jr. (2002). Myogenic regulatory factors and the specification of muscle progenitors in vertebrate embryos. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 18, 747-783.

Pownall, M. E., Strunk, K. E., and Emerson, C. P., Jr. (1996). Notochord signals control the transcriptional cascade of myogenic bHLH genes in somites of quail embryos. Development *122*, 1475-1488.

Puri, P. L., Iezzi, S., Stiegler, P., Chen, T. T., Schiltz, R. L., Muscat, G. E., Giordano, A., Kedes, L., Wang, J. Y., and Sartorelli, V. (2001). Class I histone deacetylases sequentially interact with MyoD and pRb during skeletal myogenesis. Mol Cell *8*, 885-897.

Puri, P. L., Wu, Z., Zhang, P., Wood, L. D., Bhakta, K. S., Han, J., Feramisco, J. R., Karin, M., and Wang, J. Y. (2000). Induction of terminal differentiation by constitutive activation of p38 MAP kinase in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Genes Dev 14, 574-584.

Puri, P. L., and Sartorelli, V. (2000). Regulation of muscle regulatory factors by DNAbinding, interacting proteins, and post-transcriptional modifications. J Cell Physiol 185, 155-173.

Ramocki, M. B., Johnson, S. E., White, M. A., Ashendel, C. L., Konieczny, S. F., and Taparowsky, E. J. (1997). Signaling through mitogen-activated protein kinase and Rac/Rho does not duplicate the effects of activated Ras on skeletal myogenesis. Mol Cell Biol 17, 3547-3555.

Rao, S. S., and Kohtz, D. S. (1995). Positive and negative regulation of D-type cyclin expression in skeletal myoblasts by basic fibroblast growth factor and transforming growth factor beta. A role for cyclin D1 in control of myoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem 270, 4093-4100.

Rawls, A., Morris, J. H., Rudnicki, M., Braun, T., Arnold, H. H., Klein, W. H., and Olson, E. N. (1995). Myogenin's functions do not overlap with those of MyoD or Myf-5 during mouse embryogenesis. Dev Biol *172*, 37-50.

Rawls, A., Valdez, M. R., Zhang, W., Richardson, J., Klein, W. H., and Olson, E. N. (1998). Overlapping functions of the myogenic bHLH genes MRF4 and MyoD revealed in double mutant mice. Development 125, 2349-2358.

Reynaud, E. G., Leibovitch, M. P., Tintignac, L. A., Pelpel, K., Guillier, M., and Leibovitch, S. A. (2000). Stabilization of MyoD by direct binding to p57(Kip2). J Biol Chem 275, 18767-18776.

Reynaud, E. G., Pelpel, K., Guillier, M., Leibovitch, M. P., and Leibovitch, S. A. (1999). p57(Kip2) stabilizes the MyoD protein by inhibiting cyclin E-Cdk2 kinase activity in growing myoblasts. Mol Cell Biol 19, 7621-7629.

Rhodes, S. J., and Konieczny, S. F. (1989). Identification of MRF4: a new member of the muscle regulatory factor gene family. Genes Dev 3, 2050-2061.

Ridgeway, A. G., Wilton, S., and Skerjanc, I. S. (2000). Myocyte enhancer factor 2C and myogenin up-regulate each other's expression and induce the development of skeletal muscle in P19 cells. J Biol Chem 275, 41-46.

Rong, P. M., Teillet, M. A., Ziller, C., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1992). The neural tube/notochord complex is necessary for vertebral but not limb and body wall striated muscle differentiation. Development 115, 657-672.

Rosenthal, S. M., and Cheng, Z. Q. (1995). Opposing early and late effects of insulin-like growth factor I on differentiation and the cell cycle regulatory retinoblastoma protein in skeletal myoblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 10307-10311.

Roth, J. F., Shikama, N., Henzen, C., Desbaillets, I., Lutz, W., Marino, S., Wittwer, J., Schorle, H., Gassmann, M., and Eckner, R. (2003). Differential role of p300 and CBP acetyltransferase during myogenesis: p300 acts upstream of MyoD and Myf5. Embo J 22, 5186-5196.

Roy, K., de la Serna, I. L., and Imbalzano, A. N. (2002). The myogenic basic helix-loophelix family of transcription factors shows similar requirements for SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling enzymes during muscle differentiation in culture. J Biol Chem 277, 33818-33824.

Rudnicki, M. A., Braun, T., Hinuma, S., and Jaenisch, R. (1992). Inactivation of MyoD in mice leads to up-regulation of the myogenic HLH gene Myf-5 and results in apparently normal muscle development. Cell 71, 383-390.

Rudnicki, M. A., Schnegelsberg, P. N., Stead, R. H., Braun, T., Arnold, H. H., and Jaenisch, R. (1993). MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell 75, 1351-1359.

Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Seale, P., Asakura, A., and Rudnicki, M. A. (1999). Reduced differentiation potential of primary MyoD-/- myogenic cells derived from adult skeletal muscle. J Cell Biol 144, 631-643.

Sartorelli, V., Puri, P. L., Hamamori, Y., Ogryzko, V., Chung, G., Nakatani, Y., Wang, J. Y., and Kedes, L. (1999). Acetylation of MyoD directed by PCAF is necessary for the execution of the muscle program. Mol Cell *4*, 725-734.

Schafer, B. W., Blakely, B. T., Darlington, G. J., and Blau, H. M. (1990). Effect of cell history on response to helix-loop-helix family of myogenic regulators. Nature *344*, 454-458.

Schneider, J. W., Gu, W., Zhu, L., Mahdavi, V., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (1994). Reversal of terminal differentiation mediated by p107 in Rb-/- muscle cells. Science 264, 1467-1471.

Schultz, E. (1996). Satellite cell proliferative compartments in growing skeletal muscles. Dev Biol 175, 84-94.

Seale, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2002). Adult Skeletal Muscle Growth and Regeneration. In Stem Cells: A Cellular Fountain of Youth, M. P. Mattson, and G. Van Zant, eds. (New York, Elsevier), pp. 177-200.

Seale, P., Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Mansouri, A., Gruss, P., and Rudnicki, M. A. (2000). Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell *102*, 777-786.

Simone, C., Stiegler, P., Bagella, L., Pucci, B., Bellan, C., De Falco, G., De Luca, A., Guanti, G., Puri, P. L., and Giordano, A. (2002). Activation of MyoD-dependent transcription by cdk9/cyclin T2. Oncogene *21*, 4137-4148.

Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Kim, P. S., Novitch, B. G., and Lassar, A. B. (1996). Cyclinmediated inhibition of muscle gene expression via a mechanism that is independent of pRB hyperphosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 7043-7053.

Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Spicer, D. B., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Inhibition of myogenic differentiation in proliferating myoblasts by cyclin D1-dependent kinase. Science 267, 1022-1024.

Skerjanc, I. S., Truong, J., Filion, P., and McBurney, M. W. (1996). A splice variant of the ITF-2 transcript encodes a transcription factor that inhibits MyoD activity. J Biol Chem 271, 3555-3561.

Song, A., Wang, Q., Goebl, M. G., and Harrington, M. A. (1998). Phosphorylation of nuclear MyoD is required for its rapid degradation. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 4994-4999.

Soriano, P. (1997). The PDGF alpha receptor is required for neural crest cell development and for normal patterning of the somites. Development 124, 2691-2700.

Spence, M. S., Yip, J., and Erickson, C. A. (1996). The dorsal neural tube organizes the dermamyotome and induces axial myocytes in the avian embryo. Development *122*, 231-241.

Subramanian, S. V., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (1996). Early expression of the different isoforms of the myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2) protein in myogenic as well as non-myogenic cell lineages during mouse embryogenesis. Mech Dev 57, 103-112.

Summerbell, D., and Rigby, P. W. (2000). Transcriptional regulation during somitogenesis. Current Topics in Developmental Biology 48, 301-318.

Sun, L., Liu, L., Yang, X. J., and Wu, Z. (2004). Akt binds prohibitin 2 and relieves its repression of MyoD and muscle differentiation. J Cell Sci 117, 3021-3029.

Tajbakhsh, S., Borello, U., Vivarelli, E., Kelly, R., Papkoff, J., Duprez, D., Buckingham, M., and Cossu, G. (1998). Differential activation of Myf5 and MyoD by different Wnts in explants of mouse paraxial mesoderm and the later activation of myogenesis in the absence of Myf5. Development *125*, 4155-4162.

Tajbakhsh, S., Rocancourt, D., Cossu, G., and Buckingham, M. (1997). Redefining the genetic hierarchies controlling skeletal myogenesis: Pax- 3 and Myf-5 act upstream of MyoD. Cell *89*, 127-138.

Tallquist, M. D., Weismann, K. E., Hellstrom, M., and Soriano, P. (2000). Early myotome specification regulates PDGFA expression and axial skeleton development. Development *127*, 5059-5070.

Tamir, Y., and Bengal, E. (2000). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase induces the transcriptional activity of MEF2 proteins during muscle differentiation. J Biol Chem 275, 34424-34432.

Tapscott, S. J., Davis, R. L., Thayer, M. J., Cheng, P. F., Weintraub, H., and Lassar, A. B. (1988). MyoD1: a nuclear phosphoprotein requiring a Myc homology region to convert fibroblasts to myoblasts. Science 242, 405-411.

Taylor, S. M., and Jones, P. A. (1979). Multiple new phenotypes induced in 10T1/2 and 3T3 cells treated with 5- azacytidine. Cell 17, 771-779.

Teboul, L., Summerbell, D., and Rigby, P. W. (2003). The initial somitic phase of Myf5 expression requires neither Shh signaling nor Gli regulation. Genes Dev 17, 2870-2874.

Teillet, M., Watanabe, Y., Jeffs, P., Duprez, D., Lapointe, F., and Le Douarin, N. M. (1998). Sonic hedgehog is required for survival of both myogenic and chondrogenic somitic lineages. Development *125*, 2019-2030.

Tintignac, L. A., Leibovitch, M. P., Kitzmann, M., Fernandez, A., Ducommun, B., Meijer, L., and Leibovitch, S. A. (2000). Cyclin E-cdk2 phosphorylation promotes late G1-phase degradation of MyoD in muscle cells. Exp Cell Res 259, 300-307.

Tintignac, L. A., Sirri, V., Leibovitch, M. P., Lecluse, Y., Castedo, M., Metivier, D., Kroemer, G., and Leibovitch, S. A. (2004). Mutant MyoD lacking Cdc2 phosphorylation sites delays M-phase entry. Mol Cell Biol 24, 1809-1821.

Tremblay, P., Dietrich, S., Mericskay, M., Schubert, F. R., Li, Z., and Paulin, D. (1998). A crucial role for Pax3 in the development of the hypaxial musculature and the long-range migration of muscle precursors. Dev Biol 203, 49-61.

Wang, A. H., Kruhlak, M. J., Wu, J., Bertos, N. R., Vezmar, M., Posner, B. I., Bazett-Jones, D. P., and Yang, X. J. (2000). Regulation of histone deacetylase 4 by binding of 14-3-3 proteins. Mol Cell Biol 20, 6904-6912.

Wang, A. H., and Yang, X. J. (2001). Histone deacetylase 4 possesses intrinsic nuclear import and export signals. Mol Cell Biol 21, 5992-6005.

Wang, D. Z., Valdez, M. R., McAnally, J., Richardson, J., and Olson, E. N. (2001). The Mef2c gene is a direct transcriptional target of myogenic bHLH and MEF2 proteins during skeletal muscle development. Development *128*, 4623-4633.

Wang, X., Thomson, S. R., Starkey, J. D., Page, J. L., Ealy, A. D., and Johnson, S. E. (2004). Transforming growth factor beta1 is up-regulated by activated Raf in skeletal myoblasts but does not contribute to the differentiation-defective phenotype. J Biol Chem 279, 2528-2534.

Wang, Y., and Jaenisch, R. (1997). Myogenin can substitute for Myf5 in promoting myogenesis but less efficiently. Development 124, 2507-2513.

Wang, Y., Schnegelsberg, P. N., Dausman, J., and Jaenisch, R. (1996). Functional redundancy of the muscle-specific transcription factors Myf5 and myogenin. Nature *379*, 823-825.

Weintraub, H., Dwarki, V. J., Verma, I., Davis, R., Hollenberg, S., Snider, L., Lassar, A., and Tapscott, S. J. (1991). Muscle-specific transcriptional activation by MyoD. Genes Dev 5, 1377-1386.

Weintraub, H., Tapscott, S. J., Davis, R. L., Thayer, M. J., Adam, M. A., Lassar, A. B., and Miller, A. D. (1989). Activation of muscle-specific genes in pigment, nerve, fat, liver, and fibroblast cell lines by forced expression of MyoD. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *86*, 5434-5438.

Weyman, C. M., and Wolfman, A. (1998). Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK) activity is required for inhibition of skeletal muscle differentiation by insulin-like growth factor 1 or fibroblast growth factor 2. Endocrinology 139, 1794-1800.

Williams, B. A., and Ordahl, C. P. (1994). Pax-3 expression in segmental mesoderm marks early stages in myogenic cell specification. Development 120, 785-796.

Winter, B., Braun, T., and Arnold, H. H. (1993). cAMP-dependent protein kinase represses myogenic differentiation and the activity of the muscle-specific helix-loop-helix transcription factors Myf-5 and MyoD. J Biol Chem 268, 9869-9878.

Wright, W. E., Sassoon, D. A., and Lin, V. K. (1989). Myogenin, a factor regulating myogenesis, has a domain homologous to MyoD. Cell 56, 607-617.

Wu, Z., Woodring, P. J., Bhakta, K. S., Tamura, K., Wen, F., Feramisco, J. R., Karin, M., Wang, J. Y., and Puri, P. L. (2000). p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinases regulate the myogenic program at multiple steps. Mol Cell Biol 20, 3951-3964.

Wu, Z., Woodring, P. J., Bhakta, K. S., Tamura, K., Wen, F., Feramisco, J. R., Karin, M., Wang, J. Y., and Puri, P. L. (2000). p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinases regulate the myogenic program at multiple steps. Mol Cell Biol 20, 3951-3964.

Xu, Q., and Wu, Z. (2000). The insulin-like growth factor-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt signaling pathway regulates myogenin expression in normal myogenic cells but not in rhabdomyosarcoma-derived RD cells. J Biol Chem 275, 36750-36757.

Yang, C. C., Ornatsky, O. I., McDermott, J. C., Cruz, T. F., and Prody, C. A. (1998). Interaction of myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) with a mitogen- activated protein kinase, ERK5/BMK1. Nucleic Acids Res 26, 4771-4777.

Yang, S. H., Galanis, A., and Sharrocks, A. D. (1999). Targeting of p38 mitogenactivated protein kinases to MEF2 transcription factors. Mol Cell Biol 19, 4028-4038.

Yoon, J. K., Olson, E. N., Arnold, H. H., and Wold, B. J. (1997). Different MRF4 knockout alleles differentially disrupt Myf-5 expression: cis-regulatory interactions at the MRF4/Myf-5 locus. Dev Biol 188, 349-362.

Yu, Y. T., Breitbart, R. E., Smoot, L. B., Lee, Y., Mahdavi, V., and Nadal-Ginard, B. (1992). Human myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2 comprises a group of tissue- restricted MADS box transcription factors. Genes Dev 6, 1783-1798.

Yuan, W., Condorelli, G., Caruso, M., Felsani, A., and Giordano, A. (1996). Human p300 protein is a coactivator for the transcription factor MyoD. J Biol Chem 271, 9009-9013.

Yutzey, K. E., and Konieczny, S. F. (1992). Different E-box regulatory sequences are functionally distinct when placed within the context of the troponin I enhancer. Nucleic Acids Res 20, 5105-5113.

Zetser, A., Gredinger, E., and Bengal, E. (1999). p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway promotes skeletal muscle differentiation. Participation of the Mef2c transcription factor. J Biol Chem 274, 5193-5200.

Zhang, C. L., McKinsey, T. A., and Olson, E. N. (2002). Association of class II histone deacetylases with heterochromatin protein 1: potential role for histone methylation in control of muscle differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 22, 7302-7312.

Zhang, J. M., Wei, O., Zhao, X., and Paterson, B. M. (1999a). Coupling of the cell cycle and myogenesis through the cyclin D1- dependent interaction of MyoD with cdk4. Embo J 18, 926-933.

Zhang, J. M., Zhao, X., Wei, Q., and Paterson, B. M. (1999b). Direct inhibition of G(1) cdk kinase activity by MyoD promotes myoblast cell cycle withdrawal and terminal differentiation. Embo J 18, 6983-6993.

Zhang, W., Behringer, R. R., and Olson, E. N. (1995). Inactivation of the myogenic bHLH gene MRF4 results in up-regulation of myogenin and rib anomalies. Genes Dev 9, 1388-1399.

Zhao, M., New, L., Kravchenko, V. V., Kato, Y., Gram, H., di Padova, F., Olson, E. N., Ulevitch, R. J., and Han, J. (1999). Regulation of the MEF2 family of transcription factors by p38. Mol Cell Biol 19, 21-30.

Zhuang, Y., Kim, C. G., Bartelmez, S., Cheng, P., Groudine, M., and Weintraub, H. (1992). Helix-loop-helix transcription factors E12 and E47 are not essential for skeletal or cardiac myogenesis, erythropoiesis, chondrogenesis, or neurogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89, 12132-12136.

141